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Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025– Brief an die Aktionärinnen und Aktionäre

Die Konzernleitung von Sulzer im neu eröffneten Innovation Technology Hub (InTecH) in der Schweiz. 

Von links: Ravin Pillay-Ramsamy, Thomas Zickler, Haining Auperin, Suzanne Thoma, Tim Schulten 

und Mathias Prüssing.

Brief an die Aktionärinnen und Aktionäre

2025 war in vielerlei Hinsicht ein aussergewöhnliches Jahr. Verschiedene Unsicherheitsfaktoren haben 

das vergangene Jahr beeinflusst und die globale Wirtschaft verändert. Vieles bleibt unklar – 

Stakeholder, Kunden und Lieferanten müssen weiterhin mit Veränderungen rechnen. Aber wie wir alle 

wissen, öffnen Veränderungen immer auch Türen für Chancen und Erfolge. Auch unter diesen 

erschwerten Umständen haben wir unsere Geschäftsziele erreicht: Wir haben unsere Guidance, 

unsere finanzielle Zielvorgabe, erfüllt und unsere Rentabilität ist auf dem richtigen Weg. Gleichzeitig 

haben wir mit weiteren Initiativen zu Wachstum, Exzellenz und Rentabilität die Grundlage für weiteren 

wirtschaftlichen Erfolg geschaffen.
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Sulzer bedient Schlüsselindustrien in strukturell wachsenden Märkten. Das ist der Kern unseres 

Geschäftsmodells. Wir liefern das, was diese Märkte für ihre Entwicklung brauchen: Energiesicherheit 

und Effizienz, sauberes Wasser, eine effiziente und saubere Prozessindustrie. Und wir liefern es immer 

auf die effektivste Weise – auf eine Weise, die die Kosten, Emissionen oder den Abfall unserer Kunden 

reduziert. Unser Services-Team führte beispielsweise einen Gaskompressor Retrofit auf einer 

Nordseeplattform durch, um Ausfallzeiten zu minimieren. Das Team für Mietlösungen unterstützte den 

Wiederaufbau einer lokalen Kläranlage in Dänemark mit einer temporären Pump- und Sieblösung. 

Chemtech liefert Produkt- und Dienstleistungslösungen für die CO -Abscheidung (Carbon Capture) 

für das Net Zero Teesside Power-Projekt. Diese Beispiele spiegeln das stetige Interesse unserer 

Kunden an wichtigen und damit wachsenden Märkten für unsere Produkte und Dienstleistungen.

2

Auf unserem Weg zu einem Top Industrieunternehmen setzen wir auf profitables Wachstum und 

Exzellenz entlang der gesamten Wertschöpfungskette. Wir nutzen das Potenzial des gesamten 

Unternehmens als «One Sulzer». 2025 hat gezeigt, wie Exzellenz unsere finanziellen Resultate 

unterstützt – wir haben erhebliche Fortschritte gemacht und werden dies weiterhin tun. Sulzer ist ein 

attraktiver globaler Arbeitgeber für ambitionierte und erfolgreiche Fachleute, die das Unternehmen 

voranbringen wollen. Wir fördern und fordern die Besten. Unser globales Führungsteam besteht aus 

20 Nationalitäten und zu 23.5% aus weiblichen Führungskräften – gegenüber 16.3% im Jahr 2023.

Unsere Exzellenz-Initiativen haben sich ausgezahlt: Wir arbeiten 
deutlich effizienter, was unsere Ergebnisse beim ROCE und der 
Profitabilität zeigen. Dies war nur möglich dank eines globalen 
Team-Efforts – herzlichen Dank an unsere Mitarbeitenden für ihr 
Engagement und ihre Offenheit für Veränderungen.”

“

Suzanne Thoma
Executive Chair

Wir erzielten solides Wachstum durch viele kleinere und mittelgrosse Aufträge sowie das Aftermarket-

Geschäft. Kunden der Division Services setzten stark auf Reparaturen und Wartungen. Unsere 

Wasseraufbereitungslösungen waren weiterhin sehr gefragt. Das Wachstum im Bestellungseingang 

war nach zwei Jahren mit zweistelliger Wachstumsrate moderat. Dies lag hauptsächlich an der 

Verschiebung grösserer Projekte, die mehrheitlich noch in der Pipeline sind. Angesichts der aktuellen 

Marktunsicherheiten sind wir dank unserer Widerstands- und Anpassungsfähigkeit gut für die Zukunft 

positioniert.
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Ausblick für 2026

Während wir uns in diesen veränderten Rahmenbedingungen bewegen, bestimmt unser «One Sulzer»-

Ansatz unser Handeln. Als Partner für unsere Kunden bieten wir ein breiteres Spektrum integrierter 

Lösungen an und schaffen so Mehrwert. Als ein geeintes Unternehmen arbeiten wir effektiver 

zusammen, reduzieren Komplexitäten und passen unsere Ressourcen und Prozesse so an, dass sie 

unseren Anforderungen an Einfachheit, Skalierbarkeit und Geschwindigkeit entsprechen. Mit Blick auf 

die Zukunft werden wir unsere Organisation weiterhin im Einklang mit unseren Werten und im Einklang 

mit unseren Sulzer Exzellenz-Initiativen voranbringen.

Geschätzte Aktionärinnen und Aktionäre, der Blick auf 2025 gibt mir Zuversicht, weil wir uns auch 

unter herausfordernden Umständen kontinuierlich verbessern und gute Ergebnisse erzielen. Unsere 

Exzellenz-Initiativen haben sich ausgezahlt: Wir arbeiten deutlich effizienter, was unsere Ergebnisse 

beim ROCE und der Profitabilität zeigen. Dies war nur möglich dank eines globalen Team-Efforts – 

herzlichen Dank an unsere Mitarbeitenden für ihr Engagement und ihre Offenheit für Veränderungen. 

Mein aufrichtiger Dank gilt auch Ihnen, werte Aktionärinnen und Aktionäre, da Sie uns auf unserem 

Weg zu einem Top Industrieunternehmen unterstützen – einem exzellenten Unternehmen und 

grossartigen Arbeitgeber, der jeden Tag Wert schafft.

Mit besten Grüssen

Suzanne Thoma

Executive Chair
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– Sulzer auf einen Blick – Unser Unternehmen

Produkte und Lösungen für Schlüsselindustrien

Sulzer bedient Industrien, die grundlegende Bedürfnisse erfüllen - essenzielle 
Industrien, welche eine Schlüsselrolle für die wirtschaftliche Prosperität und für 
eine nachhaltige Gesellschaft haben. Globale Entwicklungen zeigen, dass 
unsere Produkte, Dienstleistungen und Technologien relevanter sind denn je.

Mit der wachsenden Weltbevölkerung steigt auch der Bedarf an Produkten, Dienstleistungen und 

Technologien in aufstrebenden Industriemärkten. Dies wiederum führt zu einem erhöhten Bedarf für 

Energie, für mehr und sauberes Wasser und für wichtige Stoffe für die Landwirtschaft und Industrie. 

Diese Nachfrage unterstreicht aber auch, wie wichtig eine Balance zwischen wirtschaftlichem 

Wohlstand in der Zukunft und einer langfristig gegenüber Veränderungen resilienten globalen 

Gesellschaft ist.

Sulzer ist bestens aufgestellt, um Produkte, Dienstleistungen und Technologien für diese 

Schlüsselindustrien anzubieten. Unsere drei Divisionen – Flow, Services und Chemtech – bedienen 

dieselben Wachstumsmärkte, welche die Sicherheit und Qualität kritischer Güter und Dienstleistungen 

und gleichzeitig den Übergang zu einer nachhaltigeren Zukunft sicherstellen. Verbunden durch 

grosse, globale, aber auch viele mittlere und kleinere Industriekunden, verbessern unsere Divisionen 

ihre Produkte und Technologien laufend. So ermöglichen sie unseren Kunden, ihre Effizienz zu 

steigern und tragen gleichzeitig zu einer funktionierenden Kreislaufwirtschaft bei.

Sulzer hat sich zum Ziel gesetzt, ein Top Industrieunternehmen zu werden, das langfristig Wert für 

Aktionäre, Kunden, Partner, Mitarbeitende und die Gesellschaft schafft und damit einen wesentlichen 

Beitrag zu globalem Wohlstand und einer nachhaltigen Gesellschaft leistet.

Flow

Services

Chemtech
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– Sulzer auf einen Blick – Unsere Kennzahlen

Unsere Kennzahlen

Bestellungseingang nach Divisionen

2025

 Flow42%

 Services39%

 Chemtech19%

Bestellungseingang nach Regionen

2025

 Europa, Naher Osten und Afrika42%

 Nord-, Mittel- und Südamerika38%

 Asien-Pazifik20%

Kennzahlen

in Mio. CHF   2025   2024  
Veränderung

in +/–%    
+/–% 

bereinigt 1)    
+/–% 

organisch 2)

Bestellungseingang   3’751.0   3’848.6   –2.5   2.5   2.1

Bruttomarge des Bestellungseingangs   35.7%   35.0%            

Auftragsbestand am 31. Dezember   2’255.6   2’300.0   –1.9        

Umsatz   3’555.4   3’530.6   0.7   6.0   5.6

EBITDA   556.2   502.7   10.6   18.6   18.0

EBITDA marge   15.6%   14.2%            

EBIT   433.1   382.5   13.2        

Kern-Nettogewinn   322.6   307.2   5.0        

Nettogewinn   294.7   265.4   11.0        

Unverwässerter Gewinn je Aktie (in CHF)   8.68   7.73   12.2        

Free Cash Flow (FCF)   212.5   234.9   –9.5        

Nettoverschuldung am 31. Dezember   267.4   100.4   166.3        

Mitarbeitende (Anzahl Vollzeitstellen)
am 31. Dezember   13’526   13’455   0.5        

1) Bereinigt um Währungseffekte.
2) Bereinigt um Akquisitions-, Veräusserungs-, Dekonsolidierungs- und Währungseffekte.
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Börseninformationen

    2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Namenaktie (in CHF)                    

– höchst   166.20   145.60   91.70   93.50   143.10

– tiefst   122.80   82.45   71.10   56.10   82.45

– Jahresende   147.40   131.00   85.90   72.00   89.85

                     

Börsenkapitalisierung per 31. Dezember                    

– Anzahl ausstehender Aktien   33’737’574   33’752’915   33’811’296   33’738’515   33’727’637

– in Mio. CHF   4’973   4’422   2’904   2’429   3’030

– in Prozent des Eigenkapitals   385%   361%   265%   237%   238%

                     

Kurs-Gewinn-Verhältnis per 31. Dezember   17.0x   16.9x   12.7x   85.2x   2.1x

Dividendenrendite per 31. Dezember   3.2%   3.2%   4.4%   4.9%   3.9%

Angaben je Aktie

CHF   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Nettogewinn, einem Aktionär der Sulzer AG zustehend   8.68   7.73   6.76   0.85   41.93

Veränderung zum Vorjahr   12%   14%   700%   –98%   1’603%

Eigenkapital, einem Aktionär der Sulzer AG zustehend   38.30   36.30   32.40   30.40   37.80

Ordentliche Dividende    4.75 1)   4.25   3.75   3.50   3.50

Payout ratio   55%   55%   55%   414%   8%

Durchschnittliche Anzahl ausstehender Aktien   33’748’688   33’855’876   33’884’651   33’825’814   33’788’006

1) Vorschlag an die Generalversammlung.

Aktionärsstruktur am 31. Dezember 2024

Anzahl Aktien   Anzahl Aktionäre   Anteil

1–100   5’001   1.0%

101–1’000   5’060   6.4%

1’001–10’000   527   5.6%

10’001–100’000   85   9.7%

Über 100’000   10   77.3%

Total registrierte Aktionäre und Aktien (ohne eigene Aktien Sulzer AG)   10’683   100.0%
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– Sulzer auf einen Blick – Sulzer Exzellenz

Sulzer Exzellenz

«Sulzer Exzellenz» ist ein zentrales Element der Strategie 2028 und bildet die 
Grundlage, um konsistenter und wirkungsvoller über alle Geschäftsbereiche 
hinweg zu arbeiten.

Das Ziel von Sulzer Exzellenz ist es, die Leistung des Unternehmens und er Mitarbeitenden zu 

stärken, das überdurchschnittliche organische Wachstum zu unterstützen und sicherzustellen, dass 

Menschen, Prozesse und Systeme effektiv zur Mission von Sulzer beitragen, Schlüsselindustrien zu 

bedienen und damit zu einer prosperierenden Gesellschaft beizutragen. Diese Ziele definieren die 

Ergebnisse, die Sulzer erreichen möchte: zuverlässigere Abläufe, einen geschärften kommerziellen 

Fokus, stärkere Innovationsrelevanz und eine Kultur, die nachhaltig und langfristig gute Leistungen 

unterstützt.

Sulzer Exzellenz übersetzt diese Ziele in definierte Massnahmen, welche die «One Sulzer»-Vision 

unternehmensweit verstärkt. Diese Massnahmen sind in vier Säulen gegliedert:

Operative Exzellenz: Produktionseffizienz und Projektausführung.

Kommerzielle Exzellenz: Verbesserung der Verkaufseffizienz, Preisdisziplin, 

Ausschreibungsqualität und Leadgenerierung.

Supply Chain Exzellenz: eine integrierte, digital unterstützte und kontinuierlich verbesserte End-

to-End-Lieferkette im Einklang mit der Geschäftsstrategie zu führen

People Exzellenz: fördert Kultur, Führung und Talententwicklung.

Mit mehr als 600 derzeit laufenden und geplanten Exzellenzinitiativen übersetzt Sulzer Exzellenz die 

Strategie in konkrete Massnahmen, die messbare Wirkung erzielen.

Höhere Umsetzungsstärke in China

Mit dem Ausbau unserer Geschäftsaktivitäten in China wurde klar, dass Sulzer nicht nur geografisch, 

sondern auch operativ näher am Kunden operieren muss. Ein effektiver Wettbewerb in diesem Markt 

erfordert eine schnellere Umsetzung, stärkere lokale Fähigkeiten und eine widerstandsfähigere 

Lieferkette. Das Ziel war, in China ein voll leistungsfähiges, kosteneffizientes Setup aufzubauen, 

welches Projekte von der Entwicklung bis zur Inbetriebnahme effizient steuern konnte. Sulzer 

erweiterte dafür sein lokales Team auf rund 40 Fachkräfte, führte globale Projektgovernance- und 

Kontrollstandards ein, passte Prozesse an internationale Praktiken an, verbesserte das 

Werkstattlayout, verbesserte den Informationsfluss und identifizierte sowie qualifizierte neue 

Lieferanten. Sulzer übernahm ausserdem die Herstellung kritischer Bauteile selbst, um die Kontrolle 

und Reaktionsfähigkeit zu verbessern.

In weniger als 24 Monaten etablierte Sulzer eine kompletten End-to-End-Prozess mit höherer 

Umsetzungskraft in China. Das neue Setup verbesserte die Reaktionsfähigkeit, indem es Teams 

ermöglichte, direkt an Kundenstandorten zu arbeiten, so die Profitabilität lokaler Projekte zu steigern 

und Kostenreduktionen für einzelne Produktteile in internationalen Projekten zu reduzieren. Durch die 

Stärkung der Zuverlässigkeit der Lieferkette und die Ausführungsgeschwindigkeit adressierte Sulzer 

nicht nur die unmittelbaren operativen Herausforderungen, sondern stärkte auch seine langfristige 

Wettbewerbsfähigkeit. Die Initiative zeigt, wie Sulzer Exzellenz die Wettbewerbsfähigkeit langfristig 
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verbessert, indem eine höhere lokale Umsetzungsstärke durch den Austausch von gemeinsamen Best 

Practices im gesamten Unternehmen kombiniert werden.

Skalierung globaler Fähigkeiten durch Sulzer Business Services Hubs

Sulzer gründete ein globales Netzwerk von Business Services Hubs, um seine operative Exzellenz zu 

verbessern und den «One Sulzer»-Ansatz in der gesamten Organisation zu stärken. Die Hubs befinden 

sich in Suzhou (China), Madrid (Spanien), Mexiko-Stadt (Mexiko) und Pune (Indien) und zentralisieren 

und optimieren gruppenweite Dienstleistungen, um standardisierten und skalierbaren Support zu 

bieten. Ihre Ziele sind klar: Effizienz zu steigern, einen besseren Zugang zu Fachkräften, die 

Zusammenarbeit zu fördern und Sulzer-Teams weltweit schneller und standardisierter arbeiten zu 

lassen. Durch die Konsolidierung von Dienstleistungen an strategisch wichtigen Standorten schafft 

Sulzer agile Service- und Kompetenzplattformen, welche die langfristige Transformation des 

Unternehmens gezielt unterstützen.

Der Business Center Hub in Madrid, im Finanzviertel der Stadt gelegen, ist darauf ausgerichtet, die 

gruppenweite Zusammenarbeit in einem modernen, effizienten Unternehmensumfeld zu unterstützen.

Die Hubs spielen eine Schlüsselrolle bei der Umsetzung der operativen Verbesserungen des 

Unternehmens. Sie bieten skalierbare Dienstleistungen an, die Komplexität reduzieren, 

Prozesskonsistenz verbessern und die Grundlage für profitables Wachstum stärken. Das Modell 

ermöglicht es Sulzer-Teams, effizienter über Regionen hinweg zusammenzuarbeiten, ihre 

gemeinsamen Fähigkeiten breiter zu nutzen und hohe Qualitätsstandards aufrechtzuerhalten, während 

gleichzeitig die sich wandelnden Bedürfnisse der Organisation unterstützt werden. Die Hubs sind ein 

Beispiel dafür, wie Sulzer Exzellenz greifbare Fortschritte erzielt, indem gemeinsame, skalierbare 

Kompetenzzentren geschaffen werden, welche die langfristige Transformation des Unternehmens 

unterstützen.
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Operative Exzellenz in der Lieferleistung und Prozesszuverlässigkeit

Das Team von Sulzer in Mexiko verbesserte die Lieferzuverlässigkeit und vereinfachte die 

Lagerhaltungsprozesse für ihre Kunden. Der Wissensaustausch mit Sulzer-Teams in Indien und China, 

die mit ähnlichen operativen Herausforderungen konfrontiert waren und bereits effektive Lösungen 

entwickelt hatten, war ein Schlüsselelement. Durch die Überprüfung von End-to-End-Arbeitsabläufen 

und die Einbindung der Expertise dieser Teams führte der Standort Mexiko klarere Prozessstandards 

ein, stärkte die Koordination zwischen den Funktionen und setzte strukturierte Ansätze für Planung 

und Bestellwesen um.

Diese Veränderungen führten zu einer deutlichen Leistungsverbesserung. Die Liefergenauigkeit wurde 

präziser und Inventarprozesse wurden transparenter und leichter zu verwalten. Dies wurde vereinfacht 

durch regelmässige überregionale Überprüfungen, die es den Teams ermöglichten, ihren Fortschritt 

zu verfolgen und schnell anzupassen. Diese Initiative zeigt, wie Sulzer Exzellenz Mitarbeitenden hilft, 

Komplexität zu reduzieren, die Zuverlässigkeit zu erhöhen und nachhaltig effizientere Arbeitsweisen zu 

implementieren – ermöglicht durch kollektiven Wissensaustausch und die divisions- und 

fachübergreifende Zusammenarbeit, welche die Basis für die «One Sulzer»-Vision sind.

Innovation und Automatisierung in La Porte, Texas

Die Sulzer-Anlage in La Porte in Texas wird derzeit dahingehend optimiert, dass ihre langfristige 

Wettbewerbsfähigkeit gestärkt und die wachsende Kundennachfrage unterstützt wird. Mit der 

baulichen Erweiterung und der Erhöhung der Betriebskapazität liegt ein zentraler Schwerpunkt der 

Initiative auf der Einführung neuer Technologien, welche die Arbeitsweise modernisieren und ein 

effizienteres Betriebsumfeld schaffen.

Die Laser-Metallabscheidung (LMD)-Technologie wird am Standort in La Porte eingesetzt und erhöht 

die Präzision und Effizienz in Reparaturprozessen.

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Sulzer auf einen Blick – Sulzer Exzellenz 11



Innovation und Automatisierung stehen im Mittelpunkt dieser Bemühungen. La Porte setzt robotisches 

Schweissen, adaptives Schweissen und additive Fertigung ein, um die Ergonomie am Arbeitsplatz zu 

verbessern, die Arbeitssicherheit zu erhöhen und die Umsetzung zu beschleunigen. Diese 

Technologien reduzieren den Zeitaufwand für repetitive Tätigkeiten und ermöglichen es den 

Mitarbeitenden, sich auf Aufgaben zu konzentrieren, die Fachwissen erfordern und Mehrwert 

schaffen. Durch die Integration dieser Werkzeuge in den täglichen Betrieb kann der Standort 

effizienter betrieben werden und stärkt gleichzeitig die Zuverlässigkeite und Konsistenz ihrer 

Reparatur- und Herstellungsprozesse.

Durch diese gezielte Investition in Automatisierung zeigt La Porte, wie Sulzer Exzellenz Fortschritt 

ermöglicht: indem Teams mit modernen Hilfsmitteln ausgestattet werden, welche die Arbeit 

vereinfachen und einen produktiveren und widerstandsfähigeren Betrieb ermöglichten, der 

nachhaltiges Wachstum unterstützt.

Verbesserung der Energieeffizienz und Infrastruktur in China

Sulzer hat die Nachhaltigkeit und Effizienz seiner Geschäftstätigkeit in China durch die 

Modernisierung wichtiger Standortinfrastrukturen durch gezielte Energieprojekte gestärkt. Zwei 

Anlagen, Kunshan und Dalian, haben Massnahmen umgesetzt, welche die Betriebskosten senken, die 

Abhängigkeit von der Volatilität der Energiepreise verringern und die Zuverlässigkeit von Heizung und 

Strom vor Ort verbessern.

In Kunshan installierte Sulzer im Rahmen einer Vereinbarung, die einen Teil des Strombedarfs des 

Standorts zu einem festen Rabatt gegenüber den Netzpreisen liefert, ein Solarpanelsystem auf dem 

Dach. Das System arbeitet nach einer «Pay per use»-Basis: Sulzer zahlt nur für den verbrauchten 

Strom, und überschüssige Erzeugung wird automatisch ins Netz zurückgeführt. Der Lieferant 

überwacht Bewertung, Genehmigungen, Installation, Betrieb und Wartung, während Sulzer alle 

Umweltgutschriften und -vorteile nach klar definierten Vertragsbedingungen einhält.

In Dalian ersetzte Sulzer die kohlebefeuerte Heizung durch ein -Wärmepumpensystem. Das neue 

System bietet eine stabilere Betriebsleistung und verursacht weniger Emissionen als beim 

Kohleverbrauch. Wie in Kunshan übernimmt der Lieferant Installation, Betrieb und Wartung, während 

Sulzer eine vertragliche Servicegebühr zahlt. Die Projekte zeigen, wie Sulzer Exzellenz praktische 

Verbesserungen priorisieren, welche kurz- und langfristig die Effizienz steigern, operative Risiken 

reduzieren und die langfristige Leistung der Standorte stärken.
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– Lagebericht – Finanzbericht

Robuster Umsatz und rekordhohe Profitabilität

Hinweis: Sofern nicht anders angegeben, basieren die Änderungen im Vergleich zum Vorjahr auf organischen Zahlen (bereinigt für Währungseffekte, 
Übernahmen/Veräusserungen und Dekonsolidierungen).

Das Jahr war geprägt von anhaltender makroökonomischer Unsicherheit und 
gemischter Markt-Nachfrage. Trotz dieser Bedingungen steigerte Sulzer den 
Umsatz, implementierte Sulzer Exzellenz-Massnahmen, setzte auf Preisdisziplin 
und investierte weiterhin in strategische Prioritäten mit langfristiger 
Wertschöpfung. Der Umsatz stieg um 5.6%, unterstützt durch operative 
Exzellenz-Massnahmen und ein . Der 
Bestellungseingang wuchs um 2.1%, unterstützt von verbessertem 
Marktmomentum, was zu einem starken vierten Quartal 2025 führte. Die 
Profitabilität stieg auf ein Rekordniveau von 15.6% (2024: 14.2%), wobei sich 
die  um 140 Basispunkte verbesserte. Der freie Cashflow belief 
sich auf , ein Rückgang von  gegenüber 
dem Vorjahr (2024: ), was hauptsächlich durch höheres 
Nettoumlaufkapital, höhere Steuerzahlungen und geringere Zinseinnahmen 
beeinflusst wurde.

«book-to-bill»-Verhältnis über 1

EBITDA-Marge
212.5 Millionen CHF 22.4 Millionen CHF

234.9 Millionen CHF

Anhaltendes Umsatzwachstum, verbesserter 
Bestellungseingang im vierten Quartal 2025

Der Bestellungseingang stieg im Vergleich zu 2024 um 2.1% und erreichte . 

Ohne Auswirkungen von der Währungsumrechnung würde der Bestellungseingang 

 betragen. Die Auswirkungen von Übernahmen, Veräusserungen und 

Dekonsolidierungen beliefen sich auf . Die Bruttomarge bei Bestellungen stieg um 

70 Basispunkte auf 35.7%, was auf anhaltende Preis-Disziplin, fortlaufende Portfoliooptimierung und 

Sulzer Exzellenz-Massnahmen zurückzuführen ist.

3’751.0 Millionen CHF

3’945.9 Millionen CHF

17.0 Millionen CHF

Bestellungseingang

    2025   2024   Veränderung in +/–    +/–% organisch 1)

Bestellungseingang   3’751.0   3’848.6   –97.6   2.1

Bruttomarge des Bestellungseingangs   35.7%   35.0%   0.7    

Auftragsbestand am 31. Dezember   2’255.6   2’300.0   –44.4    

1) Bereinigt um Akquisitions-, Veräusserungs-, Dekonsolidierungs- und Währungseffekte.
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Das Wachstum des Bestellungseingangs bei Flow belief sich auf 2.5% mit zweistelligem Wachstum 

im Wasserbereich und einem stabilen Wachstum in der Industrie, welches die aufgeschobenen 

Kundenprojekte im Energiemarkt mehr als ausgleicht. Services verzeichnete ein anhaltend starkes 

Wachstum beim Bestellungseingang von 10.8% in allen Regionen und Produktlinien, vor allem im 

Bereich Turbo und Pumpenservices. Der Bestellungseingang von Chemtech ging um 12.5% zurück, 

beeinflusst von Marktunsicherheit und geringeren Kundeninvestitionen, teilweise ausgeglichen durch 

ein solides viertes Quartal 2025.

Ende 2025 belief sich der Auftragsbestand auf  ( ). 

Ohne Auswirkungen von der Währungsumrechnung würde der Auftragsbestand 

 betragen, was eine solide Umsatzbasis für das neue Jahr bietet.

2’255.6 Millionen CHF 2024: 2’300.0 Millionen CHF

2’438.3 Millionen CHF

Der Umsatz stieg im Jahresvergleich um 5.6% und erreichte im Jahr 2025 . Auf 

währungsbereinigter Basis würde der Umsatz  betragen. Der Nettoeffekt aus 

Übernahmen und Veräusserungen belief sich auf .

3’555.4 Millionen CHF

3’740.8 Millionen CHF

12.2 Millionen CHF

Flow erzielte ein zweistelliges Umsatzwachstum von 12.3%, was eine hervorragende 

Umsatzentwicklung im Energiebereich und ein  von über 1 in Wasser und 

Industrie widerspiegelt. Die Services-Division setzte ihre konstant hohe Leistung fort und erreichte ein 

zweistelliges Wachstum von 10.7%, was Kundeninvestitionen in Modernisierungen, Reparaturen und 

Wartung für sicheren und zuverlässigen Betrieb widerspiegelt. Im Gegensatz dazu verzeichnete die 

 entsprechend dem allgemeinen Branchentrend einen Umsatzrückgang von 

13.6%.

«book-to-bill»-Verhältnis

Chemtech-Division

Wir legten einen starken Fokus auf operative Exzellenz und 
diszipliniertes Kostenmanagement, was uns bei der derzeitig 
herausfordernden Marktsituation entgegenkam und uns die beste 
Profitabilität der letzten 20 Jahre erreichen liess.”

“

Thomas Zickler
Chief Financial Officer

Kontinuierliche Ausweitung der Bruttogewinnmargen

Der Bruttogewinn stieg auf  ( ), wobei die 

Bruttomarge auf 34.4% ( ) verbessert wurde, dank anhaltender kommerzieller und 

operativer Exzellenz-Massnahmen. Ohne Auswirkungen von der Währungsumrechnung würde der 

Bruttogewinn  betragen.

1’223.2 Millionen CHF 2024: 1’183.2 Millionen CHF

2024: 33.5%

1’286.1 Millionen CHF

EBITDA-Marge mit 15.6%

Der EBITDA stieg auf ein neues Rekordniveau von  ( ), 

was einem Jahreswachstum von 18.0% entspricht. Dies führte zu einer Verbesserung der EBITDA-

Marge um 140 Basispunkte auf 15.6% ( ), unterstützt durch die systematische Umsetzung 

kommerzieller und operativer Exzellenz-Massnahmen.

556.2 Millionen CHF 2024: 502.7 Millionen CHF

2024: 14.2%
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in Mio. CHF   2025   2024    +/–% organisch 1)

EBITDA   556.2   502.7   18.0

Umsatz   3’555.4   3’530.6   5.6

Operationelle Profitabilität   15.6%   14.2%    

1) Bereinigt um Akquisitions-, Veräusserungs-, Dekonsolidierungs- und Währungseffekte.

Auf Divisionsebene erzielte Flow eine deutliche Verbesserung der Profitabilität, wobei die EBITDA-

Marge auf rekordhohe 13.3% ( ) stieg. Dies entspricht einem Anstieg von 

, erreicht dank Massnahmen zur Optimierung der strukturellen Kosten und 

anhaltenden Fortschritten bei der operativen Exzellenz. Services setzte seine starke Leistung mit einer 

Rekord-EBITDA-Marge von 18.3% ( ) fort und erreichte einen Anstieg von 

, gestützt auf nachhaltige Investitionen in kommerzielle und operative Exzellenz. 

Chemtech erreichte eine  von 13.7% ( ), was einen Rückgang um 

aufgrund geringerer Umsätze widerspiegelt, der teilweise durch Umstrukturierungen, 

Kostensenkungen und gutes Lieferkettenmanagement ausgeglichen wurde.

2024: 11.7%

160 Basispunkten

2024: 16.8%

150 Basispunkten

EBITDA-Marge 2024: 15.7%

200 Basispunkte 

in Mio. CHF   2025   2024   Veränderung in +/–

Operationelles Ergebnis   556.2   502.7   53.5

Amortisation   –40.2   –38.5   –1.7

Wertminderungen von immateriellen Anlagen und Sachanlagen   –4.5   –4.5   0.0

Restrukturierungskosten   –78.5   –77.1   –1.4

EBIT   433.1   382.5   50.5

Finanzergebnisse

Die gesamten Nettofinanzkosten stiegen 2025 auf  gegenüber 

im Vorjahr, hauptsächlich aufgrund niedrigerer Zinserträge.

34.6 Millionen CHF 25.2 Millionen CHF

Die Nettozinsaufwendungen beliefen sich auf , bedingt durch geringere Zinserträge 

aus Barguthaben. Veränderungen des Fair-Value bei Finanzvermögen und verbindlichkeiten hatten 

eine negative Auswirkung von  ( ). Darüber hinaus stiegen 

die Netto-Währungsverluste auf  ( ).

17.9 Millionen CHF

5.4 Millionen CHF 2024: 12.7 Millionen CHF

12.3 Millionen CHF 2024: 2.8 Millionen CHF

Effektiver Steuersatz von 23.9%

Die Einkommensteuerkosten stiegen auf  ( ), was 

hauptsächlich den Anstieg des steuerpflichtigen Einkommens für das Jahr widerspiegelt. Trotz der 

höheren absoluten Steuer verbesserte sich der effektive Steuersatz (ETR) auf 23.9% ( ).

92.4 Millionen CHF 2024: 88.2 Millionen CHF

2024: 24.9%

Nettogewinn und Kernnettogewinn auf Rekordniveau

Der Nettogewinn stieg auf  ( ), was die starke operative 

Leistung im gesamten Konzern widerspiegelt. Der Kernnettogewinn, der steuerlich bereinigte Effekte 

der nicht operativen Posten ausschliesst, stieg auf  ( ). 

Der Grundgewinn je Aktie stieg um 12.3% und erreichte im 2025  ( ).

294.7 Millionen CHF 2024: 265.4 Millionen CHF

322.6 Millionen CHF 2024: 307.2 Millionen CHF

CHF 8.68 2024: CHF 7.73
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Überleitung vom Nettogewinn zum Kernnettogewinn

in Mio. CHF   2025   2024   Veränderung in +/–

Nettogewinn   294.7   265.4   29.3

Amortisation   40.2   38.5   1.7

Wertminderungen von immateriellen Anlagen und Sachanlagen   4.5   4.5   –0.0

Restrukturierungskosten   4.3   3.7   0.6

 Nicht operative Positionen 1)   –11.9   7.0   –18.8

Steuereffekt auf oben aufgeführte Positionen   –9.2   –11.8   2.6

Kern-Nettogewinn   322.6   307.2   15.3

1) Übrige nicht operative Positionen beinhalten wesentliche akquisitionsbezogene Kosten, Gewinne und Verluste aus dem Verkauf oder der Schliessung von Geschäftsbereichen und 
bestimmte nicht operative Positionen, die nicht wiederkehrend sind oder nicht regelmässig in dieser Grössenordnung auftreten.

Wichtige Bilanzpositionen
Hinweis: Sofern nicht anders angegeben, basieren die Bilanzbewegungen des Vorjahres auf nominalen Zahlen.

Am  beliefen sich die Gesamtvermögenswerte auf 

( ), was einem Rückgang von  im Jahresvergleich 

entspricht. Nicht-kurzfristige Vermögenswerte sanken um  auf 

, was hauptsächlich auf geringere sonstige immaterielle Vermögenswerte von 

 sowie negative Währungsumrechnungseffekte auf den Goodwill von 

 zurückzuführen ist . Die Kurzvermögenswerte sanken um  auf 

, hauptsächlich aufgrund geringerer Guthaben bei Handelsforderungen, 

Lagerbeständen und Lieferantenvorschüssen. Die Liquidität und die Zahlungsmittel beliefen sich zum 

Jahresende auf .

31. Dezember 2025 4’562.9 Millionen CHF

2024: 4’714.3 Millionen CHF 151.4 Millionen CHF

40.4 Millionen CHF

1’675.1 Millionen CHF

35.1 Millionen CHF

24.9 Millionen USD 111.0 Millionen CHF

2’887.8 Millionen

927.3 Millionen CHF

Zum  sanken die Gesamtverbindlichkeiten um  auf 

 ( ), was hauptsächlich auf geringere Nebenverpflichtungen 

zurückzuführen ist.

31. Dezember 2025 221.6 Millionen CHF

3’257.5 CHF 2024: 3’479.1 Millionen CHF

Das Eigenkapital stieg um  auf , gestützt durch einen starken 

Nettogewinn von , der teilweise durch Währungsumrechnungsdifferenzen von 

 und Dividendenzahlungen von  ausgeglichen wurde.

70.3 Millionen CHF 1’305.4 Mio. CHF

294.7 Mio. CHF

113.1 Millionen CHF 144.7 Millionen CHF

Die Nettoverschuldung belief sich zum Jahresende 2025 auf , verglichen mit 

 im Jahr 2024. Dieser Anstieg spiegelt vor allem die Verringerung der Bargeld- 

und Bargeldäquivalente sowie einen Anstieg der nicht-laufenden Kredite wider. Folglich stieg das 

Verhältnis von Nettoverschuldung zu EBITDA auf 0.48 ( ), trotz des im Jahr erzielten höheren 

EBITDA.

267.4 Millionen CHF

100.4 Millionen CHF

2024: 0.20
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Resilienter Free Cash Flow

Der Free Cash Flow belief sich im 2025 auf  ( ). Der 

jährliche Rückgang von  spiegelt einen geringeren Cash Flow aus operativen 

Aktivitäten trotz höherer gemeldeter Nettogewinne wider. Der Nettocashback aus operativen 

Aktivitäten sank um  auf  ( ), 

hauptsächlich aufgrund höherer Netto-Betriebskapitalanforderungen und einer höheren 

Einkommensteuer von .

212.5 Millionen CHF 2024: 234.9 Millionen CHF

22.4 Millionen CHF

20.9 Millionen CHF 303.0 Millionen CHF 2024: 323.8 Millionen CHF

8.9 Millionen CHF

Überleitung vom Mittelfluss aus Geschäftstätigkeit zum Free Cash Flow

in Mio. CHF   2025   2024  
Veränderung

in +/–

Mittelfluss aus Geschäftstätigkeit   303.0   323.8   –20.9

Erwerb von immateriellen Anlagen   –3.6   –9.7   6.1

Erlös aus dem Verkauf von immateriellen Anlagen   1.1   0.0   1.0

Erwerb von Sachanlagen   –90.0   –82.7   –7.3

Erlös aus dem Verkauf von Sachanlagen   2.1   3.5   –1.4

Free Cash Flow (FCF)   212.5   234.9   –22.4

Die Investitionstätigkeiten führten zu einem Cash-Off-Effekt von , was einen 

leichten Anstieg gegenüber den  im Jahr 2024 darstellt. Die Nettoinvestitionen in 

Sachen, Anlagen und Anlagen sowie immaterielle Vermögenswerte beliefen sich auf 

, etwas über dem Vorjahresniveau ( ). Zudem stiegen die 

zahlungswirksamen Mittelabflüsse im Zusammenhang mit dem Erwerb von Tochtergesellschaften, 

abzüglich der übernommenen liquiden Mittel, auf , gegenüber  im Jahr 

2024.

101.0 Millionen CHF

98.2 Millionen CHF

90.4 Millionen CHF 2024: 88.9 Millionen CHF

16.9 Mio. CHF 13.1 Mio. CHF

Der Cash-Outflow aus Finanzierungsaktivitäten belief sich auf 

( ), was hauptsächlich auf höhere Aktionärsauszahlungen und höhere Erlöse 

aus Kreditaufnahmen (Nettoauswirkung von ) zurückzuführen ist.

290.1 Millionen CHF

2024: 151.6 Millionen CHF

29.6 Millionen CHF

Insgesamt belief sich die negative Nettoveränderung der Liquidität seit dem  auf 

, einschliesslich Wechselverluste auf Bargeld- und Baräquivalente von 

.

1. Januar 2025

133.3 Millionen CHF

45.1 Millionen CHF
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Ausblick für 2026

Wie in den Vorjahren konzentriert sich Sulzer auf den Weg, ein Top Industrieunternehmen zu werden, 

das tatsächlichen Mehrwert schafft. Das Unternehmen wird weiterhin in Schlüsselbereiche investieren 

und Exzellenz- und Wachstumsinitiativen umsetzen. Während Sulzer 2026 weiterhin herausfordernde 

Bedingungen erwartet, darunter geopolitische und globale wirtschaftliche Unsicherheit, ist das 

Unternehmen bezüglich seiner Strategie und Position in wichtigen Märkten zuversichtlich.

Aufgrund der zunehmenden geopolitischen Unsicherheiten und der möglichen Auswirkungen weiterer 

Investitionsverzögerungen ist die Prognose des Zeitpunkts erwarteter grosser Aufträge im Jahr 2026 

schwieriger geworden. Dies gilt insbesondere für das jährliche Wachstum des Bestellungseingangs 

auf Quartalsbasis. Im Allgemeinen erwartet Sulzer für den Bestellungseingang in der ersten Hälfte des 

Jahres 2026 eine gedämpfte Entwicklung, vor allem im Vergleich zur starken Vorjahresperiode. 

Insgesamt erwartet das Unternehmen für den Bestellungseingang eine stärkere zweite Hälfte des 

Jahres.

Angesichts dieser höheren Marktvolatilität, die zu Investitionsunsicherheiten führt, prognostiziert das 

Unternehmen ein jährliches organisches Auftragswachstum von 1% bis 5% sowie ein 

Umsatzwachstum im Jahresvergleich zwischen 2% und 5%. Die EBITDA-Marge wird voraussichtlich 

weiter auf etwa 16.5% des Umsatzes steigen.

Abkürzungen
EBIT: Ergebnis vor Zinsen und Steuern.
EBITDA: Ergebnis vor Zinsen, Steuern, Abschreibungen und Amortisationen.
FCF: Free Cash flow.
Die Definition der alternativen Leistungskennzahlen finden Sie unter „ “ im Finanzteil (nur in englischer Sprache verfügbar).Supplementary information
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– Lagebericht – Flow

Starkes Umsatzwachstum, Rekordprofitabilität

Hinweis: Sofern nicht anders angegeben, basieren die Änderungen im Vergleich zum Vorjahr auf organischen Zahlen (bereinigt für Währungseffekte, 
Übernahmen/Veräusserungen und Dekonsolidierungen).

Die Flow-Division erreichte 2025 ein solides Wachstum des Bestellungseingangs 
von 2.5%. Der Bestellungseingang in Wasser wuchs zweistellig, während jener 
für Industrie moderat wuchs. Der Bestellungseingang im Energiegeschäft war 
zurückhaltend. Während das Basis- und kleinere Projektgeschäft sich positiv 
entwickelte, wurden grosse Projekte teilweise aufgrund geopolitischer 
Unsicherheiten verschoben. Die Flow-Division verzeichnete einen 
ausgezeichneten Umsatz mit einem starken Wachstum von 12.3%. Das 
Energiegeschäft wuchs um 21.1%, unterstützt durch grosse Aufträge im Jahr 
2024. Wasser und Industrie verzeichneten ein anhaltendes Wachstum von 7.1%, 
wobei Wasser zweistellig zulegte und Industrie stabil blieb. Die 

stieg im Jahresvergleich um , was einen 
kontinuierlichen Fortschritt in kommerziellen und operativen 

 sowie in diszipliniertem Kostenmanagement zeigt.

EBITDA-Marge 160 Basispunkte

Exzellenz-Massnahmen

Wichtige Projekterfolge – Fokus auf Wasseraufbereitung

Offiziell Anfang 2026 eröffnet, vereint ein neues  die 

Wasseraufbereitungskompetenzen von Sulzer unter einem Dach. Durch die Kombination von 

etablierten Marken wie  und  hat Sulzer ein 

leistungsstarkes, durchgängiges Angebot geschaffen, das für Kunden Komplexität minimiert, Risiken 

reduziert und die Lebenszykluskosten optimiert. Eine Wachstumschance liegt auch in den neu 

etablierten Mietlösungen von Sulzer. Im Jahr 2025 wurde das bestehende Portfolio an temporären 

Lösungen für Pumpen, Belüftung und Wasseraufbereitung durch eine verbindliche Vereinbarung zur 

Übernahme eines kleineren  verstärkt. Zu den ersten 

Projekterfolgen gehörte die Unterstützung für den Wiederaufbau einer lokalen dänischen Kläranlage 

und mehrere Projekte in Schweden.

Water Treatment Center of Excellence

Nordic Water, FRC, IPEC, JWC Screens, Owatec Probig

Pumpenverleihunternehmens in Dänemark

Was den langfristigen Kunden und Partner Veolia betrifft, einen globalen Umweltspezialisten im 

Bereich Wasser-, Abfall- und Energiemanagement, 

. Dies umfasst ein breites Spektrum an Pumpen, Mischern und 

Turbokompressoren und bestätigt Sulzer als Partnerzulieferer von Veolia.

so unterzeichnete Sulzer eine fünfjährige 

Rahmenvereinbarung

Weitere wichtige Projekterfolge sind die Ausrüstung einer hochmodernen Kläranlage in der Region 

Venedig (siehe ) und eine , die 

die Lieferung von mehr als 600 Produkten abdeckt. Diese werden ab dem ersten Halbjahr 2026 in 

Anlagen für Ethanol, DDGS (Distillerʼs Dried Grains with Solubles), Maisöl und weitere erneuerbare 

Energien installiert.

Midyear-Bericht 2025 Vereinbarung mit dem Kunden Inpasa in Brasilien

In Zusammenarbeit mit Kunden arbeitet Sulzer an zwei Forschungsprojekten von Pumpenlösungen für 

ultratiefe Geothermietechnologie und erzielt gute Fortschritte bei der Implementierung modernster 

Tiefseetechnologie zusammen mit seiner Kundenpartnerschaft am brasilianischen HISEP-Projekt .®
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Der Schwerpunkt der Forschungs- und Entwicklungsaktivitäten liegt auf der kontinuierlichen 

Verbesserung der Energieeffizienz, Nachhaltigkeit und Zuverlässigkeit aller Produkte. Pumpsysteme 

sind weltweit für etwa 10% des Stromverbrauchs verantwortlich. Flow investiert kontinuierlich in die 

Weiterentwicklung moderner Materialien und nachhaltiger Fertigungstechnologien. Darüber hinaus 

werden digitale Lösungen entwickelt, um die Produkte intelligenter zu machen. Diese Technologien 

helfen Kunden, den Betrieb ihrer Pumpensysteme zu optimieren und den genauen Zustand des 

Systems jederzeit im Blick zu behalten.

Wichtige Zahlen für Flow

in Mio. CHF   2025   2024  
Veränderung

in +/–%    +/–% bereinigt 1)    +/–% organisch 2)

Bestellungseingang   1’576.3   1’603.3   –1.7   3.0   2.5

Bruttomarge des Bestellungseingangs   32.8%   31.3%            

Auftragsbestand am 31. Dezember   990.0   1’053.5   –6.0        

Umsatz   1’551.2   1’444.3   7.4   12.6   12.3

EBITDA   206.6   169.6   21.8   29.1   28.7

EBITDA marge   13.3%   11.7%            

EBIT   149.7   111.8   33.9        

Mitarbeitende (Anzahl Vollzeitstellen) am 31. 
Dezember   5’559   5’492   1.2        

1) Bereinigt um Währungseffekte.
2) Bereinigt um Akquisitions-, Veräusserungs-, Dekonsolidierungs- und Währungseffekte.

Wachsender Bestellungseingang

Der Bestellungseingang der Flow-Division zeigte mit 2.5% einen Aufwärtstrend 

( ). Dieses Ergebnis wurde durch den Rückgang der Aufträge im ersten Halbjahr 

2025 um 3.1% aufgrund einer aussergewöhnlich grossen Bestellung im ersten 

beeinflusst.

2024: 12.3% Zuwachs

Halbjahr 2024

Bestellungseingang nach Marktsegmenten

2025

 Wasser und Industrie60%

 Energie und Infrastruktur40%

Bestellungseingang nach Regionen

2025

 Europa, Naher Osten und Afrika48%

 Nord-, Mittel- und Südamerika32%

 Asien-Pazifik20%
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Rekordprofitabilität

Das Umsatzwachstum war in der Flow-Division stark, wobei beide Geschäftsbereiche zu einem 

positiven Ergebnis von +12.3% beitrugen. Eine bemerkenswerte Verbesserung der Profitabilität wurde 

2025 erzielt, auch dank der Einführung von Sulzer Exzellenz, einer Säule der Strategie. Die EBITDA-

Marge stieg um  von 11.7% auf 13.3%.160 Basispunkte

Abkürzungen
EBIT: Ergebnis vor Zinsen und Steuern.
EBITDA: Ergebnis vor Zinsen, Steuern, Abschreibungen und Amortisationen.
Die Definition der alternativen Leistungskennzahlen finden Sie unter “ ” im Finanzteil (nur in englischer Sprache verfügbar).Supplementary Information
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– Lagebericht – Services

Anhaltendes zweistelliges Wachstum und 
rekordhohe Profitabilität

Hinweis: Sofern nicht anders angegeben, basieren die Änderungen im Vergleich zum Vorjahr auf organischen Zahlen (bereinigt für Währungseffekte, 
Übernahmen/Veräusserungen und Dekonsolidierungen).

Im Jahr 2025 erzielte die Services-Division zum dritten Mal in Folge ein 
zweistelliges Wachstum sowohl beim Bestellungseingang als auch beim Umsatz 
mit einer rekordhohen Profitabilität. Die starke Leistung wurde durch 
strategische Investitionen zur Entwicklung des Servicezentrum-Netzwerks 
unterstützt. Der Bestellungseingang stieg um +10.8%, unterstützt durch eine 
starke Nachfrage nach Energiesicherheit und Energieeffizienz. Der Umsatz 
wuchs im Jahresvergleich um +10.7%. Die  erreichte 18.3% und 
verbesserte sich damit deutlich um  gegenüber 2024 
( ), was auf die ersten Auswirkungen von Sulzer Exzellenz-
Massnahmen und auf die erfolgreiche Umsetzung von bedeutsamen Projekten in 
mehreren Regionen zurückzuführen ist.

EBITDA-Marge
150 Basispunkte

2024: 16.8%

Sicherstellung eines zuverlässigen Betriebs kritischer 
Industrieanlagen

Die Mission von Services ist es, den zuverlässigen Betrieb kritischer Industrieanlagen sicherzustellen, 

indem Ausfallzeiten minimiert werden, die Lebensdauer optimiert und sowohl Umwelt- als auch 

Kosteneffizienz verbessert werden. Die gute Geschäftsentwicklung wird von einem starken 

Gasturbinenmarkt unterstützt, von dem zu erwarten ist, dass er in Zukunft weiter wachsen wird, da die 

Nachfrage nach Strom steigt und die Länder die Stabilität und Sicherheit ihrer Stromnetze priorisieren. 

Zu den wichtigsten Erfolgen zählen die Überholung von fünf Gasturbinen in Südafrika, was zur 

Stärkung der nationalen Energiesicherheit beigetragen hat, sowie die Durchführung einer 

siebentägigen Reparatur an Getrieben und Dampfturbinen in Indonesien, die eine schnelle 

Wiederaufnahme des Betriebs sicherstellten. Sulzers Strategie, über alle Produktlinien hinweg zu 

wachsen, zeigt sich im Irak, wo das Team Pumpen, Motoren und Kompressoren für ein grosses 

Gasunternehmen sanierte. Dies ermöglichte die Wiederinbetriebnahme der stillgelegten Anlage und 

gewährleistete die Zuverlässigkeit kritischer Anlagen.

Die Division erreichte 2025 mehrere erste Meilensteine, darunter die erste Gaskompressor-Umrüstung 

in den nordischen Ländern, die auf einer Produktionsplattform in der Nordsee durchgeführt wurde. 

Darüber hinaus erhielt Sulzer einen Auftrag zur Überholung von drei GE Frame 6B-Generatoren für ein 

grosses KI-Rechenzentrum in Texas. Nach Fertigstellung wird das Projekt zu den grössten 

Rechenzentren der Welt gehören.

Diese Erfolge wurden durch die Umsetzung von Lean-Prinzipien in den Servicezentren 

vorangetrieben. Die Abteilung hat die Zykluszeiten verkürzt und die pünktliche Lieferung weltweit 

verbessert, was Sulzers Engagement für kontinuierliche Verbesserung und kundenorientierte 

Innovation unterstreicht.
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Services erweiterte weiterhin seine globale Präsenz, um Kunden in strategisch wichtigen wachsenden 

Märkten besser zu bedienen. In Ezeiza, Argentinien, eröffnete die Abteilung ein 

, das Industrien im ganzen Land und in der weiteren Region Lateinamerika 

unterstützt. Im Nahen Osten , einen 

führenden Anbieter elektromechanischer Dienstleistungen, und stärkte damit das Angebot von Sulzer 

in der Region. In Nordamerika investierte Sulzer in zusätzliche Kapazitäten in einem der weltweit 

grössten Turbomaschinenzentren der Exzellenz Nordamerikas, um der wachsenden Kundennachfrage 

gerecht zu werden.

neues 

Ausrüstungsservicezentrum

übernahm Sulzer die in Bahrain ansässige Davies and Mills

Kennzahlen Services

in Mio. CHF   2025   2024  
Veränderung

in +/–%    +/–% bereinigt 1)    +/–% organisch 2)

Bestellungseingang   1’449.8   1’378.3   5.2   11.5   10.8

Bruttomarge des Bestellungseingangs   39.6%   39.0%            

Auftragsbestand am 31. Dezember   730.3   689.7   5.9        

Umsatz   1’312.8   1’249.1   5.1   11.3   10.7

EBITDA   240.0   209.6   14.5   24.1   23.0

EBITDA marge   18.3%   16.8%            

EBIT   201.3   171.5   17.3        

Mitarbeitende (Anzahl Vollzeitstellen) am 31. 
Dezember   4’855   4’832   0.5        

1) Bereinigt um Währungseffekte.
2) Bereinigt um Akquisitions-, Veräusserungs-, Dekonsolidierungs- und Währungseffekte.

Starkes Wachstum des Bestellungseingangs über Produktlinien 
und Regionen hinweg

Alle Produktlinien (Marktsegmente) trugen positiv zum starken Wachstum bei. Dank anhaltender 

Nachfrage erreichten Europa, der Nahe Osten und Afrika (EMEA) 10.5% und Amerika (AME) ein 

zweistelliges Wachstum von 12.7%, während der Asien-Pazifik-Raum (APAC) mit einer nachlassenden 

Nachfrage um 4.2% gewachsen ist.

Bestellungseingang nach Marktsegment

2025

 Pumpen-Services53%

 Turbomaschinen-Services32%

 Elektromechanik-Services15%

Bestellungseingang nach Regionen

2025

 Nord-, Mittel- und Südamerika51%

 Europa, Naher Osten und Afrika37%

 Asien-Pazifik12%
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EBITDA-Marge auf Rekordniveau

Der Umsatz erreichte 2025  (+10.7%), hauptsächlich aufgrund einer positiven 

Entwicklung in den Regionen AME und EMEA. Mit Fokus auf operative Exzellenz-Massnahmen 

erzielte die Division eine deutliche Verbesserung der  von 16.8% im Jahr 2024 auf 

18.3% im Jahr 2025, insbesondere auch durch Verkürzung der Auftragszykluszeit und bessere 

Lieferungspünktlichkeit.

1’312.8 Millionen CHF

EBITDA-Marge

Abkürzungen
EBIT: Ergebnis vor Zinsen und Steuern.
EBITDA: Ergebnis vor Zinsen, Steuern, Abschreibungen und Amortisationen.
Die Definition der alternativen Leistungskennzahlen finden Sie unter “ ” im Finanzteil (nur in englischer Sprache verfügbar).Supplementary Information
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– Lagebericht – Chemtech

Ergebnisse spiegeln ein herausforderndes Jahr

Hinweis: Sofern nicht anders angegeben, basieren die Änderungen im Vergleich zum Vorjahr auf organischen Zahlen (bereinigt für Währungseffekte, 
Übernahmen/Veräusserungen und Dekonsolidierungen).

Der Bestellungseingang in der Chemtech-Division ging um 12.5% zurück, was 
auf ein herausforderndes Marktumfeld aufgrund von Überkapazitäten in China 
und einer schwachen Investitionsstimmung in der chemischen Industrie 
zurückzuführen ist. Dennoch blieb das Kurzzeit- und kleinere Projektgeschäft 
stabil und das Aftermarket-Segment ist gewachsen. Chemtech meldete einen 
soliden Bestelleingang im vierten Quartal 2025. Die Umsatzentwicklung zeigte 
im zweiten Halbjahr einen Anstieg im Vergleich zum ersten Halbjahr, während 
das Gesamtumsatzwachstum mit –13.6% negativ bleibt. Dies lag hauptsächlich 
an kundenbedingten Verzögerungen bei Grossprojekten und geringerem 
Bestellungseingang. Trotz des deutlichen Umsatzrückgangs erreichte die 
EBITDA-Marge 13.7% (2024: 15.7%). Umstrukturierungen, Kostenmassnahmen 
und ein gutes Lieferkettenmanagement haben die geringeren Verkaufsvolumina 
teilweise ausgeglichen.

Know How für Schlüsselindustrien

Im Jahr 2025 konzentrierte sich Chemtech durch verstärkte Segmentierung und Spezialisierung 

stärker auf Kundenbedürfnisse. Als Reaktion auf herausfordernde Marktbedingungen und 

Verzögerungen bei Grossprojekten legte das Kerngeschäft von Chemtech – 

Massentransferkomponenten und -dienstleistungen – einen stärkeren Fokus auf das 

Lebenszyklusmanagement. Bestehende Aftermarket-Angebote wie Umbauten, Turnaround-Services, 

Tower-Field-Services und automatisierte Schweissüberlagerungen wurden weltweit verstärkt und 

ausgebaut. Bestehende Servicezentren wie das 2024 eröffnete Zentrum in Essen, Deutschland, 

dienen nun als schnelle Einsatzzentren und helfen Kunden, ungeplante Ausfallzeiten zu vermeiden. In 

neuen Märkten wie Carbon Capture Utilization and Storage (CCUS) wurde die Division als 

Hauptlieferant für das Mega-Netto-Null-Projekt . Chemtech liefert dafür 

strukturierte Verpackungen, welche jährlich bis zu zwei Millionen Tonnen CO  absorbieren können.

Teesside Power ausgewählt

2

Durch seine Process Solutions Unit liefert Chemtech fortschrittliche Trenn- und 

Reinigungstechnologie für kritische chemische Prozesse. Im Jahr 2025 wurde das Angebot 

standardisiert und konzentrierte sich auf Schlüsselbranchen, um sich besser an Kundenbedürfnissen 

zu orientieren. Mit Avalon Energy schloss Chemtech eine strategische Allianz zur Skalierung der 

Produktion nachhaltiger Flugkraftstoffe.  für sein 200 KTA 

Sustainable Aviation Fuel-Projekt in Panama und sicherte sich ein globales Recht, BioFlux-

Technologie in SAF-Anlagen in Lateinamerika, Indien, Südafrika, Kenia, Eswatini und den Vereinigten 

Staaten einzusetzen. Sulzer lizenziert die BioFlux-Technologie weltweit im Rahmen einer exklusiven 

Kooperationsvereinbarung mit Duke Technologies LLC.

Avalon wählte die BioFlux-Technologie™

Die BioFlux-Technologie wurde ausserdem von  für ein nachhaltiges 

Flugkraftstoffprojekt in Sarawak, Malaysia, ausgewählt. Die Anlage wird lokal gewonnene Öle aus 

Algen, Palmen und anderen Quellen umwandeln, um nachhaltige Luftfahrt in Südostasien 

voranzubringen.

SEDC Energy
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Im Bereich Polymere und Kristallisation wächst das Interesse an biobasierten Polymeren weiterhin. 

Chemtech ist Marktführer bei PLA (Polylactic Acid), dem heute wichtigsten Bioplastik, und bietet eine 

zentrale Lösung von Lizenzierung bis hin zu Ingenieurwesen und Dienstleistungen. Die Division 

investiert weiterhin in den wachsenden Biopolymermarkt und 

(Innovation Technology Hub) in Winterthur-Töss in der Schweiz. Kurz nach der Eröffnung zeigten 

mehrere Anwendungsentwicklungsprojekte zusammen mit Kunden die Nachfrage nach der 

Entwicklung fortschrittlicher biobasierter Materialien und zirkulärer Geschäftsmodelle.

eröffnet eine neue InTecH-Anlage

Sulzer startete ausserdem ein innovatives , einem Pionier der 

zirkulären Chemie, um das weltweit erste PLA (Polylactic Acid) vollständig aus Lebensmittelabfällen 

herzustellen. Während TripleW die Lebensmittelabfallströme verwendet, wandelt Sulzers Technologie 

Milchsäure im grossen Stil in PLA-Bioplastik um und ermöglicht so den Übergang von einem 

Pilotprojekt zur vollständigen industriellen Produktion. Die Abteilung brachte eine lizenzierte 

EcoStyrene-Technologie für das chemische Recycling kontaminierter Polystyrolmaterialien auf den 

Markt. Diese Technologie bietet eine praktische und wirtschaftlich tragfähige Lösung für Materialien, 

die zuvor als zu kontaminiert für herkömmliche Recyclingmethoden galten.

Kooperationsprojekt mit TripleW

Im Rahmen von Sulzer Exzellenz startete Chemtech eine globale Initiative zur Verbesserung der 

Fabrikeffizienz. Standardisierung und Benchmarking über Fabriken hinweg geben den Kunden mehr 

Flexibilität bei der Auswahl der Produktionsstandorte und verkürzen die Gesamtlieferzeiten.

Kennzahlen Chemtech

in Mio. CHF   2025   2024  
Veränderung in 

+/–%    +/–% bereinigt 1)    +/–% organisch 2)

Bestellungseingang   724.9   866.9   –16.4   –12.5   –12.5

Bruttomarge des Bestellungseingangs   34.4%   35.8%            

Auftragsbestand am 31. Dezember   535.3   556.8   –3.9        

Umsatz   691.3   837.1   –17.4   –13.6   –13.6

EBITDA   94.4   131.6   –28.3   –22.2   –22.2

EBITDA marge   13.7%   15.7%            

EBIT   72.3   110.9   –34.8        

Mitarbeitende (Anzahl Vollzeitstellen) am 31. 
Dezember   2’781   2’934   –5.2        

1) Bereinigt um Währungseffekte.
2) Bereinigt um Akquisitions-, Veräusserungs-, Dekonsolidierungs- und Währungseffekte.
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Reduzierter Bestellungseingang

Der Bestellungseingang in der Chemtech-Division ging um 12.5% zurück, was auf ein allgemein 

herausforderndes Marktumfeld mit verzögerten Kundenentscheidungen zurückzuführen ist. Das 

Kurzzyklus- und Kleinprojektgeschäft blieb stabil, während das Aftermarket-Geschäft wuchs. 

Chemtech meldete einen soliden Bestelleingang im vierten Quartal 2025.

Bestellungseingang nach Marktsegmenten

2025

 Trenntechnologie- und Servicegeschäft64%

 Verfahrenslösungen für Prozessanlagen36%

Bestellungseingang nach Regionen

2025

 Asien-Pazifik37%

 Nord-, Mittel- und Südamerika25%

 Europa, Naher Osten und Afrika38%

Geringerer Umsatz und Profitabilität

Auch der Chemtech-Umsatz wurde von der schwachen Marktstimmung beeinflusst und ging um –

13.6% zurück. Dies lag hauptsächlich an der Phasenaufteilung grosser Projekte durch Kunden und 

einem geringeren Bestellungseingang. Dank starker Exzellenz- und Sparmassnahmen im 

gelang es der Division, die geringeren Verkäufe teilweise auszugleichen, was zu einer reduzierten, 

aber dennoch sehr guten  von 13.7% (2024: 15.7%) führte.

Jahr 2025

EBITDA-Marge

Abkürzungen
EBIT: Ergebnis vor Zinsen und Steuern.
EBITDA: Ergebnis vor Zinsen, Steuern, Abschreibungen und Amortisationen.
Die Definition der alternativen Leistungskennzahlen finden Sie unter “ ” im Finanzteil (nur in englischer Sprache verfügbar).Supplementary Information
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– Lagebericht – Arbeitssicherheit

Arbeitssicherheit

Sulzer strebt an, eine Unfallhäufigkeitsrate (AFR) unter 1, eine Unfallschwererate 
(ASR) unter 15 und eine Gesamtunfallrate (TAR) unter 13 zu halten. Im Jahr 2025 
war der AFR bei 0.7, was unter dem definierten Ziel liegt. Der ASR war bei 20.4 
und übertraf damit das Ziel. Der TAR war bei 10.6, erreichte damit das Ziel und 
zeigte die Wirksamkeit der Sicherheitsinitiativen.

Sulzer verbesserte seine Unfallpräventionsstrategie weiter, indem die Risikominderungsmassnahmen 

und Sicherheitsprotokolle verstärkt wurden. Im November führte Sulzer die Global Safety Week in 

allen Divisionen weltweit als koordinierte, unternehmensweite Initiative durch. Während dieser Woche 

nahmen Sulzer-Teams auf der ganzen Welt an Sicherheitsspaziergängen, Workshops, Schulungen 

und Umfragen teil, um offenen Dialog und gemeinsames Lernen zu fördern. Diese Aktivitäten stärken 

Sicherheit und Gesundheit als zentrale Priorität und kollektive Verantwortung in der gesamten 

Organisation.

Für 2026 wird sich Sulzer darauf konzentrieren, Sicherheitsinitiativen voranzutreiben, in welchen neue 

Technologien integriert, Schulungsprogramme verbessert und die Mitarbeiterbindung in 

Sicherheitsaktivitäten aufrechterhalten werden. Ziel ist es, die Zahl der Vorfälle weiter zu reduzieren, 

die Sicherheitsleistung kontinuierlich zu verbessern und ein sicheres Arbeitsumfeld zu schaffen.

Flow

Die Unfallhäufigkeitsrate (AFR) bei Flow sank von 1.4 Fällen pro Million Arbeitsstunden im Jahr 2024 

auf 1.2 im Jahr 2025. Dies liegt über dem Ziel von 1.0 Fällen pro Million Arbeitsstunden, und 2026 

werden gemeinsame Anstrengungen unternommen, um das AFR der Abteilung durch verstärkte 

Sicherheitsmassnahmen und Kommunikation zu senken. Die Unfallschwererate (ASR) der Abteilung 

sank auf 18.4 verlorene Tage pro Million Arbeitsstunden, gegenüber 29.5 im Vorjahr.

Im Jahr 2025 führte Flow das ESH XAudit ein, ein standortübergreifendes Bewertungsprogramm, das 

entwickelt wurde, um Sicherheitspraktiken abzustimmen und die zentralen operativen Praktiken zu 

stärken. Die Prüfung verwendet eine standardisierte Vorlage, die 15 ESH-Bereiche abdeckt, um 

Lücken zu identifizieren und erforderliche Massnahmen zu dokumentieren. Diese Massnahmen 

unterstützen die Harmonisierung und Standardisierung von Sicherheitsprozessen an verschiedenen 

Standorten.

Services

Die Unfallhäufigkeitsrate (AFR) bei Sulzer Services war 2025 sogar noch niedriger als 2024 – mit 0.3 

Fällen pro Million Arbeitsstunden ( ), was zum dritten Mal in Folge unter dem 

Branchenstandard von 1.0 liegt. Die Unfallschwererate (ASR) stieg 2025 auf 24.8 verlorene Tage pro 

Million Arbeitsstunden ( ).

2024: 0.4

2024: 6.6

Im Laufe des Jahres nahmen Dienstleister und Standortleiter an einem Schulungsprogramm teil, das 

im Einklang mit international anerkannten Standards entwickelt wurde. Bis Ende 2025 hatten 94% des 

Aufsichts- und Standortmanagementpersonals die Schulung abgeschlossen. Die Initiative unterstützte 

Konsistenz in der Risikobewertung, eine strukturiertere Ursachenanalyse und klarere ESH-bezogene 

Diskussionen zwischen den Teams.
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Chemtech

Die Unfallhäufigkeitsrate (AFR) von Chemtech sank von 1.5 Fällen pro Million Arbeitsstunden im Jahr 

2024 auf 0.7 im Jahr 2025. Diese Zahl unterhalb des Ziels von 1.0 Fällen pro Million Arbeitsstunden 

zeigt die konzertierten Anstrengungen, die 2025 unternommen wurden, um das AFR der Division 

durch verstärkte Sicherheitsmassnahmen und Kommunikation zu senken. Die Unfallschwererate 

(ASR) der Abteilung sank ebenfalls auf 17.5 verlorene Tage pro Million Arbeitsstunden, von 21.3 im 

Vorjahr.

Im Jahr 2025 entwickelte Chemtech eine Working at Height-Initiative zur Reduzierung sturzbedingter 

Gefahren, zur Aktualisierung und Standardisierung von Leitlinien, Schulungen und zur Stärkung der 

Kompetenzen. Das Programm legt besonderen Wert auf Sturzvermeidungsmassnahmen wie 

Geräteinspektion, Nutzung genehmigter Befestigungspunkte, gesicherte Werkzeuge und Zugang, der 

für autorisiertes Personal beschränkt ist. Diese Aktivitäten sind Teil der laufenden Bemühungen von 

Sulzer, einheitliche Sicherheitspraktiken in allen Betriebsbereichen aufrechtzuerhalten.

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Lagebericht – Arbeitssicherheit 30



Corporate 
governance

32 Corporate structure and shareholders
33 Capital structure
34 Board of Directors
48 Executive Committee
52 Shareholder participation rights
53 Takeover and defense measures
54 Auditors
55 Risk management
57 Information policy



– Corporate governance – Corporate structure and shareholders

Corporate structure and shareholders

Sulzer is subject to Swiss corporate and stock exchange laws and applies the 
Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance.

Sulzer Ltd is subject to the laws of Switzerland, in particular Swiss corporate and stock exchange 

laws. The company also applies the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance. The 

information in the following sections is set out in the order defined by the SIX Swiss Exchange 

Directive on Information relating to Corporate Governance (DCG), with subsections summarized as far 

as possible. Sulzer’s consolidated financial statements comply with IFRS Accounting Standards, and 

in certain sections, readers are referred to the financial reporting section of  Sulzer Annual 

Report. Sulzer reports the compensation of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee in 

the . Unless otherwise indicated, the following information refers to the situation 

on December 31, 2025. Further information on corporate governance is published at 

.

 the 2025

compensation report

www.sulzer.com/governance

Corporate structure

The company’s business is managed on a divisional basis, and the organizational Group structure 

corresponds to these reporting segments, which consist of the Flow division, the Services division 

and the Chemtech division. The operational corporate structure is shown under   to the 

consolidated financial statements in the financial reporting section. Sulzer Ltd is the only Group 

company listed on a stock exchange. It is based in Winterthur, Switzerland. Its shares are listed and 

traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange in Zurich (Securities No. 3838891/ISIN CH0038388911). On 

, the market capitalization of all issued shares of Sulzer Ltd was 

. Information on the subsidiaries included in the consolidation can be found under 

 to the consolidated financial statements. The list comprises all consolidated direct 

subsidiaries of Sulzer Ltd as well as all further consolidated subsidiaries.

note 2

December 31, 2025

CHF 5’050’273’338

note 34

Significant shareholders

According to notifications of the company’s shareholders, the following shareholders held more than 

3% of Sulzer Ltd’s share capital on December 31, 2025: Tiwel Holding AG,  (as published on 

the SIX disclosure platform on ; the beneficial owner of these shares is Viktor 

Vekselberg); UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, 3.431% (as published on the 

platform on ); and Fidelity Investments Canada ULC and  (as 

published on the SIX disclosure platform on ). For information on shareholders of 

Sulzer Ltd that have reported shareholdings of over 3% or a reduction of shareholdings below 3%, 

please refer to the website of the Disclosure Office of . The total number of 

treasury shares held by Sulzer Ltd as of December 31, 2025, amounted to 524’796. There are no 

cross-shareholdings where the capital or voting stakes on either side exceed the threshold of 5%. For 

information on transactions with related parties, see  to the consolidated financial statements.

48.82%

May 29, 2018

SIX disclosure

May 7, 2024 FIL Limited: each 3.015%

November 11, 2025

SIX Swiss Exchange

note 30
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– Corporate governance – Capital structure

Capital structure

Share capital

The fully paid-up share capital of Sulzer Ltd amounts to  and is divided into 

34’262’370 registered shares with a par value of  per share. There have not been any 

changes in the share capital of Sulzer Ltd during the last three reporting periods. The shares are 

issued in the form of uncertificated securities within the meaning of  of the Swiss Code of 

Obligations (CO) and are held as intermediated securities within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act 

on Intermediated Securities of . Each registered share entitles the holder to one vote 

at the Shareholders’ Meeting. All shares have equal dividend rights. The company’s 

 provide for the possibility of a share capital increase in a maximum amount of 

 through the issuance of up to  registered shares with a par value of 

per share (corresponding to 4.96% of the current share capital) through the voluntary or mandatory 

exercise of certain conversion, option or similar rights for the subscription of shares granted to 

shareholders or third parties in connection with bonds, loans or other financial market instruments of 

Sulzer Ltd or any of the subsidiaries controlled by it (for more details, see § 3a of the Articles of 

Association). The introduction of this conditional capital was approved by  shareholders at 

the AGM on . There is no capital band, nor are there any participation or dividend 

certificates.

CHF 342’623.70

CHF 0.01

art. 973c

October 3, 2008

Articles of 

Association

CHF 17’000 1’700’000 CHF 0.01

Sulzer Ltd’s

April 14, 2021

Restrictions on transferability and nominee registrations

The company’s shares are freely transferable provided that, when requested by the company to do 

so, buyers declare that they have purchased and will hold the shares in their own name and for their 

own account; that there is no agreement on the redemption of the relevant shares; and that they bear 

the economic risk associated with the shares. Nominees shall only be entered in the share register 

with the right to vote if they meet the following conditions: The nominee is subject to the supervision 

of a recognized banking and financial market regulator; the nominee has entered into a written 

agreement with the Board of Directors concerning its status; the share capital held by the nominee 

does not exceed 3% of the registered share capital entered in the commercial register; and the 

names, addresses and number of shares of those individuals for whose accounts the nominee holds 

at least 0.5% of the share capital have been disclosed.  of Directors is also entitled, beyond 

these limits, to enter shares of nominees with voting rights in the share register if the above-

mentioned conditions are not met (see also § 6a of the ). No exceptions were 

granted in the reporting year. Other than these restrictions on nominee voting, there are no transfer 

restrictions and no privileges under the Articles of Association. A removal or amendment of the 

nominee voting restrictions requires a shareholders’ resolution with a majority of at least  of 

the votes represented.

The Board

Articles of Association

two-thirds

Convertible bonds and options

No convertible bonds or warrants are currently outstanding. Details of the restricted share units 

(RSUs) issued to the members of the Board of Directors, as well as performance share units (PSUs) 

and RSUs issued to the members of the Executive Committee, are set out under  to the 

consolidated financial statements and under  to the financial statements of Sulzer Ltd.

note 29

note 11
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– Corporate governance – Board of Directors

Board of Directors

Members of the Board of Directors are elected individually for a term until the 
end of the next AGM. At the AGM of , all members of the Board 
were . Furthermore, Suzanne Thoma was  as Chair of the 
Board of Directors. The Board consists of seven members. Except for Suzanne 
Thoma, who was also appointed the company’s CEO as of , 
and became the Executive Chair, none of the members of the Board of Directors 
has ever held an executive position at Sulzer.

April 23, 2025
re-elected re-elected

November 1, 2022

Apart from Executive Chair Suzanne Thoma, all members of the Board of Directors are non-executive. 

None of the non-executive members of the Board of Directors have ever belonged to the 

management of a Sulzer company or to the Executive Committee, nor do any significant business 

relationships exist between members of the Board of Directors and Sulzer Ltd or any subsidiary of 

Sulzer Ltd.

Elections and terms of office

The Articles of Association stipulate that the Board of Directors of Sulzer Ltd shall comprise five to 

nine members. Each member is elected individually. The term of office for members of the Board of 

Directors lasts until the end of the next AGM. At the 2025 AGM seven Board members were re-

elected to the Board of Directors. The Board consists of seven members: one from Cyprus / Israel, 

one from Norway, one from Austria, one from Germany, one from France / Switzerland and two from 

Switzerland. Professional expertise and international experience played a key role in the selection of 

the members. The members of the Board of Directors and their CVs can be viewed below. Details of 

the former members of the Board of Directors can be found in the Corporate Governance chapter of 

the company’s .Annual Report 2024

According to the Board of Directors and Organization Regulations, no Board member may serve for 

more than twelve consecutive terms of office. In exceptional circumstances, the Board can extend 

this limit.

Internal organization

The Board of Directors constitutes itself, except for the Chair of the Board of Directors who is elected 

by the Shareholders’ Meeting. The Board of Directors appoints from among its members the Vice-

Chair of the Board of Directors, the Lead Independent Director and the members and the chairs of the 

board committees, except for the members of the Remuneration Committee, who are elected by the 

Shareholders’ Meeting. There are currently five standing board committees (for their constitution, see 

below):

The Audit Committee (AC)

The Governance Committee (GC)

The Nomination Committee (NC)

The Remuneration Committee (RC)

The Strategy and Sustainability Committee (SSC)
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The  and the relevant Committee Regulations, which 

are published under   (see “Regulations”), define the division of responsibilities 

between the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee. They also define the authorities and 

responsibilities of the Chair of the Board of Directors and of the five standing board committees.

Board of Directors and Organization Regulations

corporate governance

Executive Chair and Lead Independent Director

The Board of Directors appointed its Chair, Suzanne Thoma, as Executive Chair of Sulzer as of 

. In this role, she assumed operational management of the company and also took 

over the responsibilities of the CEO.

November 1, 2022

Following the , Markus Kammüller was appointed as Lead Independent Director. The Lead 

Independent Director ensures, on behalf of the Board of Directors, that the rules of good corporate 

governance are adhered to in the decision-making of the Board. In this context, the Lead Independent 

Director may call for and chair meetings of the non-executive Board members whenever required. He 

also acts as a point of contact for members of the Board to discuss matters regarding the company’s 

corporate governance that they would like to raise in the absence of the .

2023 AGM

Executive Chair

The Board of Directors and its committees
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CVs of members of the Board of Directors

Dr. Suzanne Thoma
Executive Chair

Chair of the Strategy and Sustainability Committee

Member of the Nomination Committee

Educational background
Ph.D. in Technical Sciences, ETH Zurich, Switzerland

Master of Science in Chemical Engineering, ETH Zurich, Switzerland

Bachelor of Business Administration, Graduate School of Business 

Administration (GSBA), Zurich, Switzerland

Other listed company mandates
None

Other activities and vested interests
Vice-Chair of the Board of Trustees, Avenir Suisse Foundation, Switzerland

Member of the Board of Trustees of the ETH Foundation, Switzerland

Member of the Executive Board, Swissmem Association, Switzerland

Professional background
Suzanne Thoma (Swiss) was elected as a member of Sulzer Ltd’s Board of Directors in 2021 and as Chair in 2022. 

In addition, she was appointed Executive Chair of Sulzer Ltd as of . From 2013 to 2025, she 

served as a non-executive member of the Board of Directors of Beckers Group, Germany and from 2022 to 2025, 

she served as a non-executive member of the Board of Directors of BayWa r.e., Germany. Before joining Sulzer, 

 served as CEO at the international Energy, Engineering and Service company BKW AG in Bern, 

Switzerland, from 2013 to 2022. Prior to her appointment as CEO of BKW, she was a member of 

Executive Committee, responsible for the Networks division. Before that, she was Head of the Automotive 

business for the WICOR Group in , Switzerland, and CEO of Rolic Technologies Ltd., Allschwil, 

Switzerland. Earlier in her career, Suzanne Thoma held various management roles in a number of countries at Ciba 

Specialty Chemicals Ltd. (now BASF).

November 1, 2022

Suzanne Thoma

BKW’s Group

Rapperswil-Jona

Markus Kammüller
Vice-Chair of the Board

Lead Independent Director

Chair of the Governance Committee

Member of the Remuneration Committee

Member of the Audit Committee

Educational background
Degree in Business Administration, University of Applied Sciences, Lucerne, 

Switzerland

Other listed company mandates
None

Other activities and vested interests
President, Daxin Intl.

Professional background
Markus Kammüller (Swiss) was elected as a member of Sulzer Ltd’s Board of Directors in 2022 and was appointed 

Lead Independent Director in 2023. Mr. Kammüller has more than 40 years of experience in various industries and 

professional services through which he developed a reputation as a strong leader for organizational and 

technological change across different cultures. He is the Founder and Owner of ExecDelta GmbH, a company 

specializing in transformation and change-management consulting. Prior to establishing his own business in 2019, 
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he held the position of Global Head of Transformation at BDO International, Brussels (2016 to 2019). Before that, 

he was a Partner at PwC in the role of EMEA Chief Operating Officer and Global Change Management Leader 

(2006 to 2016). He also held various managerial positions at IBM Switzerland (2002 to 2006) and PwC Consulting 

(1996 to 2002), where he was a Partner and acted as Senior Advisor for large listed international corporations. 

From 1985 to 1996 he held various roles in finance, treasury and risk management at Dow Chemical. From 1978 to 

1982 he worked in the credit department of Swiss Volksbank.

David Metzger
Member of the Board

Member of the Audit Committee

Member of the Strategy and Sustainability Committee 

Educational background
MBA, INSEAD, Fontainebleau, France

Master of Finance (lic. oec. publ.), University of Zurich, Switzerland

Other listed company mandates
Non-executive member of the Board of Directors, medmix AG, Switzerland

Other activities and vested interests
None

Professional background
David Metzger (Swiss / French) was elected as a member of Sulzer’s Board of Directors in 2021. He is a seasoned 

investment professional with extensive experience in international investment management, mergers and 

acquisitions, and portfolio strategy. Since late 2025, he has served as Investment and Portfolio Manager at A2 Link 

AG. His other previous roles include Investment Director at Liwet Holding AG (2015 to 2025), 

(now Bregal Energy, part of COFRA Holding, 2007 to 2011), and Senior Manager at  (2000 to 

2007). He has also held positions at Novartis and Morgan Stanley. David Metzger has also served on the Boards of 

Swiss Steel Holding AG (2020 to 2025; delisted in 2025), OC Oerlikon , Octo Telematics SpA 

(Italy, 2014 to 2023), and Norsun (Norway, 2008 to 2009).

Good Energies AG

Bain & Company

(2016 to 2021; listed)

Alexey Moskov
Member of the Board

Member of the Remuneration Committee

Educational background
Master’s degree in Software Engineering / Developing, Moscow State University 

of Railway Engineering, Russia

Other listed company mandates
Non-executive member of the Board of Directors, OC Oerlikon Corporation AG, 

Switzerland

Other activities and vested interests
None

Professional background
Alexey Moskov (Cypriot / Israeli) was elected as a member of Sulzer Ltd’s Board of Directors in 2020. Since 2022, 

he has been the President of the Board of Directors of Liwet Holding AG in Zurich, Switzerland. He is also a 

member of the Board of Directors of Witel AG in Zurich, Switzerland. Since 2021, he has been the CEO of 

AG, a private investment company in Zurich, Switzerland. He has been a member of the Board of Directors of OC 

Oerlikon since 2016. From 2019 to 2020, Alexey Moskov was a member of the Board of Directors of 

 AG (now Swiss Steel Holding AG). From 2004 to 2022, he served as Chief Operating 

A2-Link

SCHMOLZ+BICKENBACH
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Officer and later as the Executive Chairman of Witel AG. Previously, he served as  and member of 

the Executive Board at Tyumen Oil company (TNK-BP), Russia.

Vice-President

Dr. Prisca Havranek-Kosicek
Member of the Board

Chair of the Audit Committee

Member of the Nomination Committee

Member of the Governance Committee

Educational background
Ph.D. in Business Administration, Vienna University of Economics and 

Business, Austria

Master of Business Administration, Vienna University of Economics and 

Business, Austria

Other listed company mandates
CFO, Jenoptik AG, Germany

Other activities and vested interests
None

Professional background
Prisca Havranek-Kosicek (Austrian) was elected as a member of Sulzer Ltd’s Board of Directors in 2023. She has 

more than 20 years of experience in the finance sector, focusing on finance management in large international 

companies. She has been the CFO of Jenoptik AG since April 2023. Until June 2023, she was a member of the 

Supervisory Board and member of the Audit Committee for  Versicherungs-AG, Austria. In 2021 

she co-founded Arcadia eFuels, a  supporting decarbonization of the aviation industry. In 2019, she joined 

the industrial goods manufacturer Nilfisk A/S, which she left in 2021 after completing the restructuring. From 2018 

to 2019, Prisca  was CFO of Novozymes A/S in Denmark, a listed biotech company. There she 

was instrumental in repositioning the company’s portfolio towards stronger,  growth. Between 

2016 and 2018, Prisca  served as CFO at Kuoni Group in Switzerland. From 2011 to 2016, she 

worked at the life science company Royal DSM as CFO for the pharma contract manufacturing division in the U.S., 

as well as the Group Treasurer. She held various positions in leading strategy consulting and M&A assignments, 

Investor Relations and Finance Planning before that.

Allianz-Elementar

start-up

Havranek-Kosicek

performance-driven

Havranek-Kosicek

Dr. Hariolf Kottmann
Member of the Board

Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Member of the Strategy and Sustainability Committee

Member of the Governance Committee

Educational background
Ph.D. in Chemistry, University of Stuttgart, Germany

Other listed company mandates
None

Other activities and vested interests
Member of the Supervisory Board, Plansee Holding, Austria

Professional background
Hariolf Kottmann (German) was elected as a member of Sulzer Ltd’s Board of Directors in 2023, bringing broad 

leadership experience in the roles of CEO and Chairman. As CEO of Clariant International Ltd. (Clariant) from 2008 

through 2018, he led the company through highly demanding restructuring phases. Following that, he served as 

Executive President and later as Chairman of the Board of Directors at Clariant from 2019 until 2021. Before joining 
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Clariant, Hariolf Kottmann was a member of the Executive Committee at SGL Carbon AG (Wiesbaden, Germany) 

from 2001 to 2008. At SGL Carbon, he held responsibilities for Asia, Eastern Europe, Technology & Innovation, the 

Graphite Specialties as well as the Carbon Fibers and Composites businesses. From 1997 to 2001, he ran various 

businesses as a member of the Executive Committee at Celanese Chemicals Ltd at Summit (NJ), Dallas (TX), USA 

and Singapore. After completing his Ph.D. in Chemistry at the University of Stuttgart, Hariolf Kottmann began his 

career at Hoechst AG, (Frankfurt, Germany) in 1985, where he held several positions of increasing seniority in R&D, 

technology and production, marketing, finance and corporate functions.

Per Utnegaard
Member of the Board

Chair of the Nomination Committee

Member of the Strategy and Sustainability Committee

Educational background
Bachelor of Science, Business Administration and Marketing, Northern 

Michigan University, Marquette, USA

Other listed company mandates
None

Other activities and vested interests
None

Professional background
Per Utnegaard (Norwegian) was elected as a member of Sulzer Ltd’s Board of Directors in 2023. He has over 30 

years of experience in strategic management consulting and 20 years of experience as a board member of publicly 

listed companies. Per Utnegaard has held several international leadership positions in logistics and transportation. 

From 2019 until 2025 he held Board of Director roles in Alvest Holding (Paris) and . 

From 2015 to 2016 he served as CEO and Chairman of the Executive Board for Bilfinger SE. He ran Swissport 

International as CEO and President from 2007 to 2015, where he gained  services experience on a global 

scale. Before that (2002 to 2005), Per Utnegaard was in charge of the Wholesale division of the pharma and beauty 

group Alliance Boots Plc. Additionally, he is an acting senior advisor for several  private equity 

companies.

Saudi Ground Services (Jeddah)

in-depth

stock-listed
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Operating principles of the Board of Directors and its 
committees

All decisions are made by the full Board of Directors. For each application, written documentation is 

distributed to the members of the Board of Directors prior to the meeting. The  and 

the committees meet as often as required by the circumstances. The Board of Directors meets at 

least five times per year; the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination 

Committee, and the Strategy and Sustainability Committee meet at least twice per year and the 

Governance Committee meets at least once a year. In 2025, the Board held eight ordinary meetings 

and one extraordinary meeting, lasting an average of two and a half hours. The Board held physical, 

virtual and hybrid meetings, with participants joining in person whenever possible. For further details, 

see the table below. The CFO and the Group General Counsel or the Secretary of the Board of 

Directors also generally attend the Board meetings in an advisory role. Other members of the 

Executive Committee are invited to attend Board meetings as required to discuss the midterm 

planning, the strategy and the budget, as well as division-specific items (such as large investments 

and acquisitions). In exceptional cases, external consultants (e.g., legal advisors, management 

consultants or executive compensation experts) are also invited for the presentation or discussion of 

specific agenda items in meetings of the Board of Directors or any of its committees.

Board of Directors

The committees do not make any decisions but rather review and discuss the matters assigned to 

them and submit the required proposals to the full Board of Directors for a decision. At the next full 

Board meeting following the committee meeting, the chairs of the committees report to the full Board 

of Directors on all matters discussed, including key findings, opinions and recommendations.

Board of Directors

                    Attending meetings of the

Name   Nationality   Position   Entry  
Elected
until   Board   AC   NC   SSC   RC   GC

Suzanne Thoma   Switzerland  

Chair of the Board, 
Chair SSC, member 
NC   April 2021   2026   9   -   4   2   -   -

Markus Kammüller   Switzerland  

Vice-Chair of the 
Board, Lead 
Independent 
Director, Chair GC, 
member RC, 
member AC   April 2022   2026   9   5   -   -   4   1

David Metzger  
Switzerland / 
France  

Member AC, 
member SSC   April 2021   2026   9   5   -   2   -   -

Alexey Moskov   Cyprus / Israel   Member RC   April 2020   2026   7   -   -   -   4   -

Prisca Havranek-
Kosicek   Austria  

Chair AC, member 
NC, member GC   April 2023   2026   9   5   4   -   -   1

Per Utnegaard   Norway  
Chair NC, member 
SSC   April 2023   2026   9   -   4   2   -   -

Hariolf Kottmann   Germany  
Chair RC, member 
SSC, member GC   April 2023   2026   9   -   -   2   4   1

AC = Audit Committee; NC = Nomination Committee; SSC = Strategy and Sustainability Committee; RC = Remuneration Committee; GC = Governance Committee
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Additional mandates of members of the Board of Directors 
outside the Sulzer Group

According to Sulzer’s , the maximum number of additional mandates held by 

members of the Board of Directors outside the Sulzer Group is ten (of which a maximum of four 

mandates may be with listed companies, § 33). Exceptions (e.g., for mandates held at the request of 

Sulzer Ltd or a group company or mandates in associations) are defined in the Articles of Association 

(§ 33, paragraphs a, b and c). All members of the Board of Directors are within the limits of external 

mandates prescribed by the company’s Articles of Association.

Articles of Association

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (members listed above) assesses the midyear and annual consolidated financial 

statements and activities of the internal and statutory auditor, including effectiveness and 

independence, as well as the cooperation between the two bodies. It also assesses the Internal 

Control System (ICS), risk management and compliance; at least one meeting per year is dedicated to 

risk management and compliance. The Audit Committee is also charged with discussing the report on 

non-financial matters, or any other similar report that the Board or the company’s management 

chooses to establish. The CFO, the Group General Counsel, the Head of Group Internal Audit (who is 

also the Secretary of this committee) and the external  attend the meetings of the 

Audit Committee. The Executive Chair may attend the meeting unless advised otherwise by the Head 

of Internal Audit. In 2025, the Audit Committee held five ordinary meetings: One in February, two in 

July, one in September and one in December. The meetings lasted, on average, one and a half hours. 

The statutory auditor attended all of these meetings. Internal experts, such as the Group General 

Counsel and the Heads of Group Internal Audit, Group Accounting, Group IT, Group Compliance and 

Risk Management, and Group Treasury & Tax, gave presentations to the Audit Committee in 2025.

auditor-in-charge

In February, the Audit Committee is informed of compliance exposures as a result of periodic risk 

assessments, and it receives an overview of compliance cases under investigation. In September, the 

Audit Committee is briefed on the present state of risk management within the company and on the 

results of the risk management process – a process to systematically identify and evaluate significant 

risks and introduce countermeasures. In the same meeting, an update on Sulzer’s compliance 

approach, including the respective ongoing – and planned – activities, is provided. The major current 

compliance cases (if any) are reported to and discussed by the Audit Committee regularly. The 

regulations of the Audit Committee can be viewed at .www.sulzer.com/ac-regulations

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee (members listed above) assesses the criteria for the election and re-

election of Board members and the nomination of candidates for the top two management levels and 

deals with succession planning. The Executive Chair and the Chief Human Resources Officer attend 

the meetings of the Nomination Committee. In 2025, four ordinary meetings were held in January, 

July, September and December, lasting an average of 40 minutes. The regulations of the Nomination 

Committee are available at  .www.sulzer.com/nc-regulations
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee (members listed above) assesses the compensation systems and 

recommends compensation for the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee 

(including bonus targets for the latter) on behalf of the Board of Directors and in accordance with its 

specifications. It carries out broad-based compensation benchmarks with an international comparison 

group, supported by studies of consulting firms such as Mercer and HCM International, and it 

scrutinizes the work of internal and external consultants. The members of the Remuneration 

Committee are elected by the Shareholders’ Meeting. In 2025, four ordinary meetings were held in 

January, July, September and December, lasting an average of . The regulations of the 

Remuneration Committee can be viewed at 

30 minutes

.www.sulzer.com/rc-regulations

Strategy and Sustainability Committee

The Strategy and Sustainability Committee (members listed above) advises the Board of Directors on 

strategic matters (such as material acquisitions, divestitures, alliances and joint ventures), strategic 

planning, definition of development priorities, and the company’s sustainability initiatives and 

objectives as well as on other relevant public policy matters. In 2025, two regular meetings took place 

in May and November, lasting an average of one and a half hours. The regulations of the Strategy and 

Sustainability Committee can be viewed at .www.sulzer.com/ssc-regulations

Governance Committee

The Governance Committee (members listed above) advises the Board of Directors with respect to 

checks and balances in the executive chair model, oversees compliance with the Swiss Code of Best 

Practice for Corporate Governance as well as legal and regulatory requirements, and periodically 

reviews the principles of corporate governance. In 2025, one meeting took place in December, lasting 

one hour. The regulations of the Governance Committee can be viewed at 

.www.sulzer.com/gc-regulations

Division of powers between the Board of Directors and the 
Executive Committee

The Board of Directors has largely delegated executive management powers to the Executive 

Committee. However, it is still responsible for matters that cannot be delegated in accordance with 

 CO. These matters include corporate strategy, the approval of midterm planning and the 

annual budget, as well as key personnel decisions and the preparation of the annual report and the 

compensation report. The Board of Directors is also responsible for the report on non-financial 

matters pursuant to  et seqq. CO. Furthermore, the Board of Directors remains responsible 

for acquisition and divestiture decisions involving a transaction value exceeding  million; 

investments in fixed assets exceeding  million; major corporate restructurings; approval of 

dispute settlements with an impact on operating income of more than  million; approval of 

research and development projects exceeding  million, as well as other matters relevant to the 

company; and decisions that must be made by the Board of Directors by law. The competency 

regulations and the nature of the collaboration between the Board of Directors and the Executive 

Committee can be viewed in the Board of Directors and Organization Regulations at 

art. 716a

art. 964a

CHF 30

CHF 15

CHF 20

CHF 10

.www.sulzer.com/BoD-organizational-regulations
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Self-assessment

The Board of Directors from time to time reviews its performance as well as that of its committees. 

Such review focuses on the composition, engagement at the meetings and availability of the members 

of the Board of Directors, as well as on processes, culture and meeting conduct. Furthermore, it 

reviews the interaction of the Board of Directors' members with the members of the Executive 

Committee to assess the need for collective or individual training of members of the Board of 

Directors, always with the goal of validating the Board of Directors' and the standing committees' 

work in an efficient and diligent manner.

Management Structure

Information and control instruments

Each member of the Board of Directors receives financial information in advance of the Board 

meetings, in addition to the midyear and annual financial statements. These updates include 

information about the balance sheet, the income and cash flow statements, and key figures for the 

company and its divisions. They incorporate comments on the respective business results and a 

rolling forecast for the current business year. The Executive Chair and the CFO report at every Board 

meeting on business developments and all matters relevant to the company; once each year, the 

Board receives the forecasted annual results. During these Board meetings, the Chairs of the 
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committees also report on all matters discussed by their committees and on the key findings and 

assessments, and they submit proposals accordingly. Each year, the Board of Directors discusses 

and approves the budget for the following year and the midterm plan, which is also subject to periodic 

review. In addition, the Board of Directors receives a status update on investor relations on a regular 

basis.

Group Internal Audit

Group Internal Audit reports functionally directly to the Chair of the Audit Committee, but 

administratively to the CFO. Meetings between Group Internal Audit and the statutory auditor take 

place regularly. They are used to prepare for the meetings of the Audit Committee, to review the 

interim and final reports of the statutory auditor, and to plan and coordinate internal and external 

audits. Group companies are audited by Group Internal Audit based on an audit plan that is approved 

by the Audit Committee. Depending on the risk category, such audits are carried out on a rotational 

basis either annually or every second, third or fourth year. Group Internal Audit carried out 44 audit 

assignments (including audit follow-up reviews and internal controls testing) in the year under review. 

One of the focal points is the internal control system (ICS). The results of each audit are discussed in 

detail with the entities and (where necessary) the divisions concerned, and key measures are agreed 

upon. The Executive Chair, the members of the Audit Committee, the CFO, the Group General 

Counsel as well as the respective Division President and other line managers of the audited entity 

receive a copy of the audit report. Significant findings and recommendations are also presented to 

and discussed with the Executive Committee and the Group General Counsel. A follow-up process is 

in place for all Group internal audits, which allows efficient and effective monitoring of how the 

improvement measures are being implemented. Each year, the Head of Group Internal Audit compiles 

a report summarizing activities and results. This report is distributed to members of the Board of 

Directors and the members of the Executive Committee, and it is presented to the Executive 

Committee and the Audit Committee. It is discussed in both committees and, thereafter, reported to 

the Board of Directors.

Risk management and compliance

Sulzer has established and implemented a comprehensive, value- and risk-based compliance 

program that focuses on prevention, detection and response. It consists of the following main 

elements:

Strong values and building up a strong ethical compliance culture

Sulzer puts a high priority on conducting its business with integrity, in compliance with all applicable 

laws and internal rules (“a clean deal or no dealˮ), and on accepting only reasonable risks. Sulzer 

follows a zero-tolerance compliance approach. The Board of Directors and the Executive Committee 

firmly believe that compliant and ethical behavior in all aspects and on all levels is a precondition for 

successful and sustainable business. The ethical tone is set at the top, carried through to the middle 

and transmitted throughout the entire organization. Sulzer also fosters a speak-up culture and 

encourages employees to address potentially non-compliant behaviors. Retaliation against 

whistleblowers acting in good faith is not tolerated.
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Risk assessment

As part of Sulzer’s integrated risk management process, compliance risks are assessed regularly and 

mitigated with appropriate and risk-based actions. The results are discussed both with the company's 

management and with the Audit Committee. The Group Risk Management Report is discussed in the 

September Audit Committee meeting. An overview of the main risks and corresponding mitigation 

measures is provided in the chapter “ ” of this corporate governance report.Risk management

Internal rules and tools

Sulzer has a Code of Business Conduct, which can be viewed in 18 languages at 

 (under “Code of Business Conductˮ). Every employee of the company 

(including employees of newly acquired businesses) has to confirm in writing that he or she has read 

and understood this code and will comply with it. Every member of the Sulzer Management Team (62 

managers), the heads of the operating companies, the headquarters, regional and local compliance 

officers as well as the legal entity finance heads must reconfirm this compliance commitment in 

writing annually.

www.sulzer.com/governance

Rules

Although Sulzer follows a behavior- and principle-based approach, compliance directives and 

processes have been implemented as elements of the governance framework. Sulzer focuses on the 

major compliance risks. For example:

Bribery and corruption risks: Sulzer has had a group-wide anti-bribery and 

program in place since 2010. This program includes a web-based process that addresses the 

due diligence of intermediaries, a company-wide directive for offering and receiving gifts and 

hospitalities, and an e-training module (in 11 languages) to familiarize Sulzer employees with the 

requirements of the directive.

anti-corruption

Antitrust and anticompetition risks: Sulzer has an antitrust directive addressing behaviors in trade 

associations in place.

Export control risks: Employees involved in export activities have to comply with all applicable 

export and re-export laws and regulations. Sulzer rolled out and implemented its global Trade 

Control Directive in all legal entities concerned. Every exporting legal entity has an internal 

control program (ICP) in place that includes processes and defines responsibilities on export 

control matters and other important requirements to comply with export compliance laws and 

regulations.

Further risks (e.g., non-compliance with stock exchange laws and regulations; human resource-

related issues; insufficient protection of intellectual property and know-how; violations of privacy 

and data protection laws; product liability; risk related to environment, quality, safety and health, 

etc.): Focused rules and processes address these and many other potential risks. Sulzer has 

processes that ensure compliance with insider laws as well as stock exchange reporting and 

notification duties. In person trainings on anti-harassment and discrimination were performed by 

Human Resources together with Group Compliance, covering  as well as 22 

export control trainings and webinars were conducted covering .

3’296 employees

313 employees
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Tools

Sulzer has a compliance hotline and an incident reporting system that provides employees with 

multiple ways to report (potential) violations of laws or internal rules. Reports can be made 

anonymously or openly via a hotline, a smartphone app or a dedicated website. The company has a 

directive that sets clear rules for internal investigations. Further tools are available to all employees on 

Sulzer’s intranet (e.g., presentations addressing the major exposures, draft agreements, sales and 

procurement handbooks with compliance-specific explanations and standard clauses). Sulzer has a 

compliance risk assessment process in place to identify and assess potential compliance risks on a 

local entity level and to define appropriate measures. For newly acquired companies, Sulzer sets up a 

post-merger integration process consisting of a systematic post-merger compliance risk analysis, 

which provides the foundation for risk-based mitigation actions.

Organization

Since 2013, Sulzer has had a Legal, Compliance and Risk Management Group function (headed by 

the Group General Counsel). Within this organization, a line reporting structure is in place for the three 

regions: Americas (AME); Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA); and Asia-Pacific (APAC). The 

local Compliance Officers ultimately report – via Regional Compliance Officers – to the Group General 

Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer. In addition, the headquartered Compliance and Risk 

Management team steers and runs the group-wide compliance program and all compliance 

investigations. To ensure the consistent rollout of Group Compliance initiatives, the compliance 

organization uses direct reporting lines. The Group General Counsel informs the Board of Directors 

and the Executive Committee regularly about legal matters and key changes in legislation that may 

affect Sulzer, as well as on important litigation. Twice a year, the Audit Committee receives a report 

about any pending or threatened litigation with worst-case exposure exceeding . 

Further information on reports to the Audit Committee is provided in the “Audit Committeeˮ section 

above.

CHF 0.5 million

Awareness building and trainings

Sulzer puts substantial effort into training its employees. Training is carried out through 

programs (new programs are rolled out and existing programs are updated every year), in person or 

through web conferences. In 2025, Sulzer employees completed 25’113 compliance 

courses.

e-learning

e-learning
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Controls and sanctions

The Group Function Legal supports the audits done by Group Internal Audit following the same audit 

process. The Group Function Environment, Safety and Health (ESH) collaborates with 

, Division ESH heads and site representatives to ensure comprehensive 

governance oversight and organizes annual ESH compliance audits, conducted by external experts, 

to ensure adherence to applicable regulations. Seven such audits were conducted in the reporting 

year. The results of each of these audits were discussed directly with the responsible managers, and 

an agreement was reached on any improvements required. The findings are tracked and monitored 

using a centralized tool, with significant risks escalated to the Audit Committee as part of 

 reporting. Risks relating to environment, safety and health form part of the 

annual ESH audit plan, which is reported to the Audit Committee once a year. Apart from these formal 

audits, internal investigations (triggered by reports from the compliance hotlines, emails, telephone 

calls or other avenues of communication) were carried out during 2025 and at least 17 employees had 

to leave Sulzer because of violations of Sulzer’s Code of Business Conduct. Others received warnings 

or faced other disciplinary measures. However, most of the reports received concerned non-material 

issues.

Group Internal Audit

Group Internal Audit’s

Continuous improvement

It is Sulzer’s goal to constantly improve its compliance and risk management approach. Findings of 

audits and internal investigations are assessed, internal processes and rules are adjusted, and training 

modules are improved. Sulzer always reviews compliance violations to determine whether they are 

rooted in a process weakness. If that is found to be the case, the process will be improved and 

 measures will be taken.risk-mitigating
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– Corporate governance – Executive Committee

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of the Executive Chair, the Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO), the Chief Human Resources Officer, the Division President 
Services, the Division President Flow and the Division President Chemtech.

The Board of Directors delegates executive management powers to the Executive Chair. The 

Executive Chair delegates the appropriate powers to the members of the Executive Committee (EC). 

The Division Presidents define and attain business targets for their respective divisions in accordance 

with  goals. The  govern, among other 

things, the transfer of responsibilities from the Board of Directors to the Executive Chair and the EC. 

There are no management contracts with third parties. None of the Executive Committee members 

has a contract with a notice period exceeding 12 months. The members of the Executive Committee 

and their CVs can be viewed below. Effective   succeeded Jan Lüder 

as member of the Executive Committee as Division President Flow. Details on the former members of 

the Executive Committee can be found in the Corporate Governance chapter of the company’s 

.

group-wide Board of Directors and Organization Regulations

March 1, 2025 Mathias Prüssing

Annual Report 2024

CVs of Executive Committee members

Dr. Suzanne Thoma
Executive Chair

Chair of the Strategy and Sustainability Committee 

Member of the Nomination Committee

Educational background
Ph.D. in Technical Sciences, ETH Zurich, Switzerland

Master of Science in Chemical Engineering, ETH Zurich, Switzerland

Bachelor of Business Administration, Graduate School of Business 

Administration (GSBA), Zurich, Switzerland

Other listed company mandates
None

Other activities and vested interests
Vice-Chair of the Board of Trustees, Avenir Suisse Foundation, Switzerland

Member of the Board of Trustees of the ETH Foundation, Switzerland

Member of the Executive Board, Swissmem Association, Switzerland

Professional background
Suzanne Thoma (Swiss) was elected as a member of Sulzer Ltd's Board of Directors in 2021 and . 

In addition, she was appointed Executive Chair of Sulzer Ltd as of .  to 2025, she 

served as a non-executive member of the Board of Directors of , Germany and from 2022 to 2025, 

she served as a non-executive member of the Board of Directors of BayWa r.e., Germany. Before joining Sulzer, 

Suzanne Thoma served as CEO at the international Energy, Engineering and Service company BKW AG in Bern, 

Switzerland, from 2013 to 2022. Prior to her appointment as CEO of BKW, she was a member of BKW’s Group 

Executive Committee, responsible for the Networks division. Before that, she was Head of the Automotive 

business for the WICOR Group in , Switzerland, and CEO of  Ltd., Allschwil, 

Switzerland. Earlier in her career, Suzanne Thoma held various management roles in a number of countries at Ciba 

Specialty Chemicals Ltd. (now BASF).

as Chair in 2022

November 1, 2022  From 2013

Beckers Group

Rapperswil-Jona Rolic Technologies
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Thomas Zickler
Chief Financial Officer

Educational background
Studies in Economics (1988-1994), Johann Wolfgang Goethe-University, 

Faculty of Economic Science, Frankfurt on Main, Frankfurt, Germany

Other listed company mandates
None

Other activities and vested interests
None

Professional background
Thomas Zickler (German / Swiss) was appointed Chief Financial Officer and member of the Executive Committee 

on May 1, 2022. He joined Sulzer as Head of Group Treasury in 2015 and most recently served as Head of Group 

Corporate Finance & Shared Services. Since 2016, Thomas Zickler has been a Member of the Board of Trustees 

for the company’s pension plans, the Sulzer Vorsorgeeinrichtung (SVE) and Johann Jakob  (JJS). 

Before joining Sulzer, he worked as Country Treasurer for ABB Switzerland in Baden (2010 to 2015). From 2006 

until 2009, he was Vice President and Head of the External Financial Reporting & Technical Accounting Policies 

department for ABB Group in Zurich. Prior to that, from 1996 until 2006, he held various positions within Finance 

(controlling, accounting, treasury, IT consulting) at DaimlerChrysler in Stuttgart and Berlin. Thomas Zickler began 

his career in 1995 within the controlling department at Sherwood Medical and Metallgesellschaft in Frankfurt on 

Main. During his studies, he worked for Siemens AG in the Central Finance Department and Siemens Capital 

Corporation, in Munich and New York City. He was also an analyst at Georg Hauck & Son Bankiers in the equity 

research department in Frankfurt.

Sulzer-Stiftung

Haining Auperin
Chief Human Resources Officer

Educational background
Master in Management and Company Policy, Human Resources, Social 

Development and Employment, Sciences-Po, Paris, France

Master in Business Management, Capital University of Economics and 

Business, Beijing, China

Other listed company mandates
None

Other activities and vested interests
Non-executive member of the Board of Directors, ADAMA Agricultural Solutions 

Ltd., Israel

Non-executive member of the Board of Directors, Beckers Group, Germany

Professional background
Haining Auperin (French) was appointed Chief Human Resources Officer and member of the Executive Committee 

on January 1, 2023. She joined Sulzer in 2016 as Division Head of HR for Flow and most recently served as Head 

of Group Human Resources Operations. Before joining Sulzer, Haining Auperin was the Senior Vice President 

Human Resources Boiler Business for GE Power from 2014 to 2016. Prior to that, she held various senior HR 

leader positions in different areas within GE, AREVA and Ansaldo.
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Tim Schulten
Division President Chemtech

Educational background
Master of Science in Mechanical Engineering, Swiss Federal Institute of 

Technology (ETH), Zurich, Switzerland

Master of Business Administration, Harvard Business School, Boston, USA

Other listed company mandates
None

Other activities and vested interests
Director, JCB Group Holdings SARL, Switzerland

Professional background
Tim Schulten (Swiss) joined the Sulzer Executive Committee as Division President Services in 2022. Prior to that he 

was the Group Head for Marketing, Strategy and Digital. Tim Schulten relinquished his role as Division President 

Services to assume the position of Division President Chemtech in October 2024. Before joining Sulzer, Tim 

Schulten was the General Manager and responsible for global Product Support & Marketing for Caterpillar’s 

Electric Power Business. From 2012 to 2015 he was General Manager for Sales & Distribution for Caterpillar’s 

global gas engine business, responsible for building and leading the organization during the post-acquisition 

integration of MWM. From 2007 to 2012, he was a Division Manager responsible for Caterpillar’s Electric Power 

Retail business in Europe, Africa and the Middle East. Prior to that he held various positions in sales, marketing 

and product support with Caterpillar and he spent several years in California working in technology .start-ups

Mathias Prüssing3

Division President Flow

Educational background
MBA in General Management, University of St Gallen, Switzerland

Attorney at Law, University of Bern, Switzerland

Other listed company mandates
Advisory Board Member, Wealth Minerals Ltd., Vancouver, Canada

Other activities and vested interests
President of the Board of Directors, ara region bern AG, Switzerland

Member of the Board of Directors, Energie Wasser Bern, Switzerland

Professional background
Mathias Prüssing (Swiss) joined the Sulzer Executive Committee as Division President Flow on March 1, 2025. He 

first joined Sulzer in January 2024 as Head of Group Business Development and Strategic Marketing. Before 

Sulzer, Mathias Prüssing held executive leadership roles at prominent technology companies. From 2017 to 2023, 

he served as CEO of BKW Building Solutions AG. Prior to that, he was Head of the Market business division at 

BKW Energy AG (2016) and held several key positions at Swisscom AG from 2012 to 2016, Comfone AG (2008 to 

2011) and Infonet AG (2006 to 2008).

3) Appointed on March 1, 2025
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Ravin Pillay-Ramsamy
Division President Services

Educational background
Master of Business Administration, Columbia Business School, New York, USA, 

and London Business School, London, England

Master of Management in Finance, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, New York, 

USA

Bachelor of Science, Electrical & Computer Engineering, The Ohio State 

University, Columbus, Ohio, USA

Other listed company mandates
None

Other activities and vested interests
None

Professional background
Ravin Pillay-Ramsamy (Mauritian / American) joined the Sulzer Executive Committee as Division President Services 

on October 1, 2024. He has held several key positions at Sulzer since joining the company in 2015. Prior to his 

current appointment, he led Sulzer Services’ EMEA region (Europe, Middle East and Africa) from 2021, expanding 

his role in March 2023 to Deputy Division President of the Services Division. From 2018 to 2020, Ravin Pillay-

Ramsamy was based in Singapore as President of the Asia-Pacific region. Prior to that, he spent two years 

between the USA and Switzerland as Head of Business Development & Strategy for the Services division. Before 

joining Sulzer, he worked at Turbine Services Ltd. from 2005 to 2015, most recently serving as Business 

Development Director and Vice President Engineering in Saratoga Springs, New York.

Additional mandates of members of the Executive Committee 
outside the Sulzer Group

No member of the Executive Committee may hold more than five mandates, of which no more than 

one may be in listed companies ( , § 33). Exceptions (e.g., for mandates held at 

the request of Sulzer Ltd or a Group company or mandates in associations) are defined in the Articles 

of Association (§ 33, paragraphs a, b and c). All members of the Executive Committee are within the 

limits for external mandates prescribed by the company’s Articles of Association.

Articles of Association
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– Corporate governance – Shareholder participation rights

Shareholder participation rights

Restrictions and representation of voting rights

Only nominees are subject to restrictions (see “ ” section of this corporate governance 

report). No exceptions were granted during the reporting year, and no measures to remove these 

restrictions are planned. According to the Articles of Association, a shareholder may be represented 

at a Shareholders’ Meeting by a legal representative, through a written power of attorney to any other 

proxy, who does not need to be a shareholder or the independent proxy. Shares held by a 

shareholder may be represented by only one person.

Capital structure

Statutory quorum

Changes to the Articles of Association may only be approved by a majority of at least two-thirds of the 

voting rights represented at the Shareholders’ Meeting, other than ordinary share capital increases 

(against payment in cash and without the exclusion of shareholders’ preemptive rights), which are 

decided by a majority of the votes represented. The dissolution or a merger of the company can only 

be decided upon if at least half the shares issued are represented at the Shareholders’ Meeting and 

two-thirds thereof vote in favor of the corresponding proposal (see also § 16 of the 

).

Articles of 

Association

Convocation of the Shareholders’ Meeting and submission of 
agenda items

The applicable regulations regarding requests for the convocation of an extraordinary Shareholders’ 

Meeting are in line with the applicable law regarding the convocation of a Shareholders’ Meeting. 

Shareholders representing at least 0.5% of the share capital may submit items for inclusion on the 

agenda of a Shareholders’ Meeting. Such submissions must be requested in writing at least two 

months prior to the meeting and must specify the agenda items and proposals of the shareholder 

concerned (see also § 12 of the ).Articles of Association

Entry in the share register

Voting rights may be exercised by shareholders who are registered in the share register on the record 

date stated in the invitation to the respective Shareholders’ Meeting.

Independent proxy

At the AGM of April 23, 2025, Proxy Voting Services GmbH was elected as the independent proxy for 

a term of office extending until completion of the next AGM. The Articles of Association do not contain 

rules on the granting of instructions to the independent proxy and the electronic participation in the 

Shareholders’ Meeting which deviate from the default Swiss law.
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– Corporate governance – Takeover and defense measures

Takeover and defense measures

The Articles of Association contain no opting-out or opting-up clauses. If there is a change of control, 

all restricted share units (RSUs) allocated to Board members as well as the performance share units 

(PSUs) allocated to members of the Executive Committee are automatically vested. In case of the 

PSUs, they vest subject to the Board of Directors' performance assessment, without being subject to 

blocking restrictions. A change of control includes an acquisition of or a public takeover offer in 

relation to more than 33.33% (RSUs) or 50% or more (PSUs) of the voting rights.
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– Corporate governance – Auditors

Auditors

The statutory auditor is elected at the AGM for a one-year term of office. KPMG AG has been acting 

as the statutory auditor since 2013. As of the financial year 2020, the acting external 

is Rolf Hauenstein. The external auditor-in-charge is replaced at least every seven years. The Audit 

Committee is in charge of supervising and monitoring the statutory auditor, and it reports to the Board 

of Directors (see “Audit Committeeˮ section in the chapter “ ” of this corporate 

governance report). The members of the Audit Committee receive summaries of audit findings and 

improvement proposals at least once a year. The external  and his deputy were 

invited to attend meetings of the Audit Committee.

auditor-in-charge

Board of Directors

auditor-in-charge

In 2025, the statutory auditor was present at all five Audit Committee meetings. The Audit Committee 

or its Chair meets separately with the Head of Group Internal Audit and the statutory auditor at least 

once a year to assess (among other things) the independence of the internal and statutory auditors. 

The Audit Committee evaluates the work done by the statutory auditor based on the documents, 

reports and presentations provided by the statutory auditor, as well as on the materiality and 

objectivity of their statements. To do so, the Audit Committee gathers the opinion of the CFO. The 

Audit Committee reviews the fee paid to the auditor regularly and compares it with the auditing fees 

paid by other internationally active Swiss industrial companies. Said fee is negotiated by the CFO and 

approved by the Board of Directors. Further information on the auditor, in particular the auditor’s fees 

and any additional fees received by the auditor for advisory services outside its statutory audit 

mandate, is listed under  to the consolidated financial statements. All advisory services 

provided outside the statutory audit mandate (essentially, consulting services related to audit and 

accounting as well as legal and tax advisory services) are compliant with the applicable independence 

rules.

note 31
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– Corporate governance – Risk management

Risk management

At Sulzer, risks are assessed regularly as part of the company’s integrated risk 
management process. The results are discussed with the management and the 
Audit Committee.

Risk   Risk exposure   Main loss controls
External and markets        

Market assessment

 

Market developments that are assessed inappropriately could 
lead to missed business opportunities or losses.

 

Continuous monitoring and assessment of market 
developments

—

Systematic midrange planning based on market 
developments and expectations

—

Geopolitical shocks

 

A geopolitical shock event could have an impact on operations 
and travel. Also, it could imply currency risks and default risks 
of countries and banks.

 

Monitoring of exposure in critical countries—
Monitoring of debt situation of countries and banks—
Continuous monitoring of raw material prices and inflation 
indicators

—

Monitoring of custom tariffs and implementing mitigation 
actions by adapting value chains and contractual 
conditions

—

Sulzer’s global presence mitigates the effect of geopolitical 
shocks

—

48.82% of Sulzer’s shares are beneficially owned by Viktor F. 
Vekselberg, who is listed as a Specially Designated National by 
the US Office of Foreign Assets Control and subject to 
sanctions in other jurisdictions including Ukraine, Japan, the 
UK, Australia, New Zealand, Canada and Poland. These 
sanctions and possible future sanctions in further countries 
could result in negative media coverage, damage to Sulzer’s 
reputation and impair existing business relationships with 
customers, suppliers, banks or other business partners as well 
as Sulzer’s ability to win future business.  

Continuous monitoring of international sanctions 
environment and seeking of advice by reputable sanctions 
law firms

—

Maintaining and enhancing a robust sanctions compliance 
program

—

 

 

 
Strategic        

Innovation

 

Failure in R&D and innovation activities could negatively impact 
the ability to operate and to grow the business.
Insufficient investments in innovation to maintain technology 
leadership and develop innovative products.

 

A phased process, technical risk manageability 
assessments and key performance indicators to ensure 
quality of the development

—

Product development council with strong focus on strategic 
plans and digitalization

—

Prototypes and own test beds to test and validate products 
before market release

—

Core technology council for research of basic technology—
Focus on innovation with strategic customers—
Innovation and ideation projects—
Implementation of an expert development program for key 
critical resources

—

Environment, Social and 
Governance (ESG)

 

ESG-related regulations could change. Stakeholder 
expectations related to ESG commitments could change. Not 
meeting regulatory requirements could result in fines, limit 
access to financing, impact banking channels and result in loss 
of business and reputational damages.

 

Board Strategy and Sustainability Committee extended to 
cover ESG and sustainability

—

Setting of clear ESG-related objectives and progress 
tracking

—

ESG initiatives driven by EC including different group and 
business functions covering regulatory requirements and 
supply chain due diligence

—

ESG assessments in business projects—
Operational        

Attraction and retention

 

Failure to attract, retain and develop people could lead to a lack 
of critical skills and knowledge, which hinders both daily 
operations and growth potential.

 

Ensuring that Sulzer’s people and performance efforts are 
anchored to the company’s values and behaviors

—

Ongoing feedback through employee opinion survey “Voice 
of Sulzer”

—

Robust internal communications strategy—
Ongoing engagement in workshops and collaborative 
activities

—

Visibility and access to creating development experiences 
and opportunities

—

Consistent approach to salary grading and benchmarking—

Health and safety

 

An unsafe working environment could lead to harm to people, 
reputational damage, fines and liability claims, and could have a 
serious economic impact.

 

Health and safety directives, guidelines, programs (e.g. 
Safe Behavior Program) and training

—

ISO 45001 certifications—
Monthly health and safety controlling and regular audits, 
systematic risk assessments

—

Global network of health and safety officers—
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Environmental

 

Environmental damage could lead to harm to people and 
nature, reputational damage, fines and liability claims, and could 
have a serious economic impact.

 

Mitigation in comprehensive environmental due diligence 
(EDD) projects for acquisitions and divestitures

—

Elimination of environmentally damaging substances 
through Prohibited Substances List

—

   
Sulzer sustainability strategy that defines key targets in 
view of climate change

—

Compliance

 

Non-compliant or unethical behavior could lead to reputational 
damage, fines and liability claims.

 

Active fostering of high ethical standards by tone from the 
top and middle management

—

Continuous monitoring and assessment of potential 
exposures

—

Continuous monitoring of regulatory environment—
Sulzer Code of Business Conduct and a number of 
supporting regulations (e.g. anticorruption, antitrust, trade 
control)

—

Third-party due diligence process—
Global and centrally led organization of compliance and 
trade compliance officers

—

Compliance training (incl. e-learning) and audits—
Sensitive country list with escalation process and project-
specific compliance assessments in high-risk countries

—

Speak-up culture, compliance hotline and sanction checks—

Quality of products and 
services

 

Failure of high-quality products and services could lead to 
repeated work, reputational damage or liability claims.

 

Quality management and assurance systems tailored to 
specific businesses

—

Third-party accreditation—
Competence development programs and training of 
employees

—

Test centers—

Business interruptions

 

Business interruption, such as a fire, could cause damage to 
people, property and equipment. It could have a negative effect 
on the ability to operate at the affected site. Security incidents 
could impact the IT infrastructure or systems, which could result 
in a business interruption.
Business interruption caused by pandemic-related lockdowns 
or bottlenecks in logistics centers, lack of transport capacities, 
lack of raw materials or electronic parts or increased demand 
could have an impact on operations and supply chains and thus 
could lead to serious economic impact.

 

Crisis and emergency management systems (at global and 
local level) including close monitoring of incidents which 
could impact supply chains

—

Risk management policy and guidelines—
Global manufacturing footprint and global procurement—
IT security standards, measures and incident response 
team

—

Disaster recovery plans in IT—
Enhancement of IT infrastructure to cope with higher data 
volumes during extended remote work

—

Financial        

Financial markets

 

The unpredictability of financial markets including currency risks 
may have a negative effect on Sulzer’s financial performance 
and its ability to raise or access capital.  

Group financial policy—
Foreign exchange risk policy—
Trading loss limits for financial instruments—

Credit

 

Credit risks arising from financial institutions and from 
customers could have a negative effect on Sulzer’s financial 
performance and ability to operate.

 

For financial institutions, only parties with a strong credit 
quality are accepted (third-party rated)

—

Individual risk assessment of customers with large order 
volumes

—

Continuous monitoring of country risks—

Liquidity

 

Failure in liquidity risk management may have a negative effect 
on Sulzer’s financial performance and its ability to operate.

 

Continuous liquidity monitoring—
Management of liquidity reserves at group level—
Cash flow program to optimize liquidity and cash flow 
management

—

Efficient use of available cash through cash pooling—
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Information policy

Sulzer Ltd reports on its order intake every quarter (media releases) and on its financial results every 

. In each case, it also comments on the business performance and outlook. In addition, the 

company reports on important events on an ongoing basis (ad hoc publications). The reporting 

referred to in the  (including the respective references to the financial reporting 

section) complies with the recommendations on the content of the compensation report as laid out in 

 of the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance.

half-year

compensation report

section 42

The official means of publication of the company is the Swiss Official Journal of Commerce. In 

accordance with § 38 of the , the Board of Directors is at any time authorized to 

designate further publication organs. Notices by the company to the shareholders may, at the election 

of the Board of Directors, be validly published in the Swiss Official Journal of Commerce or in a form 

that can be evidenced by text. The address of the company’s main registered office is 

Neuwiesenstrasse 15, 8401 Winterthur, Switzerland.

Articles of Association

Sulzer’s corporate calendar can be viewed at . Media releases (sent via email) 

can be subscribed to at  Other information is available on the Sulzer 

website , or by contacting Investor Relations: 

 –  , Chief Financial Officer, 

, 

www.sulzer.com/events

.www.sulzer.com/subscribe

https://www.sulzer.com

https://www.sulzer.com/en/about-us/investors Thomas Zickler

+41 52 262 33 15 .investor.relations@sulzer.com

General blackout periods

Generally, and regardless of whether any inside information exists or not, pursuant to Sulzer Ltd’s 

Securities Trading Regulation, the trading of Sulzer Ltd securities is prohibited for (a) the members of 

the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee, (b) any staff reporting to any member of the 

Executive Committee that have access to inside information, (c) members of Group Finance, Group 

Mergers and Acquisitions, Group Legal, Corporate Communications and Investor Relations and any 

relevant staff with access to inside information, including members of the Sulzer Management Team, 

and (d) any external advisors having access to inside information in connection with Sulzer Ltd’s 

financial reporting or the preparation of an offering memorandum during the following periods: (i) the 

periods starting on January 1 and July 1 until and including the trading day of the public releases of 

the respective full-year or half-year reports (if published prior to 7:30 a.m.) or the following trading day 

(if published between 5:40 p.m. and midnight) and (ii) the periods starting on April 1 and October 1 

until and including the trading day of the public releases of the respective quarterly results (if 

published prior to 7:30 a.m.) or the following trading day (if published between 5:40 p.m. and 

midnight). Under certain circumstances (in particular in case of personal hardship), the company may 

allow exceptions to a blackout period upon reasoned request by an employee or concerned Board 

member, provided that such employee is not in possession of any inside information. Such exceptions 

must be issued in writing with a copy to the employee’s or Board member’s file. No such exceptions 

were granted in 2025.
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– Compensation report – Letter to the shareholders

Paying for sustainable performance

Winterthur, February 26, 2026

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board of Directors and of the Remuneration Committee (RC), I am pleased to present 

the 2025 Compensation Report.

2025 was marked by global uncertainty, yet Sulzer delivered a strong result, meeting guidance and 

achieving its business goals. Profitability and ROCE improved through disciplined execution, 

operational excellence, and efficiency gains. Demand for our products, solutions and services 

remained robust, although larger project delays tempered order intake growth. These outcomes 

demonstrated the Executive Committee’s ability to navigate volatility, sustain profitable growth, and 

strengthen the resilience of our systems. In line with our pay-for-performance philosophy, executive 

compensation outcomes reflect this performance.

First started in 2024, we continued our systematic review of our executive compensation framework, 

supported by independent market benchmarking. As part of this review, with effect as of 2025, we 

streamlined the Performance Share Plan (PSP) by reducing the plan cap from 250% to 200% and 

shifting from a fixed value grant to a percentage-of-base salary approach. We also fully aligned our 

Bonus and PSP KPIs with our financial reporting KPIs disclosed in our annual report to ensure 

consistent performance measurement which no longer relies on adjusted numbers that may be open 

to interpretation.

These adjustments reflect best practice and improve transparency. The resulting pay mix enhances 

alignment between executive rewards and long-term shareholder value creation. All grants remain 

subject to our established approval processes and rigorous governance standards.

In parallel, the Board of Directors extended its shareholding period to three years to further reinforce 

support of long-term shareholder interest. This enhancement strengthens governance discipline and 

long-term accountability.

The compensation paid to the Board of Directors in 2025 remained below the amounts previously 

approved by the AGM for the period in scope. The total compensation paid to the Executive 

Committee for 2025 remains entirely within the maximum compensation approved by the AGM 2024.
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Our work to refine Sulzer’s compensation framework is a continuous commitment. We remain focused 

on reinforcing alignment with strategy delivery, profitable growth, capital efficiency as well as the long-

term shareholder value.

On behalf of Sulzer, the Board of Directors and the Remuneration Committee, I thank you for your 

continued trust in our company.

Yours sincerely,

Dr. Hariolf Kottmann

Chairman

Remuneration Committee
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– Compensation report – Compensation governance and principles

Compensation governance and principles

Compensation policies and plans at Sulzer reward performance, sustainable growth and long-term 

shareholder value creation. The compensation programs are competitive, internally equitable, 

straightforward and transparent. The compensation report is prepared in accordance with the Articles 

732 et seqq. of the Swiss Code of Obligations (CO), the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Information 

relating to Corporate Governance (RLCG) and the principles of the Swiss Code of Best Practice for 

Corporate Governance.

Remuneration Committee

The , the , and the 

 define the functions of the Remuneration Committee (RC). The 

RC supports the Board of Directors in establishing and reviewing the compensation strategy and 

principles, and in preparing the proposals for the Shareholders’ Meeting regarding the compensation 

of the members of the Board and the Executive Committee.

Articles of Association Board of Directors and Organization Regulations

Remuneration Committee Regulations

The RC is responsible for the activities outlined below and submits proposals to the Board of 

Directors, which makes the final decisions. For the CEO, the Lead Independent Director performs 

these tasks in close consultation with the Chair of the RC.

Regular review of the compensation policies and programs.

Setting performance targets for Executive Committee members for incentive plans.

Preparing proposals for the Shareholders’ Meeting on the maximum aggregate amounts of 

compensation for the Board of Directors and for the Executive Committee.

Setting target compensation for Executive Committee members.

Preparing the compensation report.

Stakeholder level of authority            

 

 

  RC   Board  
Shareholders 
Meeting

Compensation policies and programs   proposes   approves    

Maximum aggregate compensation amounts for the Board of Directors 
and Executive Committee   proposes   reviews  

approves 
(binding vote)

Remuneration system and Board member fees   proposes   approves    

Compensation of the Executive Committee members   reviews   approves    

Performance objectives and assessment for Executive Committee 
members   reviews   approves    

Compensation report   proposes   approves  
consultative 
(advisory vote)

As stated in Sulzer Ltd’s Remuneration Committee Regulations, the RC has at least three members 

elected annually by the Shareholders’ Meeting for a term of office until the next AGM. The majority of 

its members shall be non-executive and independent. At the 2025 AGM, Markus Kammüller, Dr. 

Hariolf Kottmann and Alexey Moskov were re-elected to the RC.

The RC meets as needed, but at least twice a year. In 2025, it held 4 meetings. The agenda topics are 

included in the following table.

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Compensation report – Compensation governance and principles 61

https://www.sulzer.com/-/media/files/about-us/investors/financial_reporting/regulatory/sulzer_statuten.pdf
https://www.sulzer.com/-/media/files/about-us/investors/financial_reporting/regulatory/board_of_directors_and_organization_regulations.pdf
https://www.sulzer.com/-/media/files/about-us/investors/financial_reporting/regulatory/remuneration_committee_regulations.pdf


Meeting Topics Discussed

Meeting   Topics

January   Short Term and Long Term Incentive performance review

  Compensation report

  Max. aggregate Board of Directors and Executive Committee

July & September   Compensation benchmark review

  Compensation policies and programs review

December   Short Term and Long Term Incentive performance forecast

  Performance review

  Compensation report skeleton

The CEO, Chief Human Resources Officer and Secretary of the Board (who also serves as the RC 

Secretary) usually attend the meetings. The Committee Chair may invite other executives for advisory 

purposes when needed. However, the CEO and other executives do not participate when their own 

compensation or performance is discussed.

The RC Chair reports to the full Board on the Committee’s activities and discussions. The Chair also 

submits proposals for Board approval as necessary. All Board members have access to the RC 

meeting minutes.

The RC retained HCM International to analyze benchmarks for the Board of Directors and the 

Executive Committee. They also retained Mercer | hkp///group for compensation report advice. 

Neither were awarded additional mandates.

Shareholders’ role and engagement

The company values shareholders’ feedback on compensation policies and has held advisory votes 

on the compensation report since 2011. It also regularly meets with shareholders to understand their 

perspectives. At the 2025 AGM, shareholders approved the maximum aggregate compensation for 

the Board for the 2025/26 term and for the Executive Committee for 2026.

Additionally, the , approved by shareholders, govern the principles of 

compensation.

Articles of Association

Extract from the Articles of Association related to compensation

Article 31  

Non-executive members of the Board of Directors receive only a fixed compensation.
Members of the Executive Committee receive both fixed and variable compensation components that are 
based on their performance. Their compensation can be paid in cash, shares, options or other forms.

Article 29  

The Shareholders’ Meeting approves the maximum aggregate amount of compensation for the Board of 
Directors for the next term of office and the maximum aggregate amount of compensation for the 
Executive Committee for the following financial year.
The Board of Directors submits the annual compensation report to an advisory vote at the AGM.

Article 30  

In the event that a member of the Executive Committee is appointed after the AGM and the approved 
maximum compensation is not sufficient for his/her compensation, a supplementary amount of up to 40% 
of the last approved maximum compensation can be used without further approval by the AGM.

Article 32  

Fixed-term employment agreements have a maximum duration of one year and can be renewed.
Permanent employment agreements have a maximum termination notice period of twelve months.
Non-compete agreements for the period after termination of an employment agreement are permissible. 
They are limited to one year. The consideration does not exceed the last total annual target compensation 
to which the member was entitled prior to termination. Furthermore, it should not exceed the average 
compensation of the last three financial years.

Article 34  
The company is not allowed to grant loans or credits to members of the Board of Directors or the 
Executive Committee.
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Activities in other organizations

According to Article 734e of the Swiss Code of Obligations, the compensation report must detail the 

external mandates of Board of Directors and Executive Committee members in other enterprises with 

an economic purpose (as defined in Article 626 para. 2 no. 1 of the Swiss Code of Obligations). The 

table below lists the entities and the functions held.

Other functions of the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee
Member   Name of company   Function   2025   2024

Dr. Suzanne Thoma

  Beckers Group, Germany  
Non-executive member of the Board of 
Directors   -   x

  BayWa r.e., Germany  
Non-executive member of the Board of 
Directors   -   x

Markus Kammüller

  ExecDelta GmbH, Switzerland   Sole Partner   x   x

  Gonset Holding SA, Switzerland   President of the Board of Directors   x   x

 
Gonset Immeubles d’Entreprises SA, 
Switzerland   President of the Board of Directors   x   x

 
Gonset Immeubles Résidentiels SA, 
Switzerland   President of the Board of Directors   x   x

  Daxin Intl., Hong Kong   President   x   -

David Metzger

  Swiss Steel Holding AG, Switzerland  
Non-executive member of the Board of 
Directors   -   x

  medmix AG, Switzerland  
Non-executive member of the Board of 
Directors   x   x

  Mealda Capital GmbH, Switzerland   Sole Partner   x   x

  Sopeli Capital GmbH, Switzerland   Sole Partner   x   x

Alexey Moskov

 
OC Oerlikon Corporation AG, 
Switzerland  

Non-executive member of the Board of 
Directors   x   x

  Witel AG, Switzerland   Member of the Board of Directors   -   x

  Liwet Holding AG, Switzerland   President of the Board of Directors   -   x

  A2-Link AG, Switzerland   President of the Board of Directors   x   x

Dr. Prisca Havranek-Kosicek

  Jenoptik AG, Germany   Chief Financial Officer   x   x

 
Jenoptik North America Inc., United 
States of America   Director   x   x

Dr. Hariolf Kottmann

  Plansee Holding, Austria   Member of the Board of Directors   x   x

  HK1 AG, Switzerland   Sole member of the Board of Directors   x   x

  Kiingle AG, Switzerland   Member of the Board of Directors   x   x

Per Utnegaard

  Saudi Ground Services, Saudi Arabia  
Non-executive member of the Board of 
Directors   -   x

  Alvest Holding, France   Non-executive Director   -   x

 
Per Utnegaard & Partners GmbH, 
Switzerland   Sole Partner   x   x

Tim Schulten   JCB Group Holdings Sàrl, Switzerland   Director   x   x

Mathias Prüssing

  ara region bern AG, Switzerland   President of the Board of Directors   x    n/a 1)

  Energie Wasser Bern, Switzerland   Member of the Board of Directors   x    n/a 1)

  Ritter Schumacher AG, Switzerland   President of the Board of Directors   x    n/a 1)

  Wealth Minerals Ltd., Canada   Member of the Advisory Board   x    n/a 1)

Haining Auperin

  ADAMA Agricultural Solutions Ltd., Israel  
Non-executive member of the Board of 
Directors   x   -

  Beckers Group, Germany  
Non-executive member of the Board of 
Directors   x   -

1) As Mathias Prüssing assumed his position as member of the Executive Committee only in 2025, other functions are not reported for the year 2024.

In each individual case, the number of mandates does not exceed the maximum number of external 

mandates specified in Article 33 of the Articles of Association.
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– Compensation report – Compensation architecture for the CEO and Executive Committee members

Compensation architecture for the CEO and 
members of the Executive Committee

Compensation principles

The Executive Committee’s compensation is based on the principle of pay-for-performance. The 

policy rewards performance, sustainable growth and long-term shareholder value, while offering fair 

and competitive pay to attract and retain top talent.

Compensation principles

Principle Description

Pay-for-performance
A substantial portion of the compensation is delivered in the form of variable incentives based on company and individual 
performance.

Strategy alignment The performance criteria are selected to create adequate incentives for achieving the operational and strategic objectives.

Ownership
Part of the compensation is delivered in the form of company equity to foster ownership and to align the interests of 
executives with those of shareholders.

Market competitiveness Compensation levels are competitive and in line with market practice to attract and retain highly qualified employees.

Internal equity The internal compensation structure is based on a job-grading methodology applied globally.

Transparency Compensation programs are straightforward and transparently explained in the compensation report.

Shareholder expectations Compensation programs are in line with the expectations of shareholders.

Method of determining compensation: benchmarking

To ensure competitive and market-aligned compensation, the compensation for Board and Executive 

Committee members is benchmarked against similar roles in comparable companies every one to two 

years.

The RC regularly reviews the composition of the peer group, which is applied for benchmarking 

purposes. The selection process accounts for the governance landscape, the industry and the 

company size as well as the respective business complexity to ensure an appropriate fit.

The revised comparison group reflects Sulzer’s ambitious business strategy.

 Benchmarking Peer Group 2025 1)

ALCON ams-OSRAM Bucher Clariant dormakaba

Geberit Georg Fischer Givaudan Implenia Logitech

Lonza Oerlikon SGS SIG SIKA

Straumann Sonova

1) Swiss Steel was excluded from the peer group in 2025 following its delisting. Landis + Gyr was excluded in 2025 after falling below the minimum revenue 
threshold required for inclusion in each of the last two financial years.

The intention is to pay target compensation in line with the relevant market. Nevertheless, 

compensation is not granted based on benchmark results alone. The role, responsibility and 

experience, as well as the difference between a new entrant to a role and someone with experience 

who has already demonstrated his or her impact in a similar role, are also criteria in determining 

compensation. A globally applied job-grading methodology fosters internal equity.
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Compensation elements for the members of the Executive Committee

The Executive Committee’s compensation includes fixed, performance-independent elements to 

provide secure income and prevent unreasonable risks. The RC reviews this compensation annually 

and, if needed, proposes adjustments for Board approval. To create reasonable incentives, align 

interests with shareholders, ensure pay-for-performance, and implement the company’s strategy, the 

compensation also includes short- and long-term performance-dependent elements.

The following table provides an overview of the changes made to the compensation architecture in 

2025: Aligning Bonus and PSP KPIs with financial reporting and streamlining the Performance Share 

Plan (PSP) cap and grant approach.

Previous compensation architecture New compensation architecture

Short-term incentive 
plan (bonus plan)

Performance indicators:  
Performance indicators aligned with financial 
reporting: 1)

Sales (absolute) (25%)— Sales growth (20%)—

Operational Profit (25%)— EBITDA-margin (of sales) (30%)—

Operational Operating Net Cash Flow (20%)— Operating Net Cash Flow (20%)—

Long-term incentive 
plan (PSP)

Performance indicators:
Performance indicators aligned with financial 
reporting:

(Target achievement 0% - 250%) (Overall target achievement 0% - 200%)

Operational profit (25%)— EBITDA (25%)—

Operational ROCEA (25%)— ROCE (25%)—

Relative TSR (50%)— Relative TSR (50%)—

Fixed target amount: Target amount as % of base salary:

CEO: 1,000,000 CHF CEO: 120% of base salary

Other members of the Executive Committee: 330,000 
to 400,000 CHF

Other members of the Executive Committee: 95% of 
base salary

Vesting cap: Vesting capped at 250% of the value of 
PSUs received at grant

Vesting cap: Vesting capped at 200% of the number 
of PSU  received at grant

1) For Division Presidents, the performance indicators are measured both at group and divisional levels.

The following table gives a complete picture of the compensation architecture as revised in 2025 for 

the CEO and the members of the Executive Committee.

In line with the pay-for-performance principle, a significant portion of the CEO’s compensation (68%) 

and the Executive Committee’s compensation (59%) consists of performance-based variable 

incentives. The compensation structure also promotes sustainable long-term growth, with long-term 

variable compensation being the largest portion of the target total compensation.
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Overview of compensation components

Components Description
Link to 
principles

Percentage of 
total 
compensation 
of the CEO

Fixed 
compensation

Base Salary Fixed cash compensation paid in equal monthly installments

Offering a 
market-
compatible 
compensation

 32% of 
compensation

Benefits Pension and social security contributions as well as fringe benefits

Variable 
Compensation Term

Performance 
Indicators

Target 
Amount / Grant 
Value

Maximum 
target 
achievement Settlement

Short-term 
incentive plan 
(bonus plan) One year

Sales growth, 
EBITDA-margin 
(of sales), 
Operating Net 
Cash Flow, 
Individual 
performance 
targets

CEO: 90% of 
base salary
Other members 
of the Executive 
Committee: 60% 
of base salary

Financial 
objectives: 
250%
Individual 
objectives: 200 - 
250%

In cash

Capped at 
200% of base 
salary for CEO

Incentivizing 
strategic goals 
and pay-for-
performance

 29% of 
compensation

Long-term 
incentive plan 
(PSP 2025) Three years

Earnings before 
Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation & 
Amortization 
(EBITDA), Return 
on Capital 
Employed 
(ROCE), Total 
Shareholder 
Return (rTSR)

CEO: 120% of 
base salary
Other members 
of the Executive 
Committee: 95% 
of base salary

Objectives 
individually 
capped at 250%

Overall target 
achievement 
capped at 200%

Performance 
share units 
(PSUs) settled in 
shares

Incentivizing 
stratigic goals, 
pay-for-
performance 
and company 
ownership

 39% of 
compensation

Other 
compensation 
components

Share 
Ownership 
Guidelines 
(SOG)

Obligation to privately invest in Sulzer shares and to hold these shares until the end of the service 
period
CEO: 200% of the base salary
Other members of the Executive Commitee: 100% of the base salary Ownership

Base salary

The Board of Directors determines the base salary based on the market value of the position and the 

incumbent’s qualifications, skills and experience. It is paid in cash. An internal job-grading 

methodology ensures orientation and promotes internal equity.

Benefits

Members of the Executive Committee participate in the regular employee pension fund for all Swiss 

employees. The retirement plan includes a basic plan covering annual earnings up to 

and a supplementary plan for income above this limit, up to the legal ceiling (including variable cash 

compensation). Contributions are age-related and shared between the employer and employee.

CHF 157’236

Additionally, each Executive Committee member receives a representation allowance in line with 

Swiss management expense regulations, approved by tax authorities.
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Short-term incentive plan (bonus plan)

The Short-term Incentive Plan (bonus plan) involves a cash payment after the financial year ends, 

based on predefined objectives. These objectives measure both financial and individual performance 

for each Executive Committee member. The target bonus is a percentage of the annual base salary: 

90% for the CEO and 60% for other members.

The general functionality of the bonus plan is as follows. For all Executive Committee members, the 

bonus plan objectives are divided into two categories: “Financial performance” and 

“Individual performance.”

Functionality of the bonus plan

The performance is assessed based on the following appraisal process:

Performance appraisal

Step Description

Step 1:
Target setting

Definition of two to four individual performance objectives at the beginning of the 
year

Step 2:
Performance assessment Performance assessment at the end of the year

Step 3:
Compensation determination

Determination of incentive payouts on the basis of the company’s or division’s 
performance and achievement of the individual objectives

The financial targets used in the bonus plan as of 2025 are changed to the figures as reported in the 

annual report to better align with our Sulzer 2028 strategy and provide transparent disclosure in line 

with the Annual Report to our shareholders. In addition, in order to further emphasize the aim to 

increase profitability, which forms a central pillar of our Sulzer 2028 ambition, the weighting of the 

profitability objective, EBITDA-Margin (of sales), .was increased by 5%

Details of these changes are shown in the following table.
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Target setting financial objectives

Category Objectives 2024 Weighting 2024 Rationale of change Objectives 2025 Weighting 2025

Financial performance Operational profitability   25% Alignment to financial 
reporting and fostering 
entrepreneurial spirit of 
the Executive 
Committee

EBITDA-margin (of 
sales)

30%

Sales 25% Alignment to market 
practice and Sulzer 
2028 strategy

Sales growth 20%

Operational operating 
net cash flow 
(operational ONCF)

20% Alignment to financial 
reporting and market 
standards

Operating Net Cash 
Flow (ONCF)

20%

The individual performance targets remained unchanged:

Target setting individual objectives

Category Objectives Target Weighting

Individual performance Sulzer Excellence Objectives that increase efficiency, 
reduce unnecessary complexity and 
drive cross-functional collaboration 
resulting in advanced competitiveness 
and profitability.

10%

Sulzer 2028 Objectives that contribute to the 
ambition of being a top industrial 
company with future-proof, 
differentiated, high-quality business.

10%

Sustainable Sulzer Objectives linked to the three major 
priorities of Sulzer’s sustainable plan, 
namely minimizing our carbon 
footprint, enabling a low carbon 
society and engaging our employees 
and communities.

10%

The objectives for the bonus plan are linked to Sulzer’s strategic goal of promoting the sustainable 

and profitable growth of the company as shown below.

Strategic link of bonus plan

Objective Growth Profitability

Long-term 
shareholder-value 

creation

Bonus plan

EBITDA-margin (of sales)

Sales growth

Operating Net Cash Flow (ONCF)

Sulzer Excellence

Sulzer 2028

Sustainable Sulzer
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Target achievement under the bonus plan

For each financial objective, parameters are set in advance. An expected performance level (“target”) 

results in a 100% payout factor. A minimum performance level (“threshold”) is defined, below which 

the payout factor is zero, and a maximum performance level (“cap”) is set, above which the payout 

factor is capped. The payout factor is interpolated linearly between the threshold and target, and 

between the target and cap.

The CEO’s, CFO’s and CHRO’s financial objectives are measured 100% based on Sulzer group 

results. To better enable the One Sulzer culture and to align with common market practice, the 

measurement of the financial objectives for Division Presidents was changed to 50% based on group 

results and 50% on their respective division results.

Each Executive Committee member receives personal objectives aligned with the Sulzer 2028 

ambition in three performance categories: “Sulzer Excellence,” “Sulzer 2028” and 

 at the start of the financial year. The CEO reviews the individual performance of 

each Executive Committee member based on their personal objectives, and this review is then 

evaluated by the RC. The Lead Independent Director, in close consultation with the , 

assesses the CEO’s individual performance.

“Sustainable Sulzer”

Chair of the RC

A payout factor is determined for each objective based on actual performance. The weighted average 

of these payout factors is multiplied by the target bonus amount to calculate the actual bonus, which 

is paid out in March of the following year.

Sulzer strives for transparency in relation to pay-for-performance. To ensure transparency while 

avoiding competitive risk, Sulzer provides a general performance assessment for each financial 

objective as well as the aggregated individual performance at the end of the performance cycle.

In 2025, the bonus plan target achievement for the financial performance was as follows:

Bonus plan target achievement

For 2025, the financial component of the bonus averaged at 98%. While 2025 was another year with 

strong results for the Group, the target achievement is below 100% due to the ambitious targets 

which were set intentionally at a stretch level in line with our Sulzer 2028 ambition. The unforeseen 

development arising from US tariffs and increasing geopolitical tensions led to postponements of 

larger customer investments which impacted our businesses in Flow and Chemtech to grow more 

ambitiously as planned for the targets in 2025.
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Overall, the combined financial and individual performance resulted in a bonus payout factor ranging 

from 90% to 140% (average 124%) for Executive Committee members.

Performance share plan (PSP)

The Performance Share Plan (PSP) incentivizes long-term shareholder value creation by granting 

performance share units (PSUs) to Executive Committee members. PSUs are conditional rights to 

company shares, subject to achieving strategic/financial targets at the Group level over a three-year 

period.

The PSP aligns participants’ interests with shareholders by delivering a substantial portion of 

compensation as company equity. This supports Sulzer’s focus on pay-for-performance, sustainable 

growth, and employee retention. It is a fair and attractive element of long-term variable compensation 

for key management, emphasizing excellent, sustainable performance.

In line with the Sulzer 2028 strategy and in order to drive and reward above-market growth, improved 

margins, and top level revenue, the structure and underlying performance objectives of the PSP were 

revised for 2025 and going forward.

The number of PSUs granted is calculated by dividing the grant value by the three-month volume-

weighted average share price before the grant date. The grant value of the PSP in 2025 and going 

forward is defined as a percentage of base salary which reflects the executive’s role. The PSP grant in 

2025 and going forward amounts to:

Chief Executive Officer: 120% of base salary

Members of the Executive Committee: 95% of base salary

The fundamental change in the grant methodology serves to align the grant levels amongst all the 

Executive Committee members to provide equal incentivization amongst them. The slight increase in 

the grant levels which accompanied this harmonization also brought the levels of the long-term 

compensation closer to the lower end of the market as defined by the compensation benchmarking 

while strengthening the alignment of the Executive Committee with the long-term success of the 

company.

In order to ensure a more transparent link between pay and performance, as well as to reduce the 

complexity of the PSP overall, the adjusted KPIs Operational Profit and Average Operational ROCEA 

were replaced in favor of EBITDA and ROCE, respectively. In doing so the performance objectives 

measured in determining the PSP target achievement are now aligned with those reported in the 

financial statements. Moreover, the PSP performance objectives are aligned with Sulzer’s overall 

strategic goal of promoting sustainable and profitable growth and with the  strategy in 

particular. They are designed to incentivize growth and create shareholder value.

Sulzer 2028
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The following table outlines the performance objectives for the 2025 PSP.

Key performance criteria measured over the three-year performance period of the PSUs

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortization and impairment, based on audited figures. This is 
an absolute value reflecting the planned value in the last year of the performance period.

ROCE Adjusted returns on capital employed. This is a percentage reflecting the planned value in the last year of 
the performance period.

Relative Total 
Shareholder Return

Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR) is defined as share price growth plus dividends during the vesting 
period divided by the ending share price, measured against peers.

The performance objectives for the PSP tranches are determined yearly on the basis of the three-year 

plan for the respective financial year, which in turn is generally aligned with the overall aims and 

objectives of the Sulzer 2028 ambition. Consequently, the PSP objectives are designed to incentivize 

growth and create shareholder value due to their long-term outlook aligned with the Sulzer 2028 

ambition. Moreover, as illustrated in the graphic below, following financial years in which the actual 

company performance fell short of the planned objectives, the alignment of the three-year plans on 

which the PSP objectives are based with the Sulzer 2028 ambition leads to an even stronger 

incentivization of the long-term growth as the objectives are set at a more ambitious level to ensure 

that the Sulzer 2028 ambition can still be achieved.

Determination of objectives

The link between the individual selected objectives of the Performance Share Plan and each individual 

element of the Sulzer 2028 ambition is shown below:

Strategic link of PSP

Growth Profitability

Long-term 
shareholder value 

creation

PSP

EBITDA

ROCE

Relative TSR

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Compensation report – Compensation architecture for the CEO and Executive Committee members 71



Functioning of the PSP Performance at a glance

Target achievement under the Performance Share Plan

In addition to the changes made to the applicable performance objectives in the PSP, the calculation 

of the target achievement and subsequent payout from the LTI was changed with the 2025 PSP grant. 

The additional maximum payout cap of 250% of the grant value on top of the 250% cap on target 

achievement of the performance objectives was removed. To compensate for the potentially higher 

upside resulting from removing this cap, the maximum number of units which may vest at the end of 

the performance period was reduced from 250% to 200%. These changes ensure that the pay of the 

Executive Committee members is better aligned with the performance of both the key internal 

financial figures as well as the Sulzer share price and thus the alignment between the plan participants 

and the shareholders.

An expected performance level (“target”) is defined for each PSP performance objective, resulting in a 

100% target achievement. A minimum performance level (“threshold”) is set, below which the target 

achievement is zero, and a maximum level (“cap”) is set, capping the target achievement . 

The target achievement is interpolated linearly between the threshold and target, and between the 

target and cap. At the end of the performance period the target end achievement of each individual 

performance objective is calculated to determine the weighted average of the overall target 

achievement of the PSP which is capped at 200%

at 250%
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The target achievement can be illustrated in a target achievement curve as follows:

Target achievement curve of the PSP performance conditions

Relative total shareholder return (TSR) is measured based on the performance against a predefined 

peer group of international peers, measured as a percentile ranking, aligned with the target 

achievement curve as follows:

Threshold: 25th percentile ranking

Target: median ranking

Outperformance (cap): 75th percentile ranking

The target achievement curve of the relative TSR can be illustrated as follows:

Target achievement curve of the relative TSR
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The current peer group for the measurement of the relative TSR consists of the following companies:

Peer group for relative TSR performance of PSP 2025

Andritz
Burckhardt 

Compression Ebara Flowserve Georg Fischer

ITT OC Oerlikon Pentair  Rieter 1) Xylem

1) Wood Group was replaced by Rieter due to its trading suspension and takeover in 2025.

The Board of Directors can change the peer group composition if necessary, such as in cases of 

mergers, acquisitions, delistings or significant business changes in a peer company. In such 

situations, the Board will select new peer companies from a predefined successor list.

Provisions at termination of employment

In the event of termination of employment, the following provisions apply:

Provisions by the event of termination

Type of termination Provision

By the employer for 
cause

Unvested PSUs are forfeited.

As a result of retirement Vesting and performance measurement of PSUs continues according to plan, no early allocation of the 
shares.

Any other reason The number of unvested PSUs vest on pro rata basis according to the achievement factor at the end of 
the vesting period. There is no early allocation of the shares.

In the event of an Executive Committee member’s death, pro-rated PSUs will vest immediately, 

pending a performance assessment by the Board of Directors. If a change of control occurs, PSUs 

will also vest immediately, subject to the Board’s performance assessment. The Board may opt for a 

cash settlement of the awards in such cases.

PSP 2023 performance and vesting

The overall target achievement of the PSP 2023 depends on the objectives operational profit growth, 

operational ROCEA and relative TSR over the performance period. Over the past three years, Sulzer 

significantly grew its operational profit through the Sulzer 2028 strategy and leveraged strong market 

momentum in 2025. This performance resulted in an achievement factor of 250% compared to the 

original PSP target set by the Board.

Operational ROCEA also achieved a factor of 250%, thanks to continuous profitability improvements 

and better capital management through the Sulzer 2028 strategy.

The Sulzer share performed strongly in uncertain economic conditions over the previous 3 years, 

especially compared to Sulzer’s peers. As a result the development of Sulzer’s TSR is positioned at 

the 90th percentile compared to international peers, leading to an achievement factor of 250% for the 

relative TSR. The performance of Sulzer’s TSR and the TSR of the peers over the 3-year performance 

period of the PSP 2023 is shown below:
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TSR positioning of Sulzer with the peer group of PSP 2023

The weighted average of the achievement factors of the three individual performance objectives of the 

PSP 2023 results in a total payout factor of 250% for the PSP 2023, subject to the original grant value 

cap. The payout of the PSP 2023 was based on targets set prior to the redesign of the LTI in 2025.

PSP target achievement

Overall, the PSP vesting levels accurately reflected operational performance, also against direct peers, 

over the three-year cycle.

On the vesting date, the number of vested PSUs is calculated by multiplying the initial PSUs granted 

by the weighted average achievement factor. Each vested PSU results in one Sulzer share for the 

participant.

Finally, for PSP grants prior to 2025, the number of vested PSUs is capped at 250% of the original 

grant value. After applying this cap, the overall payout factor for the PSP 2023 is reduced to 143%.
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– Compensation report – Compensation of the Executive Committee for 2025

Compensation of the Executive Committee for 2025

Compensation of the Executive Committee: overview

Over the past three years, Sulzer has enhanced its sales, operational profitability and operational net 

cash flow through the Sulzer 2028 strategy. In 2025, we aligned the performance objectives used for 

the measurement of the variable compensation with the Sulzer 2028 ambition and were able to deliver 

another high-performing year. In line with our pay-for-performance principle, this resulted in a 

proportionate variable compensation payout.

Compensation for the Executive Committee: Compensation paid and granted compared to target and 
maximum compensation

In 2025, the Executive Committee received a total compensation of kCHF 12’022 (previous year: 

). This included  in base salary and bonus (previous year: ), 

 in PSUs (previous year: ),  in pension and social security 

contributions (previous year: ), and  in other payments (previous year: ).

kCHF 12’548 kCHF 6’380 kCHF 7’086

kCHF 4’046 kCHF 3’850 kCHF 1’567

kCHF 1’591 kCHF 29 kCHF 21
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Compensation of the Executive Committee

    2025

    Cash compensation  
Deferred compensation based 

on future performance

thousands of CHF  
Base

salary    Bonus 2)    Other 3)    

Pension and 
social security 

contribu-
tions 4)  

Total cash-
based 

compensation    

Estimated 
value of 

share-based 
grant under 

the 
performance 

share plan 
(PSP) 5)  

Total (incl. 
conditional 

share-based 
grant)

Highest single compensation, 
Suzanne Thoma, CEO   1’050   1’321   -   432   2’803   1’558   4’361

 Total Executive Committee 1)   3’390   2’990   29   1’567   7’976   4’046   12’022

1) Members of the Executive Committee whose notice period extends over two financial years are considered current members for both periods.
2) Expected bonus for the performance year 2025, to be paid out in the following year (accrual principle).
3) Other consists of tax services and relocation costs.
4) Includes the employer contribution to social security (including the expected employer contributions on equity awards), based on the fair value of all grants made in 2025 (PSP).
5) Represents the full fair value of the PSUs granted under the PSP in 2025. PSUs granted in 2025 had a fair value of CHF 175.14 at grant date, based on a third-party fair value 

calculation. While the share price to convert the grant value into a number of granted PSUs is based on the three-month weighted average share price before the grant date (CHF 
141.63 per PSU for 2025 grants), the disclosed fair values are calculated on the grant dates by using market value approaches, which typically leads to differences between the original 
grant value according to the compensation architecture and the disclosed fair market values. Further information on share-based compensation can be found in note 29 to the 
consolidated financial statements of Sulzer.

    2024

    Cash compensation  
Deferred compensation based 

on future performance

thousands of CHF  
Base

salary    Bonus 1)    Other 2)    

Pension and 
social security 

contribu-
tions 3)  

Total cash-
based 

compensation    

Estimated 
value of 

share-based 
grant under 

the 
performance 

share plan 
(PSP) 4)  

Total (incl. 
conditional 

share-based 
grant)

Highest single compensation, 
Suzanne Thoma, CEO   1’050   1’566   -   427   3’043   1’318   4’361

Total Executive Committee   3’405   3’681   21   1’591   8’698   3’850   12’548

1) Expected bonus for the performance year 2024, to be paid out in the following year (accrual principle).
2) Other consists of tax services and relocation costs.
3) Includes the employer contribution to social security (including the expected employer contributions on equity awards), based on the fair value of all grants made in 2024 (PSP).
4) Represents the full fair value of the PSUs granted under the PSP in 2024. PSUs granted in 2024 had a fair value of CHF 125.65 at grant date, based on a third-party fair value 

calculation. While the share price to convert the grant value into a number of granted PSUs is based on the three-month weighted average share price before the grant date (CHF 
95.33 per PSU for 2024 grants), the disclosed fair values are calculated on the grant dates by using market value approaches, which typically leads to differences between the original 
grant value according to the compensation architecture and the disclosed fair market values.

The Executive Committee’s total compensation in 2025 decreased by 4.2% from the previous year, 

driven primarily by a lower average payout factor of 124% for the 2025 bonus plan 

.(27% lower than in 2024)

The total compensation of  awarded to the Executive Committee members for 2025 is 

within the maximum aggregate amount of  approved by shareholders at the . 

No severance payments were made to Executive Committee members in the current or prior year. 

Additionally, no compensation was granted to any related parties of the Executive Committee 

members in either year.

kCHF 12’022

kCHF 17’500 2024 AGM

The below graphic shows the link between the development of Dr. Suzanne Thoma’s compensation 

for the past three years and the development of the TSR of Sulzer to illustrate the pay-for-

performance principle visually.
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Since Dr. Suzanne Thoma’s first full year as CEO in 2023, Sulzer’s TSR increased by 119% and the 

market capitalization increased by 71%. This strong pay-for-performance relationship underscores 

Sulzer’s high-performance orientation and highlights the company’s strong emphasis on aligning the 

interests of the Executive Committee with those of the shareholders to create long-term shareholder 

value and profitable growth.

Pay-for-performance link: total compensation versus TSR

As of December 31, 2025, and December 31, 2024, there were no outstanding loans or credits 

granted to Executive Committee members, former members or related parties.

Malus and clawback

The Board of Directors may determine that variable compensation is forfeited in full or in part (malus) 

or that a vested award will be recovered in full or in part (clawback) in situations of material 

misstatement of the financial results, an error in assessing a performance condition or in the 

information or assumptions on which the award was granted or vested, serious reputational damage 

to the company, gross negligence, or willful misconduct on the part of the participant.

Sulzer may recover in full or in part any variable compensation from Executive Committee members in 

situations of material misstatement of the financial results, an error in assessing a performance 

condition or gross misconduct of the participant.
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In 2025, no malus or clawback were applied.

Shareholding requirements

The members of the Executive Committee are obliged to hold part of their shares until the end of their 

service period as follows:

Shareholding requirements as a percentage of annual gross base salary
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Shareholdings of the members of the Executive Committee

As of the end of 2024 and 2025, the members of the Executive Committee held the following shares, 

share-based instruments or options in the company:

Shareholdings at December 31, 2025

    2025

    Sulzer shares   Share units under vesting in equity plan

     
Sulzer

shares 1)
 

Performance share 
units (PSU) 2023  

Performance share 
units (PSU) 2024  

Performance share 
units (PSU) 2025

Executive Committee   29’756   28’753   25’028   23’187

Suzanne Thoma, CEO   12’292   12’778   10’490   8’897

Thomas Zickler, CFO   12’749   5’112   4’196   3’354

Haining Auperin, CHRO   -   4’217   3’462   2’751

Tim Schulten, Division President Chemtech   3’552   5’112   4’196   3’019

Ravin Ramsamy, Division President Services   1’163   1’534   1’897   2’549

Mathias Prüssing, Division President Flow   -   -   787   2’617

1) Total shares in all individual accounts, collected through the Corporate Governance Questionnaire. No Executive Committee member holds any options. No related parties own any 
shares, share-based instruments or options.

Shareholdings at December 31, 2024

    2024

    Sulzer shares   Share units under vesting in equity plan

     
Sulzer

shares 1)
 

Performance share 
units (PSU) 2022  

Performance share 
units (PSU) 2023  

Performance share 
units (PSU) 2024

Executive Committee   11’171   14’679   33’865   28’437

Suzanne Thoma, CEO   4’374   2’120   12’778   10’490

Thomas Zickler, CFO   5’697   5’074   5’112   4’196

Haining Auperin, CHRO   -   1’142   4’217   3’462

Tim Schulten, Division President Chemtech   1’100   5’074   5’112   4’196

Jan Lüder, Division President Flow   -   -   5’112   4’196

Ravin Ramsamy, Division President Services   -   1’269   1’534   1’897

1) Total shares in all individual accounts, collected through the Corporate Governance Questionnaire. No related parties own any shares.
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– Compensation report – Compensation architecture for the Board of Directors

Compensation architecture for the Board of 
Directors

The compensation of the Board of Directors is fixed and does not contain any performance-based 

variable component. This ensures that the Board of Directors is truly independent in fulfilling its 

supervisory duties towards the Executive Committee.

The compensation of the Board of Directors is governed by a compensation regulation, is reviewed by 

the Remuneration Committee (RC) annually and, if necessary, adjusted by a decision of the full Board 

of Directors based on a proposal by the RC.

The compensation of the Board of Directors consists of a fixed cash component and a share 

component with a fixed grant value. The share component strengthens the long-term alignment of the 

interests of the Board members with those of the shareholders. Non-executive Board members are 

not entitled to pension benefits.

The amount of compensation for the Chairperson and for the other members of the Board of Directors 

is determined based on the relevant compensation benchmarks. The list of companies is the same 

peer group as listed under the compensation benchmark of the members of the Executive Committee 

(see the Benchmark Peer Group graph in the 

 chapter). The compensation reflects the responsibility and complexity of their respective 

functions, the professional and personal requirements placed on them, and the expected time 

required to fulfill their duties. The ongoing Board compensation structure and amounts are described 

in the table below:

Compensation Architecture for the CEO and members of 

the EC

Annual compensation of the Board of Directors1

in CHF  

Cash component (net of 
social security 
contributions)  

Grant value of BLS (net of 
social security 
contributions)

 Base fee for Board Chair 2)   420’000    

Base fee for Board Vice Chair   100’000   155’000

Base fee for Board members   70’000   125’000

Additional committee fees:        

Audit Committee / Strategy and Sustainability Committee Chair   60’000    

Audit Committee / Strategy and Sustainability Committee 
members   35’000    

Nomination / Remuneration Committee / Governance 
Committee Chair   35’000    

Nomination / Remuneration / Governance Committee members   20’000    

1) Compensation for the period of service (from AGM to AGM).
2) The Chair of the Board of Directors does not receive additional remuneration for committee activities.
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Board members are compensated for their service from AGM to AGM. Cash compensation is paid 

quarterly for Board members and monthly for the Chairperson. As of the 2025 AGM, the Board 

members receive a blocked share grant. The shares are granted annually and blocked for three years 

from the allocation date on March 1st of the following year. The number of shares is determined by 

dividing the fixed grant value by the volume-weighted average share price of the trading days in the 

last three months before the allocation date.
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– Compensation report – Compensation of the Board of Directors for 2025

Compensation of the Board of Directors for 2025

Overview

In 2025, the Board of Directors received total compensation of  (previous year: 

). This included  in cash fees (previous year: ), in 

blocked shares (same value as previous year) and kCHF 265 in social security contributions (previous 

year: ).

kCHF 2’355

kCHF 2’349 kCHF 1’310 kCHF 1’302 kCHF 780 

kCHF 267

The total Board compensation paid in 2025 was 0.2% higher than in 2024. The aggregate Board 

compensation was below the maximum amount approved at the AGM 2025.

The portion of compensation delivered in blocked shares ranged between 74% and 139% of the cash 

compensation for Board members.

Compensation of the Board of Directors

    2025

thousands of CHF    Cash fees 1)    

Blocked 
shares 

(BLSs) plan 2)    
Social security 
contributions 3)   Total

Board of Directors   1’310   780   265   2’355

Suzanne Thoma, Chair of the Board of Directors, Chair of the Strategy & Sustainability 
Committee and Member of the Nomination Committee   420   0   55   475

Markus Kammüller, Lead Independent Director, Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors, 
Chair of the Governance Committee, Member of the Remuneration Committee and 
Member of the Audit Committee   190   155   40   385

Alexey Moskov, Member of the Remuneration Committee   90   125   30   245

David Metzger, Member of the Audit Committee and Member of the Strategy & 
Sustainability Committee   140   125   36   301

Per Utnegaard, Chair of Nomination Committee and Member of Strategy & 
Sustainability Committee   140   125   31   296

Hariolf Kottmann, Chair of the Remuneration Committee, Member of Strategy & 
Sustainability Committee and Member of the Governance Committee   160   125   33   318

Prisca Havranek-Kosicek, Chair of the Audit Committee, Member of Nomination 
Committee and Member of the Governance Committee   170   125   40   335

1) Disclosed gross.
2) Value of the blocked shares to be granted in March 2026 for the period from AGM 2025 to AGM 2026.
3) The amount includes mandatory social security contributions on the cash fees and estimated contributions on the BLS and includes both the employer and employee contributions 

paid by the company on behalf of the Board members.
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    2024

thousands of CHF    Cash fees 1)    

Restricted 
share unit 

(RSUs) plan 2)    
Social security 
contributions 3)   Total

Board of Directors   1’302   780   267   2’349

Suzanne Thoma, Chair of the Board of Directors, Chair of the Strategy & Sustainability 
Committee and Member of the Nomination Committee   420   -   53   472

Markus Kammüller, Lead Independent Director, Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors, 
Chair of the Governance Committee, Member of the Remuneration Committee and 
Member of the Audit Committee   190   155   44   389

Alexey Moskov, Member of the Remuneration Committee   90   125   28   243

David Metzger, Member of the Audit Committee and Member of the Strategy & 
Sustainability Committee   140   125   34   299

Per Utnegaard, Chair of Nomination Committee and Member of Strategy & 
Sustainability Committee   136   125   34   295

Hariolf Kottmann, Chair of the Remuneration Committee, Member of Strategy & 
Sustainability Committee and Member of the Governance Committee   156   125   36   318

Prisca Havranek-Kosicek, Chair of the Audit Committee, Member of Nomination 
Committee and Member of the Governance Committee   170   125   38   333

1) Disclosed gross.
2) RSU awards granted in 2024 had a fair value of CHF 112.58 at grant date. The amount represents the full fair value of grants made in 2024.
3) The amount includes mandatory social security contributions on the cash fees and estimated contributions on the RSU (based on their fair value at grant) and includes both the 

employer and employee contributions paid by the company on behalf of the Board members.

At the 2024 and 2025 AGMs, shareholders approved a maximum aggregate compensation amount of 

 for the Board of Directors. The table below shows the reconciliation between the 

compensation paid or to be paid for the two periods of office and the maximum amounts approved by 

the shareholders.

kCHF 2’984

Maximum aggregate for the period from AGM to AGM

thousands of CHF  
Total compensation earned for the 

period from AGM to AGM  
Amount approved by shareholders at 

respective AGM  

Ratio between compensation earned 
for the period from AGM to AGM 

versus amount approved by 
shareholders

AGM 2025–AGM 2026   2025 AGM to 2026 AGM   2025 AGM   2025 AGM
Board (total)   2’355   2’984   78.9%

AGM 2024–AGM 2025   2024 AGM to 2025 AGM   2024 AGM   2024 AGM
Board (total)   2’357   2’984   79.0%

As of December 31, 2025, and December 31, 2024, no outstanding loans or credits were granted to 

current or former Board members or related parties.

In both 2025 and 2024, no compensation was granted to former Board members or related parties.
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Shareholdings of the members of the Board of Directors

As of the end of 2025 and 2024, the members of the Board of Directors held the following shares, 

share-based instruments or options in the company:

Shareholdings at December 31, 2025

    2025

     
Sulzer

shares 1)  
Restricted share units 

(RSU)  
Total share awards and 

shares

Board of Directors   34’858   8’004   42’862

Suzanne Thoma   12’292   -   12’292

Markus Kammüller   3’409   1’589   4’998

Alexey Moskov   5’239   1’283   6’522

David Metzger   4’861   1’283   6’144

Per Utnegaard   5’375   1’283   6’658

Hariolf Kottmann   2’623   1’283   3’906

Prisca Havranek-Kosicek   1’059   1’283   2’342

1) Total shares in all individual accounts, collected through the Corporate Governance Questionnaire. No Board member holds any options. The total shares 
include shares held by related parties. No related parties own any share-based instruments or options.

Shareholdings at December 31, 2024

    2024

     
Sulzer

shares 1)  
Restricted share units 

(RSU)  
Total share awards and 

shares

Board of Directors   15’866   16’373   27’865

Suzanne Thoma   4’374   1’071   1’071

Markus Kammüller   1’743   3’255   4’998

Alexey Moskov   3’791   2’731   6’522

David Metzger   3’413   2’731   6’144

Per Utnegaard   1’375   2’195   3’570

Hariolf Kottmann   1’170   2’195   3’365

Prisca Havranek-Kosicek   -   2’195   2’195

1) Total shares in all individual accounts, collected through the Corporate Governance Questionnaire.
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– Compensation report – Auditor’s report

Report on the Audit of the Compensation Report

Opinion

We have audited the Compensation Report of Sulzer Ltd (the Company) for the year ended December 

31, 2025. The audit was limited to the information pursuant to Art. 734a-734f of the Swiss Code of 

Obligations (CO) contained in the sections "

", “ ”, "

", “ ”, "

" and " " of the 

Compensation Report.

Activities in other 

organizations Compensation of the Executive Committee Shareholdings of the members of the 

Executive Committee Compensation of the Board of Directors Maximum aggregate for the 

period from AGM to AGM Shareholdings of the members of the Board of Directors

In our opinion, the information pursuant to Art. 734a-734f CO in the accompanying Compensation 

Report complies with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our 

responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Compensation Report” section of our report. We are independent 

of the Company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss 

audit profession. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.

Other Information

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the sections “Activities in other 

organizations”, “Compensation of the Executive Committee”, “Shareholdings of the members of the 

Executive Committee”, “Compensation of the Board of Directors”, “Maximum aggregate for the 

period from AGM to AGM” and “Shareholdings of the members of the Board of Directors” in the 

Compensation Report, the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements 

and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the Compensation Report does not cover the other information and we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Compensation Report, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
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audited financial information in the Compensation Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Compensation Report

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of a Compensation Report in accordance 

with the provisions of Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal 

control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of a 

Compensation Report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The 

Board of Directors is also responsible for designing the compensation system and defining individual 

compensation packages.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Compensation Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the information pursuant to Art. 

734a-734f CO is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this Compensation Report.

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgement and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the Compensation Report, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have 

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 

all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

KPMG AG

Rolf Hauenstein

Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Miriam von Gunten

Licensed Audit Expert

Zurich, February 25, 2026

KPMG AG, Badenerstrasse 172, CH-8036 Zurich
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– Financial reporting – Consolidated income statement

Consolidated income statement

January 1 – December 31

millions of CHF   Notes   2025   2024

Sales   2, 18   3’555.4   3’530.6

Cost of goods sold       –2’332.1   –2’347.4

Gross profit       1’223.2   1’183.2

Selling and distribution expenses       –321.9   –335.2

General and administrative expenses       –372.1   –382.5

Research and development expenses   8   –77.6   –76.4

Net impairment loss on contract assets and trade accounts 
receivable       –7.0   –0.6

Other operating income / (expenses), net   9   –11.5   –6.0

Operating income (EBIT)       433.1   382.5

Interest and securities income   10   11.6   19.6

Interest expenses   10   –29.5   –29.3

Other financial income / (expenses), net   10   –16.7   –15.5

Share of profit / (loss) of associates and joint ventures   15   –11.4   –3.8

Income before income tax expenses       387.1   353.5

Income tax expenses   11   –92.4   –88.2

Net income       294.7   265.4

– thereof attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd       292.8   261.9

– thereof attributable to non-controlling interests       1.9   3.5

             

Earnings per share (in CHF)          

Basic earnings per share   23   8.68   7.73

Diluted earnings per share   23   8.57   7.64
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– Financial reporting – Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income

January 1 – December 31

millions of CHF   Notes   2025   2024

Net income       294.7   265.4

             

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income 
statement            

Cash flow hedges, net of tax   27   8.0   –7.5

Currency translation differences       –113.1   30.7

Total of items that may be reclassified subsequently to the 
income statement       –105.1   23.2

             

Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement            

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans, net of tax   7   25.9   0.8

Equity investments at FVOCI – net change in fair value, net of 
tax   16   1.0   –4.9

Total of items that will not be reclassified to the income 
statement       26.9   –4.0

             

Total other comprehensive income       –78.1   19.1

             

Total comprehensive income for the period       216.6   284.5

- thereof attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd       214.8   280.6

- thereof attributable to non-controlling interests       1.8   3.9
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– Financial reporting – Consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated balance sheet
December 31
millions of CHF   Notes   December 31, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Non-current assets              

Goodwill   12   644.1   661.4  
Other intangible assets   12   143.4   178.5  
Property, plant and equipment   13   398.2   387.8  
Lease assets   14   110.3   105.2  
Associates and joint ventures   15   37.1   53.0  
Other non-current financial assets   16   31.9   30.2  
Defined benefit assets   7   176.8   144.0  
Non-current receivables       1.2   1.9  
Deferred income tax assets   11   132.1   153.6  
Total non-current assets       1’675.1   1’715.5  

               
Current assets              

Inventories   17   500.7   515.1  
Current income tax receivables       36.1   28.4  
Advance payments to suppliers       91.0   94.7  
Contract assets   18   572.5   500.1  
Trade accounts receivables   19   628.7   680.2  
Other current receivables and prepaid expenses   20   131.4   118.8  
Current financial assets   16   0.1   1.0  
Cash and cash equivalents   21   927.3   1’060.6  
Total current assets       2’887.8   2’998.8  

Total assets       4’562.9   4’714.3  

               
Equity              

Share capital   22   0.3   0.3  
Reserves       1’292.9   1’223.3  
Equity attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd       1’293.2   1’223.6  

Non-controlling interests       12.1   11.5  
Total equity       1’305.4   1’235.1  

               
Non-current liabilities              

Non-current borrowings   24   779.3   745.0  
Non-current lease liabilities   14   81.7   78.3  
Deferred income tax liabilities   11   69.6   67.9  
Non-current income tax liabilities   11   9.4   8.1  
Defined benefit obligations   7   93.0   106.1  
Non-current provisions   25   51.0   46.2  
Other non-current liabilities       2.6   7.3  
Total non-current liabilities       1’086.8   1’058.9  

               
Current liabilities              

Current borrowings   24   304.9   312.0  
Current lease liabilities   14   28.9   26.6  
Current income tax liabilities       31.9   43.1  
Current provisions   25   124.8   143.8  
Contract liabilities   18   500.8   531.3  
Trade accounts payable       386.4   388.2  
Other current and accrued liabilities   26   793.1   975.2  
Total current liabilities       2’170.8   2’420.3  

Total liabilities       3’257.5   3’479.1  

               
Total equity and liabilities       4’562.9   4’714.3  
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– Financial reporting – Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

January 1 – December 31

        Attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd        

millions of CHF   Notes  
Share 

capital  
Retained 
earnings  

Treasury 
shares  

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve  

Currency 
translation 
adjustment  Total  

Non-
controlling 

interests  
Total 

equity

                                     

Equity as of January 1, 2025       0.3   2’095.2   –51.6   –3.2   –817.2   1’223.6   11.5   1’235.1

Comprehensive income for the period:                                    

Net income           292.8               292.8   1.9   294.7

- Cash flow hedges, net of tax   27   –   –   –   8.0   –   8.0   –   8.0

- Remeasurements of defined benefit 
plans, net of tax   7   –   25.9   –   –   –   25.9   –   25.9

- Equity investments at FVOCI – net 
change in fair value, net of tax   16   –   1.0   –   –   –   1.0   –   1.0

- Currency translation differences       –   –   –   –   –112.9   –112.9   –0.1   –113.1

Other comprehensive income       –   26.9   –   8.0   –112.9   –78.0   –0.1   –78.1

Total comprehensive income for the 
period       –   319.7   –   8.0   –112.9   214.8   1.8   216.6

Transactions with owners of the company:                                    

Allocation of treasury shares to share plan 
participants       –   –11.6   11.6   –   –   –       –

Purchase of treasury shares   22   –   –   –18.9   –   –   –18.9       –18.9

Share-based payments   29   –   17.3   –   –   –   17.3       17.3

Dividends   22   –   –143.6   –   –   –   –143.6   –1.2   –144.7

Equity as of December 31, 2025   22   0.3   2’277.1   –58.6   4.8   –930.4   1’293.2   12.1   1’305.4
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January 1 – December 31

        Attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd        

millions of CHF   Notes  
Share 

capital  
Retained 
earnings  

Treasury 
shares  

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve  

Currency 
translation 
adjustment  Total  

Non-
controlling 

interests  
Total 

equity

Equity as of January 1, 2024       0.3   1’979.5   –36.7   4.2   –852.0   1’095.4   3.2   1’098.6

Comprehensive income for the period:                                    

Net income           261.9               261.9   3.5   265.4

- Cash flow hedges, net of tax   27   –   –   –   –7.5   –   –7.5   –   –7.5

- Remeasurements of defined benefit 
plans, net of tax   7   –   0.8   –   –   –   0.8   –   0.8

- Equity investments at FVOCI – net 
change in fair value, net of tax   16   –   –4.9   –   –   –   –4.9   –   –4.9

- Currency translation differences       –   –   –   –   30.3   30.3   0.4   30.7

Other comprehensive income       –   –4.0   –   –7.5   30.3   18.7   0.4   19.1

Total comprehensive income for the 
period       –   257.8   –   –7.5   30.3   280.6   3.9   284.5

Transactions with owners of the company:                                    

Changes in non-controlling interests           –3.2   –   –   –   –3.2   3.2   0.0

Transactions with non-controlling interests   3   –   –6.1   –   –   4.6   –1.5   1.5   0.0

Contribution from medmix       –   0.1   –   –   –   0.1   –   0.1

Allocation of treasury shares to share plan 
participants       –   –18.3   18.3   –   –   –   –   –

Purchase of treasury shares   22   –   –   –33.2   –   –   –33.2   –   –33.2

Share-based payments   29   –   12.7   –   –   –   12.7   –   12.7

Dividends   22   –   –127.3   –   –   –   –127.3   –0.3   –127.6

Equity as of December 31, 2024   22   0.3   2’095.2   –51.6   –3.2   –817.2   1’223.6   11.5   1’235.1
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– Financial reporting – Consolidated statement of cash flows

Consolidated statement of cash flows

January 1 – December 31

millions of CHF   Notes   2025   2024

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1       1’060.6   974.7

             

Net income       294.7   265.4

Interest and securities income   10   –11.6   –19.6

Interest expenses   10   29.5   29.3

Income tax expenses   11   92.4   88.2

Depreciation, amortization and impairments   12, 13, 14   123.1   120.2

Gain from disposals of tangible and intangible assets, net   9   –1.9   –0.3

Changes in inventories       –19.2   –7.0

Changes in advance payments to suppliers       –3.2   –5.9

Changes in contract assets       –115.7   –55.6

Changes in trade accounts receivable       2.3   –124.7

Changes in contract liabilities       3.9   66.6

Changes in trade accounts payable       24.3   14.4

Changes in employee benefit plans       –8.5   –2.1

Changes in provisions       –3.3   –6.3

Changes in other net current assets       –34.8   51.9

Other non-cash items       49.3   11.4

Interest received       10.0   17.3

Interest paid       –23.9   –23.7

Income tax paid       –104.5   –95.6

Total cash flow from operating activities       303.0   323.8

             

Purchase of intangible assets   12   –3.6   –9.7

Proceeds from the sale of intangible assets   12   1.1   0.0

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   13   –90.0   –82.7

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment   13   2.1   3.5

Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired   3   –16.9   –13.1

Divestitures of associates and joint ventures   15   6.8   -

Dividends from associates   15   –   0.1

Purchase of other non-current financial assets   16   –1.0   –1.7

Purchase of current financial assets   16   –0.0   –0.4

Repayments of financial assets   16   0.6   5.8

Total cash flow from investing activities       –101.0   –98.2
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Dividends paid to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd   22   –264.6   –86.5

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries       –1.2   –0.3

Purchase of treasury shares   22   –18.9   –33.2

Payments of lease liabilities   14   –33.4   –29.7

Divestiture (Acquisition) of non-controlling interests   3   –   –0.3

Proceeds from non-current borrowings   24   329.2   249.3

Proceeds from current borrowings   24   51.4   42.3

Repayments of current borrowings   24   –352.7   –293.3

Total cash flow from financing activities       –290.1   –151.6

             

Exchange gains / (losses) on cash and cash equivalents       –45.1   11.9

             

Net change in cash and cash equivalents       –133.3   85.9

             

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31   21   927.3   1’060.6

For the calculation of free cash flow (FCF), reference is made to the section “ ”.Financial review
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

– Financial reporting – Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1  General information

Sulzer Ltd (the “companyˮ) is a company domiciled in Switzerland. The address of the company’s 

registered office is Neuwiesenstrasse 15 in Winterthur, Switzerland. The consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, comprise the company and its subsidiaries 

(together referred to as the “groupˮ and individually as the “subsidiariesˮ) and the group’s interest in 

associates and joint ventures. Sulzer was founded in 1834 in Winterthur, Switzerland, and employs 

13'526 people. The company serves clients in 160 production and service sites around the world. 

Sulzer Ltd is listed on SIX Swiss Exchange in Zurich, Switzerland (symbol: SUN).

Sulzer is a global leader in fluid engineering and chemical processing applications, developing 

innovative products and services that drive sustainable progress.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 

Standards. They were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 25, 2026.

Details of the group’s accounting policies are included in .note 32
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2 Segment information

Segment information by division

    Flow   Services   Chemtech
millions of CHF   2025   2024   2025   2024   2025   2024

Order intake (unaudited) 1)   1’576.3   1’603.3   1’449.8   1’378.3   724.9   866.9

                         
Sales 2)   1’551.2   1’444.3   1’312.8   1’249.1   691.3   837.1

                         
EBITDA   206.6   169.6   240.0   209.6   94.4   131.6

EBITDA margin   13.3%   11.7%   18.3%   16.8%   13.7%   15.7%

                         

Amortization   –25.8   –25.8   –4.9   –4.6   –7.2   –6.9

 Impairments on tangible and intangible assets 3)   –0.0   –   –4.5   –4.5   –   –

Depreciation   –31.1   –31.9   –29.4   –29.0   –14.9   –13.8

                         
EBIT   149.7   111.8   201.3   171.5   72.3   110.9

                         

Restructuring expenses   –3.4   –1.2   –0.9   –2.3   –0.1   –0.2

                         
Total assets as of December 31   1’514.8   1’495.9   1’056.8   1’078.1   595.0   633.1

                         
Total liabilities as of December 31   795.9   750.3   461.0   488.8   374.5   473.6

                         

Capital expenditure (incl. lease assets)   –42.8   –44.5   –51.8   –46.0   –28.1   –38.6

                         

Employees (number of full-time equivalents) as of 
December 31   5’559   5’492   4’855   4’832   2’781   2’934

1) Order intake from external customers.
2) Sales from external customers.
3) The amounts reported in 2025 mainly consist of an intangible asset impairment and was disclosed in the consolidated income statement in the line research and development 

expenses. In 2024, an impairment of tangible assets was reported in the consolidated income statement in the line cost of goods sold.
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Segment information by division

    Total divisions    Others 4)   Total Sulzer

millions of CHF   2025   2024   2025   2024   2025   2024

Order intake (unaudited) 1)   3’751.0   3’848.6   –   -   3’751.0   3’848.6

                         
Sales 2)   3’555.4   3’530.6   –   -   3’555.4   3’530.6

                         
EBITDA   541.0   510.9   15.2   –8.1   556.2   502.7

EBITDA margin   15.2%   14.5%   n/a   n/a   15.6%   14.2%

                         

Amortization   –37.9   –37.4   –2.3   –1.1   –40.2   –38.5

 Impairments on tangible and intangible assets 3)   –4.5   –4.5   –   -   –4.5   –4.5

Depreciation   –75.4   –74.7   –3.1   –2.4   –78.5   –77.1

                         
EBIT   423.3   394.2   9.8   –11.7   433.1   382.5

                         

Restructuring expenses   –4.3   –3.7   –   -   –4.3   –3.7

                         
Total assets as of December 31   3’166.6   3’207.1   1’396.3   1’507.2   4’562.9   4’714.3

                         
Total liabilities as of December 31   1’631.2   1’712.7   1’626.2   1’766.4   3’257.5   3’479.1

                         

Capital expenditure (incl. lease assets)   –122.8   –129.1   –10.0   –1.8   –132.8   –130.9

                         

Employees (number of full-time equivalents) as of 
December 31   13’195   13’257   330   198   13’526   13’455

1) Order intake from external customers.
2) Sales from external customers.
3) The amounts reported in 2025 mainly consist of an intangible asset impairment and was disclosed in the consolidated income statement in the line research and development 

expenses. In 2024, an impairment of tangible assets was reported in the consolidated income statement in the line cost of goods sold.
4) The most significant activities under “Others” relate to Corporate Center.

The Group has updated the information disclosed in the “Segment information” to align with current 

reporting reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer. The modification involves using a different profit 

measure, EBITDA.

The definitions of the Alternative Performance Measures (APM) remain unchanged (see 

“ ” and comparative information has not been changed. For the new APM 

EBITDA margin, added reference is made to the section “ ” of this report.

Supplementary information

Supplementary information

For the reconciliation statements to the section “ ”.Financial review
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Information about reportable segments

Operating segments are determined based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer that 

are used to measure performance, make strategic decisions and allocate resources to the segments. 

The business is managed on a divisional basis and the reported segments have been identified as 

follows:

Flow 

The Flow division specializes in pumping solutions specifically engineered for the processes of its 

customers. The division provides pumps, agitators, compressors, grinders, screens and filters 

developed through intensive research and development in fluid dynamics and advanced materials. 

The focus is on pumping solutions for water, oil and gas, power, chemicals and most industrial 

segments.

Services

The Services division provides cutting-edge parts as well as maintenance and repair solutions for 

pumps, turbines, compressors, motors and generators through a network of over 100 service sites 

around the world. The division services Sulzer original equipment, but also all associated third-party 

rotating equipment run by customers, maximizing its sustainability and life cycle cost-effectiveness. 

The division’s technology-based solutions, fast execution and expertise in complex maintenance 

projects are available at its customers’ doorsteps.

Chemtech

The Chemtech division focuses on innovative mass transfer, static mixing and polymer solutions for 

chemicals, petrochemicals, refining and LNG. Chemtech also provides ecological solutions such as 

bio-based chemicals, polymers and fuels, recycling technologies for plastic as well as carbon capture 

and utilization / storage, contributing to a circular and sustainable economy. The division’s product 

offering ranges from process components to complete process plants and technology licensing.

Others

Certain expenses related to the Corporate Center are not attributable to a particular segment and are 

assessed as a whole across the group. Also included are the eliminations for total assets and 

liabilities.

The Chief Executive Officer primarily uses EBITDA to assess the performance of the operating 

segments. However, the Chief Executive Officer also receives information about the segments’ order 

intake, sales, capital expenditures and EBIT on a monthly basis.

Sales from external customers reported to the Chief Executive Officer are measured in a manner 

consistent with the measurement in the income statement. There are no significant sales between the 

segments. No individual customer represents a significant portion of the group’s sales.

Segment information by region

The allocation of assets is based on their geographical location. Non-current assets exclude deferred 

income tax assets, non-current receivables, defined benefit assets and other non-current financial 

assets. The allocation of sales from external customers is based on the location of the customer.
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Non-current assets by region

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Europe, the Middle East and Africa   828.8   842.9

– thereof Switzerland   206.4   222.2

– thereof United Kingdom   168.9   181.9

– thereof Finland   124.4   128.2

– thereof Sweden   102.7   100.2

– thereof the Netherlands   74.2   76.0

         

Americas   373.7   409.3

– thereof USA   327.1   367.3

         

Asia-Pacific   130.6   133.7

– thereof China   43.3   46.1

         

Total   1’333.1   1’385.8
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Sales by region

    2025

millions of CHF   Flow   Services   Chemtech  
Total

Sulzer

Europe, the Middle East and Africa   732.0   489.8   208.2   1’430.1

– thereof Saudi Arabia   128.5   40.3   33.9   202.7

– thereof United Arab Emirates   94.8   29.3   38.7   162.8

– thereof United Kingdom   31.1   111.6   9.9   152.6

– thereof Germany   60.7   43.9   13.5   118.2

– thereof France   35.8   31.9   16.3   83.9

– thereof Switzerland   4.2   2.1   3.3   9.6

                 

Americas   514.0   652.6   184.9   1’351.5

– thereof USA   277.1   501.5   132.5   911.1

                 

Asia-Pacific   305.2   170.4   298.1   773.8

– thereof China   189.9   31.6   158.4   380.0

                 

Total   1’551.2   1’312.8   691.3   3’555.4

    2024

millions of CHF   Flow   Services   Chemtech  
Total

Sulzer

Europe, the Middle East and Africa   624.6   460.3   188.2   1’273.1

– thereof United Kingdom   30.3   110.7   20.4   161.4

– thereof Saudi Arabia   83.4   31.6   27.8   142.9

– thereof Germany   63.9   48.0   29.7   141.5

– thereof France   35.6   30.5   5.0   71.0

– thereof United Arab Emirates   21.8   25.0   13.2   60.1

– thereof Switzerland   5.8   1.7   3.1   10.6

                 

Americas   500.4   619.5   213.6   1’333.5

– thereof USA   314.8   483.7   157.4   955.9

                 

Asia-Pacific   319.3   169.3   435.3   924.0

– thereof China   196.9   34.0   271.9   502.7

                 

Total   1’444.3   1’249.1   837.1   3’530.6

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Financial reporting – Notes to the consolidated financial statements 103



Segment information by market segment

The following table shows the allocation of sales from external customers by market segment. 

Sales by market segment – Flow

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Water & Industrial   899.7   873.6

Energy & Infrastructure   651.5   570.7

Total Flow   1’551.2   1’444.3

Sales by market segment – Services

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Pumps Services   725.8   670.9

Turbo Services   387.1   366.7

Electro-Mechanical Services   200.0   211.5

Total Services   1’312.8   1’249.1

Sales by market segment – Chemtech

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Mass Transfer Components & Services   440.3   558.5

System Solutions   251.0   278.6

Total Chemtech   691.3   837.1
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3 Acquisitions of subsidiaries and transactions with non-
controlling interests

Acquisitions in 2025

Davies and Mills Co.W.L.L

On January 30, 2025, Sulzer acquired 100% of Davies & Mills Co.W.L.L. (“Davies and Mills”), a 

Services business specializing in maintenance and repair for rotating equipment including generators, 

alternators, motors and pumps headquartered in Ras Zuwayed, Bahrain.

The goodwill is attributable to the know-how of the workforce and favorable synergies. The goodwill is 

not deductible for tax purposes.The fair value of the trade accounts receivable amounts to CHF 0.9 

million, which is equal to the gross contractual amount.

The total consideration amounted to CHF 12.3 million paid in cash at the date of the completion. 

Additional payments will be transferred upon completion of certain criteria on a yearly basis until 

2028. A liability of CHF 0.7 million was recorded as an employee benefit in non-current and current 

provisions. These payments are not considered as part of the total consideration.

Probig Holding GmbH

On August 27, 2025, Sulzer acquired a controlling stake in Probig Holding GmbH (“Probig”), a 

provider of water and wastewater treatment solutions headquartered in Austria. Sulzer acquired 

shares representing an ownership of 70 percent in Probig and entered into a binding agreement to 

acquire the remaining 30 percent of the shares over the next 3 years. The total consideration 

amounted to CHF 8.0 million, of which CHF 5.2 million was paid in cash and CHF 2.8 million relate to 

contingent consideration for the purchase price not yet paid for the remaining 30 percent shares not 

yet transferred.

The goodwill is attributable to the know-how of the workforce and favorable synergies. The goodwill is 

not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.The fair value of the trade accounts receivable 

amounts to CHF 1.3 million, which is equal to the gross contractual amount.

The contingent consideration for the purchase price not yet paid was recorded in other current and 

non-current liabilities. The shares were agreed to be transferred in three tranches, with payments 

expected in the years 2026, 2027 and 2028. The payments depend on the achieved operating income 

(EBIT) in the year preceeding each payment, with an agreed payment amount for each tranche. The 

recorded liability represents the discounted expected payments estimated with the expected value 

method.
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The table below presents the amounts of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, the goodwill 

recorded and the consideration transferred on the date of acquisition.

millions of CHF   Davies and Mills   Probig   Total

Intangible assets   5.7   1.9   7.7

Property, plant and equipment   0.3   0.4   0.7

Other non-current assets   0.1   1.1   1.3

Other current assets   2.8   4.0   6.7

Cash and cash equivalents   1.0   0.5   1.5

Non-current liabilities (excluding borrowings)   –0.4   –1.3   –1.7

Current borrowings   –   –0.3   –0.3

Current liabilities (excluding borrowings)   –0.2   –3.0   –3.3

Net identifiable assets   9.3   3.3   12.7

Goodwill   2.9   4.6   7.6

Total consideration   12.3   8.0   20.3

             

Purchase price paid in cash   12.3   5.2   17.5

Contingent consideration   –   2.8   2.8

Total consideration   12.3   8.0   20.3

Acquisitions in 2024

Owatec Group Oy

On April 3, 2024, Sulzer acquired a controlling stake in Owatec Group Oy (“Owatec”), a provider of 

mobile water treatment solutions headquartered in Finland. Sulzer acquired shares representing an 

ownership of 60 percent in Owatec and entered into a binding agreement to acquire the remaining 40 

percent of the shares over the next five years.

On September 23, 2025, an amendment for the settlement to purchase of 35 percent of the shares 

was concluded leading to a payment of CHF 0.9 million. The liability for the contingent consideration 

in the amount of CHF 4.9 million was derecognized, with a corresponding income recorded in other 

operating income (see ). The remaining outstanding shares of 5 percent are subject to an 

unconditional written put option, granting the seller the right to sell all or part of the shares to the 

purchaser. In accordance with IAS 32, the liability was initially recognized at the present value of the 

option's exercice price. As of year end 2025, the put option amounted to CHF 0.2 million and was 

recorded in other current liabilities.

note 9

Cash flow from acquisition of subsidiaries

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Cash consideration paid   –17.5   –12.7

Cash acquired   1.5   0.5

Contingent consideration paid   –0.9   –0.9

Total cash flow from acquisitions, net of cash acquired   –16.9   –13.1
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Contingent consideration for acquisitions

millions of CHF   2025    2024 1

Balance as of January 1   5.2    

Assumed in a business combination   2.8   8.5

Unrealized fair value gain/(loss), net   0.4   –0.4

Reclassifications   –0.7   –

 Payment of contingent consideration 2   –0.9   –0.9

Release to other operating income   –3.9   –2.0

Total contingent consideration as of December 31   2.8   5.2

– thereof non-current   1.8   5.2

– thereof current   1.0   –

1) The liability for the purchase price not yet paid of CHF 5.6m was reclassified as contingent consideration related to a change in accounting policy.
2) The payments are presented in the cash flow statement in “Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired”.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired (disposed)   –   –1.5

Consideration received (paid) in cash   –   0.0

Decrease in equity attributable to owners of Sulzer Ltd   –   –1.5

After entering into a collaboration with a local partner, the group’s ownership in Sulzer Pumps 

(Nigeria) Ltd. decreased in the second half of 2024. The group continues to exercise strategic and 

management control over the subsidiary following the group’s reduction in ownership.

As of December 31, 2024, a payment of CHF 0.3 million in connection with the acquisition of the 

remaining 25 percent ownership in Sulzer Saudi Pumps Company in 2023 is reported in the cash flow 

statement in divestiture (acquisition) of non-controlling interests.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgments

All estimates and assessments are continually reviewed and are based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations regarding future events that appear reasonable under the given 

circumstances. The group makes estimates and assumptions that relate to the future. By their nature, 

these estimates will only rarely correspond to actual subsequent events. The estimates and 

assumptions that carry a significant risk, in the form of a substantial adjustment to the measurement 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are set out below.

Employee benefit plans

Assets, liabilities and costs for defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment plans are 

determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Assumptions used in determining 

the defined benefit assets / obligations include the discount rate, future salary,  pension increases, 

and mortality rates. The assumptions are reviewed and reassessed at the end of each year based on 

observable market data, i.e., market yields of high-quality corporate bonds denominated in the 

corresponding currency and asset management studies. In case a defined benefit plan results in a 

surplus, the group needs to calculate the asset ceiling and the present value of the economic benefits 

available in the form of refunds or reductions in future contributions to the plan. For the calculation of 

the economic benefits, the future benefits are discounted with the applicable discount rate and 

adjusted for estimated future salary increases. These estimates might significantly impact the balance 

sheet. Further details on the defined benefit plans are provided in  and .note 7 note 32

Income taxes

The group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Assumptions are required in order to 

determine income tax provisions. There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The group recognizes liabilities for 

anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the 

final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 

differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 

determination is made. Management believes that the estimates are reasonable, and that the 

recognized liabilities for income tax-related uncertainties are adequate. Further details are disclosed in 

.note 11

Goodwill and other intangible assets

The group carries out an annual impairment test on goodwill in the first quarter of the year (after the 

budget and the strategic plan have been approved by the Board of Directors), or when indications of a 

potential impairment exist. The recoverable amount from cash-generating units is measured on the 

basis of value-in-use calculations, with the terminal growth rate, the discount rate, and the projected 

cash flows as the main variables. Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that 

have significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment are disclosed in . The accounting 

policies are disclosed in .

note 12

note 32
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Lease assets and lease liabilities

The group has applied judgment to determine the lease term for lease contracts that include renewal 

and termination options. The assessment of whether the group is reasonably certain to exercise such 

options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and lease 

assets recognized. This assessment depends on economic incentives, such as removal and relocation 

costs. Further details are disclosed in  and .note 14 note 32

Sales

At contract inception, the group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a 

customer and identifies each promise to transfer to the customer as a performance obligation. The 

group considers the terms of the contract and all other relevant facts, including the economic 

substance of the transaction. Judgment is needed to determine whether there is a single performance 

obligation or multiple separate performance obligations. 

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount (e.g., expected liquidated 

damages, early payment discounts, volume discounts), the group estimates the amount of 

consideration to which the group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or 

services to a customer. The amount of the variable consideration is estimated by using either of the 

following methods, depending on which method the group expects to better predict the amount of 

consideration to which it will be entitled: the expected value or the most likely amount. The method 

selected is applied consistently throughout the contract and to similar types of contracts when 

estimating the effect of uncertainty on the amount of variable consideration to which the group is 

entitled. Depending on the outcome of the respective transactions, actual payments may differ from 

these estimates.

To allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price 

basis, the group determines the stand-alone selling price at contract inception of the distinct good or 

service underlying each performance obligation in the contract and allocates the transaction price in 

proportion to those stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone selling price is not directly 

observable, then the group estimates the amount with the expected cost-plus-margin method.

The group recognizes sales either over time or at a point in time. Sales are recognized over time if any 

of the conditions described in  are met. The most critical estimate in determining whether 

sales should be recorded over time or at a point in time is the existence of a right to payment. The 

group estimates if an enforceable right to payment (including reasonable profit margin) for 

performance to date exists in case the customer terminates the contract for convenience. For this 

estimate, the group reviews the contracts and considers relevant laws, legal precedents and 

customary business practice.

note 32

Applying the over time method requires the group to estimate the proportional sales and costs. To 

measure the stage of completion, generally, the cost-to-cost method is applied. Work progress of 

sub-suppliers is considered in determining the stage of completion. If circumstances arise that may 

change the original estimates of sales, costs or extent of progress toward completion, estimates are 

revised. These revisions may result in increases or decreases in estimated sales or costs and are 

reflected in income in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become 

known by management.

Further details are disclosed in  and .note 18 note 32
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Provisions

Provisions are made, among other reasons, for warranties, disputes, litigation and restructuring. A 

provision is recognized in the balance sheet when the group has a legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation. The nature of these costs is such that judgment has to be applied to estimate the 

timing and amount of cash outflows. Depending on the outcome of the respective transactions, actual 

payments may differ from these estimates. Further details are disclosed in  and .note 25 note 32

Financial assets

The fair value needs to be measured for the financial assets measured at fair value through P&L. If 

there is no observable fair value, valuation approaches relying on unobservable inputs are used. 

These inputs inherently require a higher level of judgement. Assumptions and estimates of 

unobservable market inputs in the fair valuation of financial assets require significant judgment and 

could affect amounts recognized in the income statement.
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5 Financial risk management

5.1 Financial risk factors

The group’s activities expose it to market, credit and liquidity risks. The group’s overall risk 

management program focuses on the mitigation of such risks to minimize potential adverse effects on 

the group’s financial performance. The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain 

risk exposures.

Financial risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group Treasury). Group 

Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the group’s 

subsidiaries. Principles for overall risk management and policies covering specific areas, such as 

foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-

derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity exist in writing.

a) Market risk

(I) Foreign exchange risk
The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 

currency exposures. The group is exposed to transactional foreign currency risk to the extent that 

sales, purchases, license fees, borrowings and other balance sheet items are denominated in 

currencies other than the functional currencies of group companies. The exposure originates mainly 

from group companies with the functional currencies CHF, EUR, CNY, USD, GBP and BRL. 

Management has set up a policy to require subsidiaries to manage their foreign exchange risk against 

their functional currency. The subsidiaries are required to hedge their major foreign exchange risk 

exposure using forward contracts or other standard instruments, usually transacted with Group 

Treasury. The group’s management policy is to hedge 90% to 100% of the contractual FX exposures.

The group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, all of them with a maturity of 

less than one year from the reporting date. The contracts are generally designated for hedge 

accounting as cash flow hedges. The group determines the existence of an economic relationship 

between the hedging instruments and the hedged item based on the currency, amount and timing of 

the respective cash flows. For hedges of foreign currency purchases, the group enters into hedge 

relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument match exactly with the terms of the 

hedged item. The group therefore performs a qualitative assessment of effectiveness. If changes in 

circumstances affect the terms of the hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match exactly 

with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the group uses the hypothetical derivative method to 

assess effectiveness. In hedges of foreign currency purchases, ineffectiveness may arise if the timing 

of the forecast transaction changes from what was originally estimated.

External foreign exchange contracts are designated as hedges of foreign exchange risk on specific 

assets, liabilities or future transactions on a gross basis. The group has certain investments in foreign 

operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. If required, currency 

exposure arising from the net assets of the group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through 

borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies. The Group considers derivative financial 

instruments on an ad hoc basis to manage foreign currency translation risk.

The following tables show the hypothetical influence on the income statement for 2025 and 2024 

related to foreign exchange risk of financial instruments. The volatility used for the calculation is the 

one-year historic volatility on December 31 for the relevant currency pair and year. For 2025, the 

currency pair with the most significant exposure and inherent risk was the GBP versus the USD. If, on 

December 31, 2025, the GBP had increased by 7.2% against the USD with all other variables held 
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constant, profit after tax for the year would have been CHF 1.4 million higher due to foreign exchange 

gains. A decrease of the rate would have caused a loss of the same amount.

Hypothetical impact of foreign exchange risk on income statement

millions of CHF   2025

Currency pair   GBP/USD   EUR/ZAR   USD/INR   EUR/BRL

Exposure   25.6   13.8   –20.7   –7.1

Volatility   7.2%   10.1%   4.6%   12.8%

Effect on profit after tax (rate increase)   1.4   1.1   –0.7   –0.7

Effect on profit after tax (rate decrease)   –1.4   –1.1   0.7   0.7

millions of CHF   2024

Currency pair   CHF/CNY   GBP/USD   EUR/ZMK   EUR/BRL

Exposure   –17.8   17.1   –3.0   –3.8

Volatility   6.6%   6.2%   18.4%   11.6%

Effect on profit after tax (rate increase)   –0.9   0.8   –0.4   –0.3

Effect on profit after tax (rate decrease)   0.9   –0.8   0.4   0.3

The following tables show the hypothetical influence on equity for 2025 and 2024 related to foreign 

exchange risk of financial instruments for the most important currency pairs as of December 31 of the 

respective year. The volatility used for the calculation is the one-year historic volatility on 

December 31 for the relevant currency pair and year. Most of the hypothetical effect on equity is a 

result of fair value changes of derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges.

Hypothetical impact of foreign exchange risk on equity

millions of CHF   2025

Currency pair   GBP/USD   USD/MXN   EUR/CHF   USD/BRL   EUR/USD   USD/CAD   USD/INR

Exposure   131.8   –80.3   –88.7   –26.7   28.9   –37.0   –40.2

Volatility   7.2%   9.2%   5.0%   11.5%   8.6%   5.5%   4.6%

Effect on equity, net of taxes 
(rate increase)   7.2   –5.6   –3.4   –2.3   1.9   –1.5   –1.4

Effect on equity, net of taxes 
(rate decrease)   –7.2   5.6   3.4   2.3   –1.9   1.5   1.4

millions of CHF   2024

Currency pair   USD/MXN   GBP/USD   USD/BRL   EUR/CHF   EUR/BRL   EUR/USD   EUR/SEK

Exposure   –50.7   96.5   –34.8   –66.2   22.7   34.6   –27.2

Volatility   13.1%   6.2%   12.5%   5.3%   11.6%   5.9%   5.7%

Effect on equity, net of taxes 
(rate increase)   –5.0   4.5   –3.0   –2.6   2.0   1.5   –1.2

Effect on equity, net of taxes 
(rate decrease)   5.0   –4.5   3.0   2.6   –2.0   –1.5   1.2
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(II) Price risk
As of December 31, 2025, and 2024, the group was not exposed to significant price risk related to 

investments in equity securities.

(III) Interest rate risk
The group’s interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing assets and liabilities. Financial assets and 

liabilities at variable rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk. The group analyzes its 

interest rate exposure on a net basis, and if required, enters into derivative instruments in order to 

keep the volatility of net interest income or expense limited. The group’s non-current interest-bearing 

liabilities mainly comprise of bonds with a fixed interest rate.

The following table shows the hypothetical influence on the income statement for variable interest-

bearing assets net of liabilities at variable interest rates, assuming market interest rate levels would 

have increased / decreased by 100 basis points. For the most significant currencies, CHF, EUR, CNY, 

USD and INR, increasing interest rates would have had a positive impact on the income statement, 

since the value of variable interest-bearing assets (comprising mainly cash and cash equivalents) 

exceed the value of variable interest-bearing liabilities.

Hypothetical impact of interest rate risk on income statement

millions of CHF   2025

Variable interest-bearing assets (net)

 

Amount

 
Sensitivity in 
basis points

  Impact on post-tax profit

      rate increase   rate decrease

EUR   226.9   100   1.7   –1.7

CHF   218.0   100   1.7   –1.7

USD   165.6   100   1.3   –1.3

CNY   144.4   100   1.1   –1.1

INR   37.5   100   0.3   –0.3

millions of CHF   2024

Variable interest-bearing assets (net)

 

Amount

 
Sensitivity in 
basis points

  Impact on post-tax profit

      rate increase   rate decrease

CHF   373.0   100   2.8   –2.8

EUR   227.3   100   1.7   –1.7

CNY   145.1   100   1.1   –1.1

USD   127.6   100   1.0   –1.0

INR   40.5   100   0.3   –0.3

On December 31, 2025, if the interest rates on EUR-denominated assets net of liabilities had been 

100 basis points higher with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have 

been CHF 1.7 million higher, as a result of higher interest income on EUR-denominated assets. A 

decrease of interest rates on EUR-denominated assets net of liabilities would have caused a loss of 

the same amount. As of December 31, 2024, if the interest rates had been 100 basis points higher 

with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been CHF 1.7 million 

higher, as a result of higher interest income on EUR-denominated assets.
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b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments, deposits with 

financial institutions or corporates and credit exposures to customers, including outstanding trade 

receivables and contract assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk per class of financial asset is 

disclosed by carrying amounts in the fair value table. Equity instruments are not exposed to credit 

risks. The carrying amounts of financial assets and contract assets represent the maximum credit risk 

exposure.

Credit risks of banks and financial institutions are monitored and managed centrally. Generally, only 

independently rated parties with a strong credit rating are accepted, and the total volume of 

transactions is split among several banks to reduce the individual risk with one bank.

For every customer with a large order volume, an individual risk assessment of the credit quality of the 

customer is performed that considers independent ratings, financial position, past experience and 

other factors. Additionally, bank guarantees and letters of credit are requested. For more details on 

the credit risk of contract assets, please refer to , and on the credit risk of trade accounts 

receivable, please refer to .

note 18

note 19

c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes the maintenance of sufficient cash and marketable 

securities, the availability of funding from an adequate number of committed credit facilities, and the 

ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, Group 

Treasury maintains flexibility in funding through committed and uncommitted credit lines.

Management anticipates the future development of the group’s liquidity reserve on the basis of 

expected cash flows by performing regular group-wide cash forecasts. As of December 2025, Sulzer 

had access to a syndicated credit facility of CHF 500 million maturing on December 31, 2026. The 

facility includes two one-year extension options and a further option to increase the credit facility by 

CHF 250 million (subject to lenders’ approval). In 2022 and 2023, the group exercised the options, 

extending the term of the credit facility in the amount of CHF 415 million to December 2028.

The following table analyzes the group’s financial liabilities in relevant maturity groupings based on 

the remaining period from the reporting to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 

table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows translated at year-end closing rates, if not 

denominated in CHF. Borrowings include the notional amount and interest payments.
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Maturity profile of financial liabilities

    2025

millions of CHF  
Carrying 
amount   <1 year   1–5 years   >5 years   Total

Borrowings   1’084.2   311.1   703.1   102.5   1’116.7

Lease liabilities   110.6   28.4   57.4   37.7   123.5

Trade accounts payable   386.4   386.4   -   –   386.4

Other current and non-current liabilities (excluding 
derivative liabilities)   339.7   337.1   2.1   0.5   339.8

Total non-derivative financial liabilities   1’921.0   1’063.1   762.6   140.8   1’966.4

                     

Derivative liabilities   4.6   4.6   -   –   4.6

– thereof outflow   –   958.7   –   –   958.7

– thereof inflow   –   954.1   –   –   954.1

    2024

millions of CHF  
Carrying 
amount   <1 year   1–5 years   >5 years   Total

Borrowings   1’057.1   327.0   767.3   –   1’094.3

Lease liabilities   104.9   27.0   58.2   31.6   116.9

Trade accounts payable   388.2   388.2   –   –   388.2

Other current and non-current liabilities (excluding 
derivative liabilities)   473.0   465.7   7.3   1.0   474.0

Total non-derivative financial liabilities   2’023.2   1’208.0   832.8   32.6   2’073.4

                     

Derivative liabilities   10.3   10.3   –   –   10.3

– thereof outflow   –   761.0   –   –   761.0

– thereof inflow   –   750.7   –   –   750.7

5.2 Capital risk management

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In this respect, the group aims at 

maintaining an investment-grade credit rating, either as a perceived rating or an external rating issued 

by a credit rating agency.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 

to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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The following table shows the net debt / EBITDA ratio as of December 31, 2025, and 2024.

Net debt / EBITDA ratio

millions of CHF   2025   2024

         

Cash and cash equivalents   –927.3   –1’060.6

Current financial assets   –0.1   –1.0

Non-current borrowings   779.3   745.0

Non-current lease liabilities   81.7   78.3

Current borrowings   304.9   312.0

Current lease liabilities   28.9   26.6

Net debt as of December 31   267.4   100.4

         

Operating income (EBIT)   433.1   382.5

Depreciation   78.5   77.1

Impairments on tangible and intangible assets   4.5   4.5

Amortization   40.2   38.5

EBITDA   556.2   502.7

         

Net debt   267.4   100.4

EBITDA   556.2   502.7

Net debt / EBITDA ratio   0.48   0.20

Another important ratio for the group is the gearing ratio (borrowings-to-equity ratio), which is 

calculated as total borrowings and lease liabilities divided by equity attributable to shareholders of 

Sulzer Ltd.

As of December 31, 2025, and 2024, the gearing ratio was as follows:

Gearing ratio (borrowings-to-equity ratio)

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Non-current borrowings   779.3   745.0

Non-current lease liabilities   81.7   78.3

Current borrowings   304.9   312.0

Current lease liabilities   28.9   26.6

Total borrowings and lease liabilities   1’194.8   1’161.9

Equity attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd   1’293.2   1’223.6

Gearing ratio (borrowings-to-equity ratio)   0.92   0.95

For the definition of net debt, EBIT, EBITDA and gearing ratio, please refer to the section 

“ ”.Supplementary information
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5.3 Fair value estimation

The following tables present the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities as 

of December 31, 2025, and 2024, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. For financial assets 

and financial liabilities not measured at fair value in the balance sheet, fair value information is not 

provided if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Fair values are categorized into the following three different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on 

the inputs used in the valuation techniques:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets, including the outstanding bonds, is 

based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. Such instruments are included in level 1.

The fair values included in level 2 are based on valuation techniques using observable market input 

data. This may include discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models or reference to other 

instruments that are substantially the same, while always making maximum use of market inputs and 

relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. The fair values of forward contracts are measured 

based on broker quotes for foreign exchange rates and interest rates.

Fair values determined using unobservable inputs are categorized within level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy. Level 3 instruments consist of non-current financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss. Non-current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of unquoted equity or debt 

instruments including private equity or fund investments. Fair values are mainly determined based on 

external valuations. Unrealized fair value gains are recorded in other financial income / (expenses), 

net. For the partial release of a contingent consideration, an income of CHF 3.9 million (2024: CHF 2.0 

million) was recorded in other operating income. For more information, please refer to .note 3

Level 3 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Balance as of January 1   22.2   22.0

Additions   0.5   0.4

Divestments   –1.2   –0.0

Realized and unrealized fair value gains / (losses), net   1.4   –0.2

Currency translation differences   –0.5   -

Total level 3 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as of 
December 31   22.4   22.2
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Fair value table

        December 31, 2025

        Carrying amount   Fair value

millions of CHF   Notes  

Fair value 
hedging 

instruments  

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss  

Financial 
assets at fair 

value through 
other 

comprehensive 
income – 

equity 
instruments  

Financial 
assets at 

amortized 
cost  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  

Total 
carrying 
amount   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  

Total fair 
value

Financial assets measured at 
fair value                                            

Other non-current financial 
assets (at fair value)   16       22.6   6.0           28.6   6.2   –   22.4   28.6

Derivative assets – current   20,27   5.1                   5.1   –   5.1   –   5.1

Current financial assets (at fair 
value)   16       0.0               0.0   0.0   –   –   0.0
Total financial assets 
measured at fair value       5.1   22.6   6.0   –   –   33.7   6.2   5.1   22.4   33.7

                                             
Financial assets not 
measured at fair value                                            

Other non-current financial 
assets (at amortized cost)   16               3.3       3.3                

Non-current receivables                   1.2       1.2                

Trade accounts receivable   19               628.7       628.7                

Other current receivables 
(excluding current derivative 
assets and other taxes)   20               9.3       9.3                

Current financial assets (at 
amortized cost)   16               0.1       0.1                

Cash and cash equivalents   21               927.3       927.3                
Total financial assets not 
measured at fair value       –   –   –   1’569.9   –   1’569.9                

                                             
Financial liabilities measured 
at fair value                                            

Derivative liabilities – current   26,27   4.6                   4.6   –   4.6   –   4.6

Contingent considerations   3       2.8               2.8   –   –   2.8   2.8
Total financial liabilities 
measured at fair value       4.6   2.8   –   –   –   7.3   –   4.6   2.8   7.3

                                             
Financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value                                            

Outstanding non-current bonds   24                   778.7   778.7   787.9   –   –   787.9

Other non-current borrowings   24                   0.6   0.6                

Other non-current liabilities 
(excluding non-current 
derivative liabilities and 
contingent considerations)                       0.9   0.9                

Outstanding current bonds   24                   294.9   294.9   298.9   –   –   298.9

Other current borrowings and 
bank loans   24                   10.0   10.0                

Trade accounts payable                       386.4   386.4                

Other current liabilities 
(excluding current derivative 
liabilities, other taxes and 
contingent considerations)   26                   336.1   336.1                
Total financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value       –   –   –   –   1’807.6   1’807.6   1’086.9   –   –   1’086.9
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Fair value table

        December 31, 2024

        Carrying amount   Fair value

millions of CHF   Notes  

Fair value 
hedging 

instruments  

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss  

Financial 
assets at fair 

value through 
other 

comprehensive 
income – 

equity 
instruments  

Financial 
assets at 

amortized 
cost  

Other 
financial 
liabilities  

Total 
carrying 
amount   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  

Total fair 
value

Financial assets measured at 
fair value                                            

Other non-current financial 
assets (at fair value)   16       22.4   4.7           27.1   4.9   –   22.2   27.1

Derivative assets – current   20,27   3.0                   3.0   –   3.0   –   3.0

Current financial assets (at fair 
value)   16       0.6               0.6   0.6   –   –   0.6
Total financial assets 
measured at fair value       3.0   23.0   4.7   –   –   30.7   5.5   3.0   22.2   30.7

                                             
Financial assets not 
measured at fair value                                            

Other non-current financial 
assets (at amortized cost)   16               3.2       3.2                

Non-current receivables                   1.9       1.9                

Trade accounts receivable   19               680.2       680.2                

Other current receivables 
(excluding current derivative 
assets and other taxes)   20               18.2       18.2                

Current financial assets (at 
amortized cost)   16               0.4       0.4                

Cash and cash equivalents   21               1’060.6       1’060.6                
Total financial assets not 
measured at fair value       –   –   –   1’764.5   –   1’764.5                

                                             
Financial liabilities measured 
at fair value                                            

Derivative liabilities – current   26,27   10.3                   10.3   –   10.3   –   10.3

 Contingent considerations 1)   3       5.2               5.2   –   –   5.2   5.2
Total financial liabilities 
measured at fair value       10.3   5.2   –   –   –   15.5   –   10.3   5.2   15.5

                                             
Financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value                                            

Outstanding non-current bonds   24                   744.0   744.0   759.5   –   –   759.5

Other non-current borrowings   24                   1.0   1.0                

 

Other non-current liabilities 
(excluding non-current 
derivative liabilities and 
contingent considerations) 1)                       2.1   2.1                

Outstanding current bonds   24                   299.9   299.9   299.7   –   –   299.7

Other current borrowings and 
bank loans   24                   12.1   12.1                

Trade accounts payable                       388.2   388.2                

Other current liabilities 
(excluding current derivative 
liabilities, other taxes and 
contingent considerations)   26                   465.8   465.8                
Total financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value       –   –   –   –   1’913.1   1’913.1   1’059.2   –   –   1’059.2

1) The liability for the purchase price not yet paid of CHF 5.6m was reclassified as contingent consideration related to a change in accounting policy.
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6 Personnel expenses

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Salaries and wages   868.0   889.3

Defined contribution plan expenses   32.9   33.5

Defined benefit plan expenses   13.8   21.1

Cost of share-based payment transactions   18.4   13.4

Social benefit costs   127.4   123.8

Other personnel costs   34.1   36.7

Total personnel expenses   1’094.7   1’117.9
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7 Employee benefit plans

The present value of the defined benefit obligations and costs of the defined benefits are calculated 

using the projected unit credit method. For active members the calculation considers future salary 

increases, future pension increases as well as the probability of departures, and for retirees, current 

and future pension benefits considering future pension increases.

Reconciliation of the amount recognized in the balance sheet as of December 31

    2025

millions of CHF  
Funded plans 

Switzerland  

Funded plans 
United 

Kingdom  
Funded plans 

USA  
Funded plans 

others  
Unfunded 

plans   Total

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation   –707.3   –301.3   –41.0   –76.7   –   –1’126.3

Fair value of plan assets (funded plans)   878.3   245.1   40.7   55.0   –   1’219.2

Overfunding / (underfunding)   171.0   –56.2   –0.3   –21.6   –   92.9

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation   –   –   –   –   –9.1   –9.1

Adjustment to asset ceiling   –   –   –   –0.1   –   –0.1

Net asset / (liability) recognized in the balance 
sheet   171.0   –56.2   –0.3   –21.7   –9.1   83.7

– thereof defined benefit obligations   –   –56.2   –0.8   –27.0   –9.1   –93.0

– thereof defined benefit assets   171.0   –   0.5   5.3   –   176.8

    2024

millions of CHF  
Funded plans 

Switzerland  

Funded plans 
United 

Kingdom  
Funded plans 

USA  
Funded plans 

others  
Unfunded 

plans   Total

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation   –759.7   –323.9   –46.7   –81.6   –   –1’211.9

Fair value of plan assets (funded plans)   899.9   258.9   44.5   56.9   –   1’260.2

Overfunding / (underfunding)   140.2   –65.0   –2.2   –24.7   –   48.3

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation   –   –   –   –   –10.4 – –10.4

Adjustment to asset ceiling   –   –   –   –0.0   – – –0.0

Net asset / (liability) recognized in the balance 
sheet   140.2   –65.0   –2.2   –24.7   –10.4   37.9

– thereof defined benefit obligations   –   –65.0   –2.3   –28.4   –10.4   –106.1

– thereof defined benefit assets   140.2   –   0.1   3.7   –   144.0

The group operates major funded defined benefit pension plans in Switzerland, the UK and the USA. 

The main unfunded defined benefit plan is a German pension benefit plan. The plans are exposed to 

actuarial risks, e.g., longevity risk, currency risk and interest rate risk, and the funded plans 

additionally to market (investment) risk.

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Financial reporting – Notes to the consolidated financial statements 121



In Switzerland, the group contributes to two pension plans funded via two different pension funds, i.e., 

a base plan for all employees and a supplementary plan for employees with salaries exceeding a 

certain limit. Both plans provide benefits depending on the pension savings at retirement. They 

include certain legal minimum interest credits to the pension savings (i.e., investment return) and 

guaranteed rates of conversion of pension savings into an annuity at retirement. In addition, the plans 

offer death in service and disability benefits. The two pension funds are collective funds administrating 

pension plans of group companies and also unrelated companies. In case of a material underfunding 

of the pension plans, the regulations include predefined steps, such as higher contributions by 

employer and employees or lower interest on pension savings, to eliminate the underfunding. The 

pension funds are legally separated from the group. The vast majority of the active participants in the 

two pension funds are employed by companies not belonging to the group. The Board of Trustees for 

the base plan comprises nine employee representatives and nine employer representatives. The 

discount rate in 2025 increased compared to 2024 (from 1.0% to 1.3% for active employees and from 

0.9% to 1.1% for pensioners). In 2025 and 2024, there was no gain or loss from the change in effect 

of asset ceiling recorded in other comprehensive income (OCI) related to the Swiss pension plans. 

The net pension asset increased from CHF 140.2 million to CHF 171.0 million. The total expenses 

recognized in the income statement in 2025 amounted to CHF 9.2 million (2024: CHF 15.7 million). In 

2025, the group recognized a curtailment adjustment which arose from a reduction in the number of 

plan participants eligible for future benefits. This event resulted in a gain of CHF 4.2m within past 

service costs. In 2024, the past service costs included an expense related to a plan amendment to 

both of the pension plans, which consisted of an increase in the conversion rate.

In the UK, the plan is a final salary plan and provides benefits linked to salary at closure to future 

accrual adjusted for inflation to retirement or earlier date of leaving service. The scheme is fully closed 

to new entrants and future accruals. The scheme is managed by eight trustees forming the Board. The 

plan is a multiemployer scheme with Sulzer (UK) Holding being the principal sponsor. The discount 

rate decreased in 2025 by 0.1 percentage points to 5.5% (2024: 5.6%). The net pension liability 

decreased from CHF 65.0 million in 2024 to CHF 56.2 million in 2025, with a gain recognized in OCI 

amounting to CHF 0.1 million (2024: gain of CHF 11.8 million). In 2025, the total expenses recognized 

in the income statement amounted on (2024: CHF 3.7 million). to CHF 3.3 milli

In the USA, the group operates non-contributory defined benefit retirement plans. The salaried plans 

provide benefits that are based on years of service and the employee’s compensation, averaged over 

the five highest consecutive years preceding retirement. The hourly plans’ benefits are based on years 

of service and a flat dollar benefit multiplier. All plans are closed to new entrants. The discount rate 

decreased in 2025 to 5.1% (2024: 5.4%). The net pension liability decreased from CHF 2.2 million in 

2024 to CHF 0.3 million in 2025 with a gain recognized in OCI amounting to CHF 1.0 million (2024: 

gain of CHF 8.0 million). The total expenses recognized in 2025 amounted to CHF 0.2 million (2024: 

CHF 0.9 million).

In Germany, the group operates a range of different defined benefit pension plans, with one unfunded 

plan and two funded plans. All defined benefit plans are closed for new entrants and a new defined 

contribution plan for all employees was introduced in 2007. Existing employees who participated in 

the defined benefit plans continued to be eligible for these defined benefit pensions but also became 

eligible for the new defined contribution pensions. However, benefits received under the defined 

contribution plan are offset against the benefits under the defined benefit plans. The different defined 

benefit plans offer retirement pension, disability pension and survivor’s pension benefits.

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Financial reporting – Notes to the consolidated financial statements 122



Employee benefit plans

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Reconciliation of effect of asset ceiling        

Adjustment to asset ceiling at January 1   –   –

Interest (expenses) / income on effect of asset ceiling   –   –

Change in effect of asset ceiling excl. interest (expenses) / income   –0.1   –0.0

Currency translation differences   0.0   0.0

Adjustment to asset ceiling at December 31   –0.1   –

         

Reconciliation of net asset / (liability) recognized in the balance sheet        

Net asset / (liability) recognized at January 1   37.9   43.2

Defined benefit income / (expenses) recognized in the income statement   –17.3   –24.3

Defined benefit income / (expenses) recognized in OCI   31.7   –2.4

Employer contributions   25.7   26.3

Reclassification   –   –0.0

Currency translation differences   5.7   –4.9

Net asset / (liability) recognized at December 31   83.7   37.9

         

Components of defined benefit income / (expenses) in the income 
statement        

Current service costs (employer)   –17.3   –15.8

Past service costs   3.8   –4.7

Gains and (losses) on settlement   –0.0   –0.2

Interest expenses   –29.3   –32.2

Interest income on plan assets   25.8   29.0

Interest expenses / (income) on effect of asset ceiling   –0.0   –

Other administrative costs   –0.3   –0.4

Income / (expenses) recognized in the income statement   –17.3   –24.3

– thereof charged to personnel expenses   –13.8   –21.1

– thereof charged to interest income / (expenses), net   –3.5   –3.2

         

Components of defined benefit gains / (losses) in OCI        

Actuarial gains / (losses) on defined benefit obligation   –6.4   –19.5

Returns on plan assets excl. interest income   38.1   17.0

Changes in effect of asset ceiling excl. interest expenses / (income)   –0.1   –0.0

Returns on reimbursement right excl. interest income / (expenses)   0.2   0.1

Others   –0.1   –

 Defined benefit gains / (losses) recognized in OCI 1)   31.7   –2.4

1) The tax effect on defined benefit cost recognized in OCI amounted to CHF 5.7 million (2024: CHF 3.3 million).
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Employee benefit plans

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation (funded and unfunded plans)        

Defined benefit obligation as of January 1   –1’222.3   –1’220.0

Interest expenses   –29.3   –32.2

Current service costs (employer)   –17.3   –15.8

Past service costs   3.8   –4.7

Contributions by plan participants   –8.5   –8.5

Benefits paid / (deposited)   117.3   100.9

Gains and (losses) on settlement   –0.0   –0.2

Other administrative costs   –0.3   –0.4

Actuarial gains / (losses)   –6.4   –19.5

Reclassification   –   –0.0

Currency translation differences   27.7   –22.0

Defined benefit obligation as of December 31   –1’135.4   –1’222.3

         

Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets        

Fair value of plan assets as of January 1   1’260.2   1’263.2

Interest income on plan assets   25.8   29.0

Employer contributions   25.7   26.3

Contributions by plan participants   8.5   8.5

Benefits (paid) / deposited   –117.3   –100.8

Returns on plan assets excl. interest income   38.1   17.0

Currency translation differences   –21.9   17.0

Fair value of plan assets as of December 31   1’219.2   1’260.2

         

Total plan assets at fair value – quoted market price        

Cash and cash equivalents   60.6   45.4

Equity instruments   249.1   261.1

Debt instruments   256.7   275.8

Real estate funds   16.1   18.7

Investment funds   4.8   5.5

Others   70.1   74.3

Total assets at fair value – quoted market price as of December 31   657.4   680.7

         

Total plan assets at fair value – non-quoted market price        

Properties occupied by or used by third parties (real estate)   275.7   275.6

Others   286.0   303.9

Total assets at fair value – non-quoted market price as of December 31   561.8   579.5

         

Best estimate of contributions for upcoming financial year        

Contributions by the employer   25.2   27.0
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Employee benefit plans

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Components of defined benefit obligation, split        

Defined benefit obligation for active members   –267.0   –278.1

Defined benefit obligation for pensioners   –723.1   –753.9

Defined benefit obligation for deferred members   –145.2   –190.3

Total defined benefit obligation as of December 31   –1’135.4   –1’222.3

         

Components of actuarial gains / (losses) on obligations        

Actuarial gains / (losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions   16.6   –4.7

Actuarial gains / (losses) arising from changes in demographic assumptions   –0.1   5.6

Actuarial gains / (losses) arising from experience adjustments   –22.9   –20.4

Total actuarial gains / (losses) on defined benefit obligation   –6.4   –19.5

         

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation        

Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation in years   10.1   10.6

The defined benefit obligations for the Swiss and UK pension plans represent 88.8% (2024: 88.6%) of 

the group. The following significant actuarial assumptions were used for these two countries:

Principal actuarial assumptions as of December 31

    2025   2024

   
Funded plans 

Switzerland  
Funded plans 

United Kingdom  
Funded plans 

Switzerland  
Funded plans 

United Kingdom

Discount rate for active employees   1.3%   n/a   1.0%   n/a

Discount rate for pensioners   1.1%   5.5%   0.9%   5.6%

Future salary increases   2.3%   n/a   2.3%   n/a

Future pension increases   0.0%   2.6%   0.0%   2.7%

Life expectancy at retirement age (male / female) in 
years   22/24   21/24   22/24   21/24
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Sensitivity analysis of defined benefit obligations

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Discount rate (decrease 0.25 percentage points)   –28.9   –32.7

Discount rate (increase 0.25 percentage points)   27.6   31.0

Future salary growth (decrease 0.25 percentage points)   2.2   2.2

Future salary growth (increase 0.25 percentage points)   –2.2   –2.8

Life expectancy (decrease 1 year)   58.0   65.3

Life expectancy (increase 1 year)   –59.5   –64.4

Negative amounts in the above table indicate an increase in defined benefit obligations, positive 

amounts indicate a decrease in defined benefit obligations. The sensitivity analysis is based on 

reasonably possible changes of the significant actuarial assumptions as of year end. The sensitivities 

provided are based on the change in one assumption while holding the other assumptions 

unchanged. Interdependencies were not considered.
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8 Research and development expenses

A breakdown of the research and development expenses per division is shown in the table below:

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Flow   40.1   39.1

Services   5.9   1.6

Chemtech   31.6   35.7

Total   77.6   76.4
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9 Other operating income and expenses

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Income from release of contingent consideration   3.9   2.0

Gain from sale of property, plant and equipment   1.2   1.2

Gain from sale of intangible assets   1.0   –

Gain from disposal of associates   3.7   –

Total other operating income   9.9   3.2

         

Cost for mergers and acquisitions   –1.0   –1.9

Loss from sale of property, plant and equipment   –0.3   –0.9

Loss from deconsolidation of subsidiaries   –   –0.1

Operating currency exchange losses, net   –16.8   –4.4

Other operating expenses   –3.3   –1.9

Total other operating expenses   –21.4   –9.2

         

Total other operating income / (expenses), net   –11.5   –6.0

In 2025, other operating income includes CHF 1.2 million gain from sale of property, plant and 

equipment, CHF 1.0 million gain from sale of intangible assets, CHF 3.9 million income from a release 

of a contingent consideration (see ) and CHF 3.7 million profit from disposal of  Tamturbo Oyi 

(see .

note 3

note 15)

In 2024, other operating income includes CHF 1.2 million gain from sale of property, plant and 

equipment and CHF 2.0 million income from a partial release of a contingent consideration (see 

).

note 

3

In 2025 and 2024 other operating expenses includes mainly currency exchange losses on operating 

assets and liabilities and expenses from litigation cases and other taxes.
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10 Financial income and expenses

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Interest and securities income   10.0   17.3

Interest income on employee benefit plans   1.6   2.4

Total interest and securities income   11.6   19.6

Interest expenses on borrowings and lease liabilities   –24.4   –23.8

Interest expenses on employee benefit plans   –5.1   –5.5

Total interest expenses   –29.5   –29.3

Total interest income / (expenses), net   –17.9   –9.7

         

Income from investments and other financial assets   0.5   0.0

Fair value changes   –5.4   –12.7

Other financial income / (expenses), net   0.5   –0.0

Currency exchange gains / (losses), net   –12.3   –2.8

Total other financial income / (expenses), net   –16.7   –15.5

         

Total financial income / (expenses), net   –34.6   –25.2

- thereof fair value changes on financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss   –5.4   –12.7

- thereof other income / (expenses) from financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss   0.5   0.0

- thereof interest income on financial assets at amortized costs   10.0   17.3

- thereof other financial income / (expenses), net   0.5   –0.0

- thereof currency exchange gains / (losses), net   –12.3   –2.8

- thereof interest expenses on borrowings   –20.8   –20.8

- thereof interest expenses on lease liabilities   –3.6   –3.0

- thereof interest expenses on employee benefit plans, net   –3.5   –3.2

In 2025, the total financial expenses, net amounted to CHF 34.6 million, compared with CHF 25.2 

million in 2024.

The total interest and securities income amounted to CHF 11.6 million (2024: CHF 19.6 million), 

including interest income on employee benefit plans of CHF 1.6 million (2024: CHF 2.4 million).

The line “Fair value changesˮ mainly includes fair value changes of derivative financial instruments 

used as hedging instruments to hedge foreign exchange risks amounting to CHF 6.9 million (2024: 

CHF 13.0 million) as well as gains from fair value changes of investments in financial instruments 

classified at fair value through profit or loss.

Currency exchange gains / losses are related to foreign currency differences of assets and liabilities 

that are not directly used for business related activities (financing activities or other support functions) 

recorded at the prevailing rate at the time of acquisition (or preceding year-end closing rate) as 

against the current balance sheet rate.
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11 Income taxes

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Current income tax expenses   –85.2   –102.9

Deferred income tax (expenses) income   –6.3   14.7

Pillar II tax expenses   –0.9   –

Total income tax expenses   –92.4   –88.2

The weighted average tax rate results from applying each subsidiary’s statutory income tax rate to the 

income before taxes. Since the group operates in countries that have differing tax laws and rates, the 

consolidated weighted average effective tax rate may vary from year to year according to variations in 

income per country and changes in applicable tax rates.

Reconciliation of income tax expenses

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Income before income tax expenses   387.1   353.5

Weighted average tax rate   20.6%   22.0%

Income taxes at weighted average tax rate   –79.7   –77.9

Income taxed at different tax rates   –21.5   –25.5

Effect of tax loss carryforwards and allowances for deferred income tax 
assets   1.5   4.4

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes   –0.6   –1.2

Effect of changes in tax rates and legislation   –0.6   1.0

Prior year items and others   8.4   11.0

Total income tax expenses   –92.4   –88.2

Effective income tax rate   23.9%   24.9%

The effective income tax rate for 2025 was 23.9% (2024: 24.9%). In 2025, the effective income tax 

rate was impacted by income taxed at different tax rates in the amount of CHF 21.5 million due to 

participation exemptions on dividend income and withholding taxes on dividends, trademark royalties 

and interests.

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes in the amount of CHF 0.6 million mainly relate to 

disallowances of group charges for services, financing and other expenses in Mexico, India and 

Indonesia.

The effect of tax loss carryforwards and the related allowances for deferred income tax assets 

amounted to CHF 1.5 million and primarily reflects the utilization of tax losses under the U.S. 

Consolidated Federal Income Tax regime.

Prior‑year items and other reconciling effects include tax benefits of CHF 8.0 million arising from the 

increased Foreign Tax Credit and the Foreign‑Derived Deduction Eligible Income introduced by the 

U.S. One Big Beautiful Bill Act. In addition, this reconciling item comprises current tax refunds and 

receivables related to the Research and Development super‑deduction in China (CHF 3.0 million), as 

well as refunds from Research and Development tax credits in Brazil (CHF 2.6 million) and the United 

Kingdom (CHF 0.7 million).
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The effective income tax rate for 2024 was 24.9% impacted by income taxed at different tax rates in 

the amount of CHF 25.5 million due to participation exemptions on dividend income and withholding 

taxes on dividends, trademark royalties and interests. Expenses not deductible for tax purposes in the 

amount of CHF 1.2 million mainly related to disallowances of group charges for services, financing 

and other expenses in India, Mexico, the UK and the USA. Effect of tax loss carryforwards and 

allowances for deferred income tax assets related to the utilization of tax losses in Germany, Ireland, 

UK and the USA due to the positive business development. Prior year items and others include 

current tax refunds and receivables from a Mutual Agreement Procedure in Switzerland (CHF 2.3 

million), Research and Development super-deduction in China (CHF 1.5 million) and the refunds from 

Research and Development tax credit in Brazil and the USA. Additionally, a deferred income tax asset 

of CHF 2.1 million was recognized on a step-up in relation to the Swiss Corporate Tax Reform (TRAF) 

enacted in prior periods.

Summary of deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the balance sheet

    2025   2024

millions of CHF   Assets   Liabilities   Net   Assets   Liabilities   Net

Intangible assets   18.9   –48.2   –29.3   20.9   –55.0   –34.2

Property, plant and equipment   8.4   –12.4   –4.0   4.8   –16.2   –11.5

Other financial assets   7.6   –2.0   5.5   12.6   –0.9   11.7

Inventories   22.0   –2.5   19.5   26.4   –3.8   22.6

Other assets   20.8   –48.7   –27.8   15.6   –44.0   –28.4

Defined benefit obligations   16.9   –3.4   13.5   21.4   –2.6   18.7

Non-current provisions   7.5   –   7.5   6.4   –   6.4

Current provisions   22.4   –1.1   21.3   23.7   –0.7   23.0

Other liabilities   34.0   –12.2   21.9   52.7   –11.5   41.2

Tax loss carryforwards   34.0   –   34.0   35.1   –   35.1

Elimination of intercompany profits   0.6   –   0.6   0.8   –   0.8

Tax assets / liabilities   193.0   –130.6   62.5   220.4   –134.8   85.6

                         

Offset of assets and liabilities   –60.9   60.9   –   –66.9   66.9   –

                         

Net recorded deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities   132.1   –69.6   62.5   153.6   –67.9   85.6

Cumulative deferred income taxes recorded in equity as of December 31, 2025, amounted to  CHF –

13.9 million (2024: CHF –4.8 million). The group does not recognize any deferred taxes on investments 

in subsidiaries because it controls the dividend policy of its subsidiaries – i.e., the group controls the 

timing of reversal of the related taxable temporary differences and management is satisfied that no 

material amounts will reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Movement of deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the balance sheet

    2025

millions of CHF  
Balance as of 

January 1  
Recognized in 

profit or loss  

Recognized in 
other 

comprehensive 
income  

Acquired 
through 

business 
combination  

Currency 
translation 
differences  

Balance as 
of December 

31

Intangible assets   –34.2   3.4   –   –0.5   2.0   –29.3

Property, plant and equipment   –11.5   6.7   –   –   0.8   –4.0

Other financial assets   11.7   –4.9   –   –   –1.3   5.5

Inventories   22.6   –2.0   –   –   –1.1   19.5

Other assets   –28.4   9.3   –8.4   –   –0.4   –27.8

Defined benefit obligations   18.7   –3.8   –0.7   –   –0.7   13.5

Non-current provisions   6.4   1.8   –   –   –0.7   7.5

Current provisions   23.0   –0.4   –   –   –1.4   21.3

Other liabilities   41.2   –17.1   –   –   –2.2   21.9

Tax loss carryforwards   35.1   0.9   –   –   –2.0   34.0

Elimination of intercompany profits   0.8   –0.2   –   –   –   0.6

Total   85.6   –6.3   –9.1   –0.5   –7.1   62.5

    2024

millions of CHF  
Balance as of 

January 1  
Recognized in 

profit or loss  

Recognized in 
other 

comprehensive 
income  

Acquired 
through 

business 
combination  

Currency 
translation 
differences  

Balance as 
of December 

31

Intangible assets   –37.4   5.3   –   –0.9   –1.2   –34.2

Property, plant and equipment   –8.4   –2.5   –   –   –0.6   –11.5

Other financial assets   15.6   –4.9   –   –   1.0   11.7

Inventories   25.1   –3.3   –   –   0.8   22.6

Other assets   –32.1   –9.5   12.9   –   0.4   –28.4

Defined benefit obligations   21.7   1.2   –5.1   –   0.9   18.7

Non-current provisions   9.5   –3.6   –   –   0.4   6.4

Current provisions   22.4   0.3   –   –   0.3   23.0

Other liabilities   21.3   20.3   –   –   –0.5   41.2

Tax loss carryforwards   23.1   11.4   –   –   0.7   35.1

Elimination of intercompany profits   1.0   –0.2   –   –   –   0.8

Total   61.8   14.7   7.8   –0.9   2.2   85.6
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Tax loss carryforwards (TLCF)

    2025

millions of CHF   Amount  
Potential tax 

assets  
Valuation 

allowance  
Carrying 
amount  

Unrecognized 
TLCF

Expiring in the next 3 years   15.8   3.7   –0.6   3.1   1.5

Expiring in 4–7 years   8.1   1.4   –1.0   0.4   4.2

Available without limitation   230.2   43.6   –13.1   30.5   88.9

Total tax loss carryforwards as of December 31   254.1   48.7   –14.6   34.0   94.7

    2024

millions of CHF   Amount  
Potential tax 

assets  
Valuation 

allowance  
Carrying 
amount  

Unrecognized 
TLCF

Expiring in the next 3 years   0.3   0.0   –   0.0   –

Expiring in 4–7 years   10.6   2.6   –0.0   2.6   0.1

Available without limitation   237.5   43.9   –11.4   32.5   88.7

Total tax loss carryforwards as of December 31   248.3   46.6   –11.4   35.1   88.8

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carryforwards to the extent that the realization 

of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. No deferred income tax assets 

have been recognized on tax loss carryforwards in the amount of CHF 94.7 million (2024: CHF 88.8 

million) or on some step-ups in relation with the Swiss corporate tax reform (TRAF), which entered into 

effect on January 1, 2020.

Global minimum top-up tax

Sulzer is subject to the global minimum top-up tax under Pillar Two legislation. The top-up tax relates 

to subsidiaries in Bahrain, Ireland, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates, where the statutory tax rate is 

below 15% and top-up tax is levied on Sulzer under the Income Inclusion Rule or domestic minimum 

top-up tax. Sulzer benefits from transitional safe harbors in 44 countries. The Group recognized a 

current tax expense of CH 0.9 million related to the top-up tax (2024: nil).

The Group has applied the temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for the impacts of 

the top-up tax. The Group recognizes the top-up tax as a current tax when it incurs.
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12 Goodwill and other intangible assets

    2025

millions of CHF   Goodwill  
Trademarks 
and licenses  

Research and 
development  

Computer 
software  

Customer 
relationship   Total

Acquisition cost                        

Balance as of January 1   1’001.4   93.6   21.5   60.6   385.9   1’563.1

Acquired through business combination   7.6   0.5   –   0.0   7.2   15.3

Additions   –   0.0   0.0   2.9   0.7   3.6

Disposals   –   –0.1   –   –0.3   –0.1   –0.5

Reclassifications   –   0.0   3.4   0.1   –   3.5

Currency translation differences   –16.6   –5.5   –0.3   –1.9   –8.4   –32.7
Balance as of December 31   992.3   88.6   24.7   61.4   385.3   1’552.2

                         
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses                        

Balance as of January 1   340.0   61.6   12.0   35.7   273.9   723.2

 Additions 1)   –   8.0   2.2   5.7   24.3   40.2

Disposals   –   –0.1   –   –0.3   –0.0   –0.4

Impairments   –   –   4.5   –   –   4.5

Currency translation differences   8.3   –3.7   –0.1   –1.4   –5.5   –2.6
Balance as of December 31   348.3   65.8   18.5   39.6   292.7   764.8

                         
Net book value                        

As of January 1   661.4   32.1   9.5   24.9   112.1   839.9

As of December 31   644.1   22.8   6.2   21.7   92.7   787.4

1) In the consolidated income statement, the amortization expense for trademark and licenses is recognized in “Research and development expense” and in “Selling and distribution 
expense”, the amortization expense for Customer relationship is primarily recognized in “Selling and distribution expense”.

    2024

millions of CHF   Goodwill  
Trademarks 
and licenses  

Research and 
development  

Computer 
software  

Customer 
relationship   Total

Acquisition cost                        

Balance as of January 1   977.9   88.0   18.6   53.4   378.5   1’516.3

Acquired through business combination   10.8   2.4   0.6   –   3.9   17.8

Additions   –   0.1   2.2   6.6   0.9   9.7

Disposals   –   –0.0   –   –0.4   –1.5   –1.9

Reclassifications   –   –   –   0.4   –   0.4

Currency translation differences   12.6   3.2   0.1   0.6   4.2   20.8
Balance as of December 31   1’001.4   93.6   21.5   60.6   385.9   1’563.1

                         
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses                        

Balance as of January 1   340.0   51.3   10.6   31.5   248.1   681.5

 Additions 1)   –   8.1   1.4   4.2   24.8   38.5

Disposals   –   –0.0   –   –0.4   –1.5   –1.9

Currency translation differences   –   2.2   0.0   0.3   2.5   5.1
Balance as of December 31   340.0   61.6   12.0   35.7   273.9   723.2

                         
Net book value                        

As of January 1   637.9   36.6   8.0   21.8   130.4   834.8

As of December 31   661.4   32.1   9.5   24.9   112.1   839.9

1) In the consolidated income statement, the amortization expense for trademark and licenses is recognized in “Research and development expense” and in “Selling and distribution 
expense”, the amortization expense for Customer relationship is primarily recognized in “Selling and distribution expense”.
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Goodwill impairment test

    2025

millions of CHF   Goodwill   Headroom  
Growth rate 

residual value  
Pretax discount 

rate

Flow   373.7   597.4   2.0%   11.7%

Services   191.1   996.4   2.0%   13.4%

Chemtech   79.3   1’120.3   2.0%   10.9%

Total as of December 31   644.1   2’714.1        

    2024

millions of CHF   Goodwill   Headroom  
Growth rate 

residual value  
Pretax discount 

rate

Flow   375.4   647.7   2.0%   12.7%

Services   202.1   1’087.1   2.0%   14.1%

Chemtech   83.9   1’085.8   2.0%   11.9%

Total as of December 31   661.4   2’820.7        

Goodwill is allocated to the smallest cash-generating unit (CGU) at which goodwill is monitored for 

internal management purposes (i.e., division). The recoverable amount has been determined based on 

a value-in-use calculation. A five-year strategic plan approved by the Board of Directors in February 

2024 forms the basis for the projected cash flows. Cash flows beyond the planning period are 

extrapolated using a terminal value including a growth rate as stated above.

The calculated value-in-use exceeded the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit with a 

substantial margin (i.e., headroom) and an update of the impairment test at the end of the year would 

not have resulted in any goodwill impairment. As of December 31, 2025, there is no indication of a 

goodwill impairment.

Sensitivity analyses

The recoverable amount from cash-generating units is measured on the basis of value-in-use 

calculations significantly impacted by the terminal growth rate used to determine the residual value, 

the discount rate and the projected cash flows. The table above shows the amount by which the 

estimated recoverable amount of the CGU exceeds its carrying amount (headroom).

Sensitivity analyses were performed with regards to key assumptions, that would not change the 

conclusions of the impairment test. An increase of the discount rate by 5.0 percentage points or a 

decrease of the terminal growth rate by 5.0 percentage points would still lead to a recoverable 

amount exceeding the carrying amount for all CGU’s.
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13 Property, plant and equipment

    2025

millions of CHF  
Land and 
buildings  

Machinery and 
technical 

equipment  

Other 
property, plant 
and equipment  

Assets under 
construction   Total

Acquisition cost                    

Balance as of January 1   342.1   494.4   172.0   58.8   1’067.3

Acquired through business combination   0.3   0.3   0.1   -   0.7

Additions   2.0   13.7   7.5   66.8   90.0

Disposals   –4.2   –8.5   –9.5   –2.5   –24.8

Reclassifications   12.5   31.5   6.9   –54.4   –3.5

Currency translation differences   –26.9   –34.2   –9.5   –4.1   –74.7
Balance as of December 31   325.8   497.2   167.4   64.5   1’055.0

                     
Accumulated depreciation                    

Balance as of January 1   166.0   362.9   143.7   6.9   679.6

Additions   10.6   25.4   9.9   -   45.8

Disposals   –3.9   –7.8   –9.4   –2.5   –23.6

Reclassifications   0.2   –0.2   –0.0   -   –0.0

Currency translation differences   –12.5   –25.0   –7.5   –0.0   –45.1
Balance as of December 31   160.3   355.3   136.6   4.4   656.7

                     
Net book value                    

As of January 1   176.1   131.5   28.2   51.9   387.8

As of December 31   165.5   141.9   30.8   60.1   398.2

    2024

millions of CHF  
Land and 
buildings  

Machinery and 
technical 

equipment  

Other 
property, plant 
and equipment  

Assets under 
construction   Total

Acquisition cost                    

Balance as of January 1   314.6   459.4   165.6   39.9   979.5

Acquired through business combination   3.5   1.3   0.1   -   4.9

Additions   4.2   18.3   7.8   52.4   82.7

Disposals   –0.8   –11.8   –11.5   –   –24.1

Reclassifications   10.5   16.0   6.8   –34.3   –1.0

Currency translation differences   10.1   11.3   3.1   0.8   25.3
Balance as of December 31   342.1   494.4   172.0   58.8   1’067.3

                     
Accumulated depreciation                    

Balance as of January 1   150.4   338.7   139.7   2.4   631.3

Additions   9.5   27.0   11.0   -   47.5

Disposals   –0.3   –10.3   –10.3   -   –20.9

Reclassifications   1.6   –1.6   0.0   -   –0.0

Impairments   -   -   -   4.5   4.5

Currency translation differences   4.8   9.1   3.4   –0.0   17.2
Balance as of December 31   166.0   362.9   143.7   6.9   679.6

                     
Net book value                    

As of January 1   164.2   120.6   25.9   37.5   348.2

As of December 31   176.1   131.5   28.2   51.9   387.8
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In 2025, the group sold property, plant and equipment with a book value of CHF 1.1 million for CHF 

2.1 million resulting in a net gain of CHF 0.9 million (2024: property, plant and equipment with a book 

value of CHF 3.2 million was sold for CHF 3.5 million, resulting in a net gain of CHF 0.3 million).

In 2024, an impairment of machinery and equipment under construction amounting to CHF 4.5 million 

was booked in one of the service centers, it was recorded within cost of goods sold.

The contractual commitments to acquire property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2025, 

amounted to CHF 8.0 million (December 31, 2024: CHF 9.8 million).
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14 Leases

Lease assets

    2025

millions of CHF  
Land and 

buildings, leased  

Machinery and 
technical 

equipment, leased  
Other non-current 

assets, leased   Total

Balance as of January 1   80.8   7.4   17.1   105.2

Acquired through business combination   1.0   –   0.1   1.1

Additions   26.7   2.3   10.3   39.2

Disposals   –0.7   –0.0   –0.1   –0.8

Depreciation   –22.2   –2.5   –7.9   –32.6

Remeasurements and contract modifications   3.3   –   0.1   3.4

Currency translation differences   –4.1   –0.7   –0.5   –5.2

Total lease assets as of December 31   84.7   6.5   19.1   110.3

    2024

millions of CHF  
Land and 

buildings, leased  

Machinery and 
technical 

equipment, leased  
Other non-current 

assets, leased   Total

Balance as of January 1   74.1   5.7   13.4   93.2

Acquired through business combination   0.0   0.4   0.0   0.5

Additions   24.2   3.6   10.6   38.4

Depreciation   –20.0   –2.3   –7.4   –29.7

Remeasurements and contract modifications   0.4   –0.3   0.2   0.4

Currency translation differences   2.2   0.3   0.3   2.8

Total lease assets as of December 31   80.8   7.4   17.1   105.2
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Lease liabilities

    2025   2024

Balance as of January 1   104.9   93.0

Acquired through business combination   1.1   0.5

Additions   39.2   38.4

Interest expenses   3.6   3.0

Cash flow for repayments – principal portion   –33.4   –29.7

Cash flow for repayments – interest portion   –3.6   –3.0

Remeasurements and contract modifications   3.9   0.3

Currency translation differences   –5.1   2.4

Total lease liabilities as of December 31   110.6   104.9

- thereof non-current lease liabilities   81.7   78.3

- thereof current lease liabilities   28.9   26.6

The group leases land and buildings used for production, storage or office space. The terms are 

typically fixed for a period of three to five years. Various lease contracts for buildings contain 

extension options, providing the group with operational flexibility and planning security. Extension 

options are included in the measurement of the lease liability and the lease assets only if Management 

assesses these extension options as reasonably certain to be exercised.

Other leasing disclosures

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Recognized in the income statement        

Expenses relating to short-term leases   –18.5   –17.1

Expenses relating to low-value asset leases, excluding short-term leases of 
low-value assets   –0.5   –1.0

Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included in the lease liability   –3.7   –2.9

Income from subleasing right-of-use assets   0.3   0.4

Interest expenses on lease liabilities   –3.6   –3.0

Total recognized in the income statement   –26.0   –23.6

         

Recognized in the statement of cash flows        

Cash flow for short-term, low-value asset and variable leases (included within 
cash flow from operating activities)   –22.7   –21.0

Cash flow from subleasing right-of-use assets (included within cash flow from 
operating activities)   0.3   0.4

Cash flow for repayments of interest on lease liabilities (included within cash 
flow from operating activities)   –3.6   –3.0

Cash flow for repayments of the principal portion on lease liabilities (included 
within cash flow from financing activities)   –33.4   –29.7

Total cash outflow   –59.4   –53.2
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15 Associates and joint ventures

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Balance as of January 1   53.0   54.7

Impairment 1)   –10.1   –

Acquired through business combination   0.1   –

Disposal   –2.5   –

Share of profit / (loss) of associates and joint ventures   –1.3   –3.8

Dividend payments received   –   –0.1

Currency translation differences   –2.0   2.1

Total investments in associates and joint ventures as of December 31   37.1   53.0

- thereof investments in associates:   36.9   52.8

- thereof investments in joint ventures:   0.2   0.2

1) Impairment has been reported in the consolidated income statement within line share of profit / (loss) of associates and joint ventures.

In March 2025, the Group sold its shares in Tamturbo Oyi for CHF 6.8 million which resulted in a net 

gain of CHF 3.7 million in other operating income. In 2025, Sulzer recorded an impairment loss of CHF 

8.0 million related to its shareholding in Fuenix Ecogy Holding B.V.
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16 Other financial assets

    2025

millions of CHF  

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss  

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

other 
comprehensive 

income  
Financial assets at 

amortized costs   Total

Balance as of January 1   23.0   4.7   3.5   31.2

Additions   0.5   –   0.5   1.0

Repayments   –0.4   –   –0.3   –0.6

Changes in fair value   0.3   1.3   –   1.6

Currency translation differences   –0.8   –0.0   –0.2   –1.0

Balance as of December 31   22.6   6.0   3.4   32.0

– thereof non-current   22.6   6.0   3.3   31.9

– thereof current   0.0   –   0.1   0.1

    2024

millions of CHF  

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss  

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

other 
comprehensive 

income  
Financial assets at 

amortized costs   Total

Balance as of January 1   23.8   9.5   7.4   40.7

Acquired through business combination   –   –   0.2   0.2

Additions   0.8   1.3   –   2.1

Repayments   –1.6   –   –4.2   –5.8

Changes in fair value   –0.1   –6.1   0.0   –6.2

Currency translation differences   0.0   –   0.2   0.2

Balance as of December 31   23.0   4.7   3.5   31.2

– thereof non-current   22.4   4.7   3.2   30.2

– thereof current   0.6   –   0.4   1.0

Financial assets that belong to the category “financial assets at fair value through profit or lossˮ
include investments in equity securities.

The financial assets in the category “financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

incomeˮ are primarily comprised of medmix shares amounting to CHF 5.6 million (2024: CHF 4.4 

million), which were received as part of the Applicator Systems spin-off in 2021. The financial 

investment in medmix Ltd is recognized at its fair value based on the share price of medmix Ltd (a 

level 1 hierarchy valuation). Management has designated this investment at fair value through other 

comprehensive income at initial recognition. In 2025, fair value changes of financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income amounting to CHF 1.3 million (2024: CHF –6.1 million) were 

recorded in other comprehensive income, with an associated deferred tax effect of CHF 0.3 million 

(2024: CHF 1.2 million). The dividend received amounted to CHF 0.2 million (2024: CHF 0.2 million).
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17 Inventories

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Raw materials, supplies and consumables   169.5   160.7

Work in progress   260.1   282.5

Finished products and trade merchandise   71.1   71.9

Total inventories as of December 31   500.7   515.1

In 2025, the group recognized write-downs of CHF 17.8 million in the income statement. In 2024, the 

total write-downs amounted to CHF 19.1 million. The accumulated write-downs on inventories 

amounted to CHF 73.9 million as of December 31, 2025 (2024: CHF 77.6 million). Material expenses in 

2025 amounted to CHF 1’263.6 million (2024: CHF 1’238.8 million).

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Financial reporting – Notes to the consolidated financial statements 142



18 Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Sales recognized over time related to ongoing performance obligations   993.8   870.1

Sales recognized over time related to satisfied performance obligations   623.2   500.3
Sales recognized over time   1’617.0   1’370.4

Sales recognized at a point in time   1’938.4   2’160.2
Sales   3’555.4   3’530.6

– thereof sales recognized included in the contract liability balance at the 
beginning of the period   531.3   451.0

– thereof sales recognized from performance obligations satisfied (or partially 
satisfied) in previous periods   0.5   4.9

         

Contract assets from sales recognized over time relating to ongoing 
performance obligations   1’464.1   1’220.4

Expected loss rate   0.2%   0.1%

Allowance for expected losses   –2.2   –1.5

Netting with contract liabilities   –889.4   –718.8
Contract assets   572.5   500.1

         

Contract liabilities from costs recognized over time relating to ongoing 
performance obligations   210.4   175.8

Advance payments from customers relating to point in time contracts   220.8   248.7

Advance payments from customers relating to over time contracts   959.1   825.7

Netting with contract assets   –889.4   –718.8
Contract liabilities   500.8   531.3

         

Order backlog (aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to unsatisfied 
performance obligations)   2’255.6   2’300.0

– thereof expected to be recognized as revenue within 12 months   2’040.3   2’151.9

– thereof expected to be recognized in more than 12 months   215.3   148.1
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19 Trade accounts receivable

Aging structure of trade accounts receivable

    2025   2024

millions of CHF  
Expected 
loss rate  

Gross 
amount   Allowance  

Net book 
value  

Expected 
loss rate  

Gross 
amount   Allowance  

Net book 
value

Not past due   0.2%   419.1   –1.0   418.1   0.1%   493.8   –0.5   493.3

                                 

Past due                                

1–30 days   1.3%   70.4   –0.9   69.5   1.7%   76.5   –1.3   75.2

31–60 days   1.1%   28.5   –0.3   28.2   2.2%   30.1   –0.7   29.4

61–120 days   2.0%   30.8   –0.6   30.2   3.6%   35.7   –1.3   34.4

>120 days   29.2%   116.9   –34.2   82.8   45.5%   87.8   –39.9   47.9

Total trade 
accounts 
receivable as of 
December 31       665.7   –37.0   628.7       723.8   –43.6   680.2

Allowance for doubtful trade accounts receivable

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Balance as of January 1   43.6   43.8

Reclassifications   –   3.1

Additions   13.2   13.1

Released as no longer required   –6.2   –12.7

Utilized   –10.5   –4.9

Currency translation differences   –3.1   1.2

Balance as of December 31   37.0   43.6

The recoverability of trade accounts receivable is regularly reviewed, and the credit quality of new 

customers is thoroughly assessed. Due to the large and heterogeneous customer base, the credit risk 

from individual customers of the group is limited. The allowance for doubtful trade accounts 

receivable is based on expected credit losses by country and by division. These are based on 

historical observed default rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and are adjusted for 

forward-looking information such as development of gross domestic product (GDP).
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Accounts receivable by geographical region

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Europe, the Middle East and Africa   283.4   318.1

– thereof United Kingdom   46.3   77.9

– thereof Saudi Arabia   45.6   48.4

– thereof Spain   21.6   20.1

– thereof France   21.4   21.4

– thereof Germany   17.8   18.3

         

Americas   182.7   178.3

– thereof USA   101.3   110.0

         

Asia-Pacific   162.6   183.8

– thereof China   101.2   114.9

         

Total as of December 31   628.7   680.2
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20 Other current receivables and prepaid expenses

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Taxes (VAT, withholding tax)   83.2   69.4

Derivative financial instruments   5.1   3.0

Other current receivables   9.3   18.2

Total other current receivables as of December 31   97.6   90.7

         

Prepaid expenses   33.8   28.1

Total prepaid expenses as of December 31   33.8   28.1

         

Total other current receivables and prepaid expenses as of December 31   131.4   118.8

For further details on derivative financial instruments, refer to . Other current receivables and 

prepaid expenses do not include any material positions that are past due or impaired.

note 27
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21 Cash and cash equivalents

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Cash   894.4   871.7

Cash equivalents   32.9   188.9

Total cash and cash equivalents as of December 31   927.3   1’060.6

As of December 31, 2025, the group held restricted cash and cash equivalents of CHF 32.4 million 

(2024: CHF 10.7 million).
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22 Equity

Share capital

    2025   2024

thousands of CHF  
Number of 

shares   Share capital  
Number of 

shares   Share capital

Balance as of December 31 (par value CHF 0.01)   34’262’370   342.6   34’262’370   342.6

The share capital amounts to CHF 342’623.70, made up of 34’262’370 shares with dividend 

entitlement and a par value of CHF 0.01. All shares are fully paid in and registered. On December 31, 

2025, conditional share capital amounted to CHF 17’000 (2024: CHF 17’000), consisting of 1’700’000 

shares with a par value of CHF 0.01.

Share ownership

Sulzer shares are freely transferable provided that, when requested by the company to do so, buyers 

declare that they have purchased and will hold the shares in their own name and for their own 

account. Nominees will only be entered in the share register with the right to vote provided that they 

meet the following conditions: the nominee is subject to the supervision of a recognized banking and 

financial market regulator; the nominee has entered into an agreement with the Board of Directors 

concerning its status; the share capital held by the nominee does not exceed 3% of the registered 

share capital entered in the commercial register; and the names, addresses and number of shares of 

those individuals for whose accounts the nominee holds at least 0.5% of the share capital have been 

disclosed. The Board of Directors is also entitled, beyond these limits, to enter shares of nominees 

with voting rights in the share register, provided that the above-mentioned conditions are met (see 

also paragraph 6a of the Articles of Association at 

).

https://www.sulzer.com/en/shared/about-us/

corporate-governance

Shareholders holding more than 3%

    Dec 31, 2025   Dec 31, 2024

   
Number of 

shares   in %  
Number of 

shares   in %

Viktor Vekselberg (direct shareholder: Tiwel Holding AG)   16’728’414   48.82   16’728’414   48.82

UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG   1’175’624   3.43   1’175’624   3.43

Fidelity Investments Canada ULC   1’032’911   3.02   -    

Retained earnings

The retained earnings include prior years’ undistributed income of consolidated companies and all 

remeasurements of the net defined benefit assets and liabilities and other transactions recorded 

directly in retained earnings.

Treasury shares

During 2025, the group acquired 128’500 treasury shares for CHF 18.9 million (2024: 282’500 shares 

for CHF 33.2 million). The total number of shares held by the group as of December 31, 2025, 

amounted to 524’796 treasury shares (December 31, 2024: 509’455  shares).
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The treasury shares are held for the purpose of issuing shares under the management share-based 

payment programs.

Cash flow hedge reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of 

cash flow hedging instruments where the hedged transaction has not yet occurred. Amounts are 

reclassified to profit or loss when the associated hedged transaction affects the income statement.

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising on the translation 

of the financial statements of controlled entities, whose functional currency differs from the reporting 

currency of the group. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment 

is derecognized.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

In 2024, the group reduced its ownership in Sulzer Pumps (Nigeria) Ltd.; reference is made to note 3.

Dividends

On April 23, 2025, the Annual General Meeting approved an ordinary dividend of CHF 4.25 (2024: 

ordinary dividend of CHF 3.75) per share to be paid out of reserves. The dividend was paid to 

shareholders on April 29, 2025. The total amount of the dividend to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd relating 

to 2024 results was CHF 143.6 million (2024: CHF 127.3 million), thereof paid dividends of CHF 97.3 

million (2024: CHF 86.5 million) and unpaid dividends of CHF 46.2 million (2024: CHF 40.8 million). The 

unpaid dividends are reflected in the balance sheet position “Other current and accrued liabilitiesˮ
(see ).note 26

The Board of Directors decided to propose to the Annual General Meeting 2026 a dividend for the 

year 2025 of CHF 4.75 per share (2024: CHF 4.25).
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23 Earnings per share

    2025   2024

Net income attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd (millions of CHF)   292.8   261.9

         

Issued number of shares   34’262’370   34’262’370

Adjustment for average treasury shares held   –513’682   –406’494

Average number of shares outstanding as of December 31   33’748’688   33’855’876

         

Adjustment for share participation plans   416’234   411’402

Average number of shares for calculating diluted earnings per share as of 
December 31   34’164’922   34’267’278

         

Earnings per share, attributable to a shareholder of Sulzer Ltd (in CHF) as of 
December 31        

Basic earnings per share   8.68   7.73

Diluted earnings per share   8.57   7.64
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24 Borrowings

    2025

millions of CHF  
Non-current 
borrowings   Current borrowings   Total

Balance as of January 1   745.0   312.0   1’057.1

Acquired through business combination   –   0.3   0.3

Cash flow from proceeds   329.2   51.4   380.6

Cash flow for repayments   –   –352.7   –352.7

Changes in amortized costs   0.3   0.1   0.5

Reclassifications   –295.3   295.3   –

Currency translation differences   –0.0   –1.4   –1.5

Total borrowings as of December 31   779.3   304.9   1’084.2

    2024

millions of CHF  
Non-current 
borrowings   Current borrowings   Total

Balance as of January 1   795.2   261.1   1’056.3

Acquired through business combination   1.6   1.3   2.9

Cash flow from proceeds   249.3   42.3   291.6

Cash flow for repayments   –   –293.3   –293.3

Changes in amortized costs   0.3   0.1   0.4

 Reclassifications 1)   –301.3   300.2   –1.1

Currency translation differences   –0.0   0.3   0.3

Total borrowings as of December 31   745.0   312.0   1’057.1

1) Including a reclass to other non-current liabilities of CHF -0.9 million and to other current and accrued liabilities of CHF -0.2 million.

Borrowings by currency

    2025   2024

   
millions of 

CHF   in %   Interest rate  
millions of 

CHF   in %   Interest rate

CHF   1’073.6   99.0   1.6%   1’043.9   98.8   1.5%

IDR   3.2   0.3   7.2%   4.3   0.4   8.4%

USD   3.1   0.3   0.2%   2.2   0.2   0.2%

MAD   2.2   0.2   12.0%   –   –   0.0%

EUR   1.5   0.1   2.7%   1.6   0.1   6.0%

INR   –   –   0.0%   4.7   0.4   7.3%

Other   0.7   0.1   6.5%   0.4   0.0   0.0%

Total as of December 31   1’084.2   100.0   –   1’057.1   100.0   –
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As of December 2025, Sulzer has access to a syndicated credit facility of CHF 500 million maturing in 

December 2026. The facility includes two one-year extension options and a further option to increase 

the credit facility by CHF 250 million (subject to lenders’ approval). In 2022 and 2023, the group 

exercised the options, extending the term of the credit facility in the amount of CHF 415 million to 

December 2028. The facility is subject to financial covenants based on net financial indebtedness and 

EBITDA, which were adhered to throughout the reporting period. As of December 31, 2025, and 2024, 

the syndicated facility was not used.

Outstanding bonds

    2025   2024

millions of CHF   Amortized costs   Nominal   Amortized costs   Nominal

0.875% 07/2016–07/2026   125.0   125.0   125.0   125.0

0.800% 09/2020–09/2025   -   -   299.9   300.0

0.875% 11/2020–11/2027   199.9   200.0   199.8   200.0

3.350% 12/2022–11/2026   169.9   170.0   169.8   170.0

1.773% 10/2024–10/2028   249.5   250.0   249.3   250.0

1.138% 09/2025–09/2029   229.5   230.0   –   –

1.365% 09/2025–09/2032   99.7   100.0   –   –

Total as of December 31   1’073.6   1’075.0   1’043.9   1’045.0

– thereof non-current   778.7   780.0   744.0   745.0

– thereof current   294.9   295.0   299.9   300.0

Carrying amount excludes accrued interest amounting to CHF 3.5 million (2024: CHF 3.0 million), 

which is presented in other current and accrued liabilities.

On September 23, 2025, Sulzer repaid CHF 300.0 million for the single tranche of a bond issued in 

2020. This bond had a term of five years and carried a coupon of 0.800%.

On October 22, 2024, Sulzer repaid CHF 250.0 million for the single tranche of a bond issued in 2018. 

This bond had a term of six years and carried a coupon of 1.600%.

On September 17, 2025, Sulzer issued a CHF 100.0 million single tranche bond. The bond has a term 

of seven years and carries a coupon of 1.365% at a price of 100.000%.

On September 17, 2025, Sulzer issued a CHF 230.0 million single tranche bond. The bond has a term 

of four years and carries a coupon of 1.138% at a price of 100.000%.

On October 21, 2024, Sulzer issued a CHF 250.0 million single tranche bond. The bond has a term of 

four years and carries a coupon of 1.7725% at a price of 100.000%.

All the outstanding bonds are traded on SIX Swiss Exchange.
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25 Provisions

    2025

millions of CHF  

Other 
employee 

benefits  
Warranties / 

liabilities   Restructuring   Environmental   Other   Total

Balance as of January 1   35.7   98.3   3.4   12.4   40.1   189.9

Acquired through business combination   0.2   0.3   –   –   0.0   0.5

Additions   16.0   41.2   4.6   0.1   12.4   74.2

Released as no longer required   –4.6   –16.3   –0.3   –0.0   –6.3   –27.5

Utilized   –8.4   –26.1   –4.5   –   –11.1   –50.0

Reclassification   –   1.3   –   –   –1.3   0.0

Currency translation differences   –2.7   –6.2   –0.1   –0.3   –2.0   –11.3

Total provisions as of December 31   36.2   92.5   3.0   12.2   31.9   175.8

– thereof non-current   19.8   10.0   0.4   12.2   8.7   51.0

– thereof current   16.4   82.5   2.6   0.0   23.2   124.8

    2024

millions of CHF  

Other 
employee 

benefits  
Warranties / 

liabilities   Restructuring   Environmental   Other   Total

Balance as of January 1   33.2   98.8   5.0   12.4   42.6   192.0

Acquired through business combination   –   0.0   –   –   0.1   0.2

Additions   8.6   39.3   4.6   –   30.5   83.0

Released as no longer required   –1.8   –19.8   –0.9   –0.2   –15.1   –37.8

Utilized   –5.5   –20.7   –5.4   –0.0   –19.8   –51.5

Reclassification   –   –0.8   –   –   0.8   –0.0

Currency translation differences   1.2   1.5   0.1   0.3   1.1   4.1

Total provisions as of December 31   35.7   98.3   3.4   12.4   40.1   189.9

– thereof non-current   20.8   2.7   0.4   12.4   9.9   46.2

– thereof current   14.8   95.6   2.9   0.0   30.3   143.8

The category “Other employee benefitsˮ includes provisions for jubilee gifts and other obligations to 

employees. 

The category “Warranties / liabilitiesˮ includes provisions for warranties, customer claims, penalties, 

litigation and legal cases relating to goods delivered or services rendered. Warranties that provide 

customers with assurance that the product complies with the agreed specifications are accounted for 

as provisions over the agreed warranty period.

In 2025, the group utilized CHF 4.5 million (2024: CHF 5.4 million) of restructuring provisions mainly 

relating to reorganization in the Flow and Services division. The group recorded restructuring 

provisions of CHF 4.6 million (2024: CHF 4.6 million), partly offset by released restructuring provisions 

of CHF 0.3 million (2024: CHF 0.9 million). Restructuring costs mainly relate to reorganization in the 

Flow division. The remaining restructuring provision as of December 31, 2025, is CHF 3.0 million, of 

which CHF 2.6 million is expected to be utilized within one year.
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“Environmentalˮ mainly consists of expected costs related to inherited liabilities.

“Otherˮ includes provisions that do not fit into the aforementioned categories. A large number of these 

provisions refer to onerous contracts and indemnities, in particular related to divestitures. In addition, 

provisions for ongoing asbestos lawsuits and other legal claims are included. Based on the currently 

known facts, the group is of the opinion that the resolution of the open cases will not have material 

effects on its liquidity or financial condition. Although the group expects a large part of the category 

“Otherˮ to be realized in 2025, by their nature, the amounts and timing of any cash outflows are 

difficult to predict.
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26 Other current and accrued liabilities

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Liability related to the purchase of treasury shares   90.4   90.4

Outstanding dividend payments   197.0   318.0

Taxes (VAT, withholding tax)   41.4   41.9

Derivative financial instruments   4.6   10.3

Contingent consideration   1.0   –

Other current liabilities   48.7   57.3

Total other current liabilities as of December 31   383.0   518.0

         

Contract-related costs   101.9   136.3

Salaries, wages and bonuses   121.3   140.1

Vacation and overtime claims   26.1   26.6

Other accrued liabilities   160.7   154.2

Total accrued liabilities as of December 31   410.0   457.2

         

Total other current and accrued liabilities as December 31   793.1   975.2

In 2025, outstanding dividends increased by CHF 46.2 million in connection with the 2024 dividend 

(see ). In addition, Sulzer provided CHF 167.2 million to settle a loan between Tiwel Holding AG 

and a Russian bank. The settlement did not require any flow of funds from Switzerland or any other 

country to Russia. The loan, secured by Sulzer shares, fell due in July 2025. The payment was 

executed based on approval from all relevant national and international authorities.

note 22
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27 Derivative financial instruments

    2025   2024

    Derivative assets   Derivative liabilities   Derivative assets   Derivative liabilities

millions of CHF  
Notional

value  
Fair

value  
Notional

value  
Fair

value  
Notional

value  
Fair

value  
Notional

value  
Fair

value

Forward exchange 
rate contracts   457.0   5.1   954.1   4.6   376.5   3.0   750.7   10.3

Total as of 
December 31   457.0   5.1   954.1   4.6   376.5   3.0   750.7   10.3

– thereof due in <1 
year   457.0   5.1   954.1   4.6   376.5   3.0   750.7   10.3

– thereof due in 1–5 
years   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -

In 2025, the notional value and the fair value of derivative assets and liabilities consists of current 

derivative financial instruments. Most of these derivative assets and liabilities are dedicated as 

hedging instruments for cash flow hedges. The cash flow hedges of expected future sales were 

assessed as highly effective. In 2025, the net unrealized gains for cash flow hedges recorded in the 

cash flow hedge reserves in other comprehensive income amount to CHF 8.0 million (2024: net 

unrealized losses of CHF 7.5 million), net of a deferred tax impact of CHF –3.2 million (2024: CHF 3.3 

million). As of December 31, 2025, the accumulated cash flow hedge reserve amounts to CHF 5.7 

million (2024: CHF –5.5 million) with recognized net deferred tax assets of CHF 0.9 million (2024: net 

deferred tax liabilities of CHF 2.2 million) relating to these cash flow hedges included in the cash flow 

hedge reserves. In 2025, losses of CHF 6.6 million (2024: gains of CHF 3.4 million) were reclassified 

from the cash flow hedge reserves to the income statement. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 

the reporting date is the fair value of the derivative assets in the balance sheet.

The hedged, highly probable forecast transactions denominated in foreign currencies are mostly 

expected to occur at various dates during the next 12 months. Gains and losses recognized in the 

cash flow hedge reserve in equity on forward foreign exchange contracts as of December 31, 2025, 

are recognized either in sales, cost of goods sold or other operating income / expenses in the period 

or periods during which the hedged transaction affects the income statement. This is generally within 

12 months from the balance sheet date unless the gain or loss is included in the initial amount 

recognized for the purchase of fixed assets, in which case recognition is over the lifetime of the asset 

(5 to 10 years).

The group enters into derivative financial instruments under enforceable master netting arrangements. 

These agreements do not meet the criteria for offsetting derivative assets and derivative liabilities in 

the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2025, the amount subject to such netting 

arrangements was CHF 1.6 million (2024: CHF 2.0 million). Considering the effect of these 

agreements, the amount of derivative assets would reduce from CHF 5.1 million to CHF 3.5 million 

(2024: from CHF 3.0 million to CHF 1.0 million), and the amount of derivative liabilities would reduce 

from CHF 4.6 million to CHF 3.0 million (2024: from CHF 10.3 million to CHF 8.3 million).
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28 Contingent liabilities

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Guarantees in favor of third parties   8.1   8.2

Total contingent liabilities as of December 31   8.1   8.2

As of December 31, 2025, guarantees provided to third parties amounted to CHF 8.1 million (2024: 

CHF 8.2 million) and relate to disposed businesses.
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29 Share participation plans

Share-based payments charged to personnel expenses

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Restricted share unit plan   0.6   0.7

Blocked shares   0.7   0.0

Performance share plan   17.1   12.7

Total charged to personnel expenses   18.4   13.4

The compensation charged to personnel expenses for the services received during the period 

amounts to CHF 18.4 million including CHF 17.3 million (2024: CHF 12.7 million) relating to equity-

settled plans credited in the retained earnings. The remaining CHF 1.1 million (2024: CHF 0.7 million) 

corresponds to cash-settled plans.

Restricted share unit plan settled in Sulzer shares

This long-term incentive plan covers the Board of Directors. Restricted share units (RSU) are granted 

annually. Awards to members of the Board of Directors automatically vest with the departure from the 

Board members. The plan features graded vesting over a three-year period. One RSU award is settled 

with one Sulzer share at the end of the vesting period. The fair value of the RSU granted is measured 

at the grant date closing share price of Sulzer Ltd, and discounted over the vesting period using a 

discount rate that is based on the yield of Swiss government bonds for the duration of the vesting 

period. Participants are not entitled to dividends declared during the vesting period. Consequently, 

the grant date fair value of the RSU is reduced by the present value of the dividends expected to be 

paid during the vesting period.

Restricted share units

Grant year   2024   2023   2022   2021   Total

Outstanding as of January 1, 2024   –   10’128   5’358   1’944   17’430

Granted   6’942   –   –   –   6’942

Exercised   –   –3’376   –2’679   –1’944   –7’999

Outstanding as of December 31, 2024   6’942   6’752   2’679   –   16’373

                     

Outstanding as of January 1, 2025   6’942   6’752   2’679   –   16’373

Exercised   –2’314   –3’376   –2’679   –   –8’369

Outstanding as of December 31, 2025   4’628   3’376   –   –   8’004

                     

Average fair value at grant date in CHF   112.58   77.05   77.82   106.32    
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Blocked shares

In 2025, the Group introduced a new long‑term incentive plan, Blocked Shares, which replaces the 

former Restricted Share Unit Plan (RSU) for the Board of Directors. As of the 2025 AGM, the Board 

members receive a blocked share grant. The shares are blocked for three years from the allocation 

date on March 1st of the following year. The fair value of the granted shares is measured at Sulzer’s 

closing share price on the grant date. The number of shares allocated is calculated by dividing the 

individual grant value by the three‑month volume‑weighted average share price (VWAP) preceding the 

relevant allocation date. Participants are entitled to receive dividends declared during the blocking 

period.

Performance share plan settled in Sulzer shares

This long-term incentive plan covers the members of the Executive Committee and the members of 

the Sulzer Management Group. Performance share units (PSU) are granted annually, depending on 

the organizational position of the employee.

Vesting of the PSUs is generally subject to continuous employment and to the achievement of 

performance conditions over the performance period. Participants are not entitled to dividends 

declared during the vesting period. Vesting of the performance share plans (PSP) is based on three 

performance conditions: operational income before restructuring, amortization, impairments and non-

operational items (operational profit) in the last year of the performance period (weighted 25%), 

average operational return on capital employed (operational ROCEA) (weighted 25%), and Sulzer’s 

total return to shareholders (TSR), compared to a selected group of peer companies (weighted 50%).

TSR is measured with a starting value of the volume-weighted average share price (VWAP) over the 

last three months prior to the first year, and an ending value of the VWAP over the last three months 

of the vesting period. The rank of Sulzer’s TSR at the end of the performance period determines the 

effective number of total shares.

For PSU granted in 2025, the Group redefined its profit measures. Newly granted plans are still 

subject to the achievement of performance conditions over the performance period. However , 

vesting of the performance share plans of (PSP) is now based on three performance conditions: 

earnings before interests ,taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) in the last year of the 

performance period (weighted 25%), return on capital employed in the last (ROCE) in the last year of 

the performance period (weighted 25%), and Sulzer’s total return to shareholders (TSR), compared to 

a selected group of peer companies (weighted 50%). Definition of newly introduced performance 

conditions can be found in the  .Compensation Report

The group neutralized the consequences of the spin-off of the Applicator Systems division in 

2021. The number of originally granted PSUs was recalculated to neutralize the effect of the spin-off 

on share price, resulting in the same fair value before and after the spin-off.

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Financial reporting – Notes to the consolidated financial statements 159



The following inputs were used to determine the fair value of the PSUs at grant date using a Monte 

Carlo simulation:

Grant year   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Fair value at grant date   175.14   125.65   88.38   84.69   124.95

Share price at grant date   156.00   109.70   77.45   76.35   101.12

Expected volatility   25.98%   27.50%   28.76%   35.59%   34.68%

Risk-free interest rate   0.18%   1.03%   1.96%   0.39%   –0.58%

The expected volatility of the Sulzer share and the peer group companies is determined by the 

historical volatility. The zero-yield curves of those countries in which the companies and indices are 

listed were used as the relevant risk-free rates. Historical data was used to arrive at an estimate for 

the correlation between Sulzer and the peer companies. For the TSR calculation, all dividends paid 

during the vesting period are added to the closing share price.

Performance share units – terms of awards

Grant year   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Number of awards granted   58’600   77’697   99’244   97’930   90’527

Grant date  
March 1, 

2025  
April 1, 

2024  
April 1, 

2023  
April 1, 

2022  
April 1, 

2021

Performance period for cumulative operational profit  
01/25–
12/27  

01/24–
12/26  

01/23–
12/25  

01/22–
12/24  

01/21–
12/23

Performance period for TSR  
01/25–
12/27  

01/24–
12/26  

01/23–
12/25  

01/22–
12/24  

01/21–
12/23

Fair value at grant date in CHF   175.14   125.65   88.38   84.69   124.95

Performance share units

Grant year   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021   Total

Initially granted   58’600   77’697   99’244   97’930   90’527   423’998

APS division spin-off restatement   –   –   –   –   44’801   44’801

                         

Outstanding as of January 1, 2024   –   77’697   94’282   76’933   108’732   357’644

Granted   –   –   –   –       –

Exercised   –   –27   –3’778   –5’526   –108’732   –118’063

Forfeited   –   –131   –4’664   –1’900       –6’695

Outstanding as of December 31, 2024   –   77’539   85’840   69’507   –   232’886

                         

Outstanding as of January 1, 2025   –   77’539   85’840   69’507   –   232’886

Granted   58’600   –   –   –   –   58’600

Exercised   –345   –2’835   –4’066   –69’507   –   –76’753

Forfeited   –998   –2’846   –3’219   –   –   –7’063

Outstanding as of December 31, 2025   57’257   71’858   78’555   –   –   207’670
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30 Transactions with members of the Board of Directors, 
Executive Committee and related parties

Key management compensation

    2025   2024

thousands of CHF  

Short-term 
employee 

benefits  
Share-based 

payment  

Post-
employment 

benefits   Total  

Short-term 
employee 

benefits  
Share-based 

payment  

Post-
employment 

benefits   Total

Board of Directors   1’310   780   265   2’355   1’302   780   267   2’349

Executive Committee   6’409   4’046   1’567   12’022   7’107   3’850   1’591   12’548

As of December 31, 2025, there are no outstanding loans with members of the Board of Directors or 

the Executive Committee. No shares have been granted to members of the Board of Directors, the 

Executive Committee, or related persons, with the exception of shares granted in connection with 

equity-settled plans and service awards.

Transactions and balances with associates and joint ventures

In 2025, the group recorded transactions and balances with associates and joint ventures. Sales with 

associates amounted to zero (2024: zero), other operating income amounted to zero (2024: CHF 0.3 

million), the operating expenses amounted to CHF 0.3 million (2024: CHF 0.2 million), and as of 

December 31, 2025, trade receivables with associates amounted to zero (2024: CHF 0.3 million), and 

trade payables amounted to CHF 0.3 million (2024: CHF 0.0 million). The operating expenses with 

joint ventures amounted to CHF 5.8 million (2024: CHF 4.3 million), and interest income to CHF 0.1 

million (2024: CHF 0.1 million). As of December 31, 2025, loan receivables amounted to CHF 1.7 

million (2024: CHF 1.7 million), other receivables amounted to zero (2024: CHF 0.1 million), and 

payables amounted to zero (2024: CHF 0.6 million). See  for details on the investments in 

associates and joint ventures.

note 15

Transactions and balances with other related parties

In 2025, open payables with related parties amounted to CHF 288.7 million (2024: CHF 408.4 million 

million), of which CHF 90.4 million (2024: CHF 90.4 million) related to the purchase of treasury shares 

(see ) and CHF 197.0 million (2024: CHF 318.0 million) related to outstanding dividend 

payments (see  and ).

note 26

note 22 note 26

All related party transactions are priced on an arm’s-length basis.
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31 Auditor remuneration

Fees for the audit services by KPMG as the appointed group auditor amounted to CHF 3.9 million 

(2024: CHF 4.1 million). Additional services provided by the group auditor amounted to a total of CHF 

2.6 million (2024: CHF 2.0 million). This amount includes CHF 0.3 million (2024: CHF 0.3 million) for 

tax services and CHF 2.3 million (2024: CHF 1.7 million) for other services.
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32 Key accounting policies and valuation methods

32.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 

Standards using the historical cost convention except for:

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income; and

net position from defined benefit plans, where plan assets are measured at fair value and the 

plan liabilities are measured at the present value of the defined benefit obligations (see note 

32.18 a).

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 

consolidated financial statements and have been applied consistently by all subsidiaries.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying 

the group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity or 

areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are 

disclosed in .note 4

Rounding

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout the consolidated financial statements may not add 

up precisely to the totals provided. All ratios, percentages and variances are calculated using the 

underlying amount rather than the presented rounded amount.

Tables

Within tables, blank fields generally indicate that the field is not applicable or not meaningful, or that 

information is not available as of the relevant date or for the relevant period. Dashes (–) generally 

indicate that the respective figure is zero, while a zero (0.0) indicates that the relevant figure has been 

rounded to zero.

32.2 Change in accounting policies

a) Standards, amendments and interpretations which were effective for 2025

Starting from January 1, 2025, the group applied changes in standards, amendments and 

interpretations that became effective January 1, 2025. These include:

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates – Lack of 

exchangeability – The amendments provide guidance on how to assess whether a currency is 

exchangeable and how to determine the spot exchange rate when it is not. The Group concluded 

that the impact on the consolidated financial statements is not material.
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b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective, which the group 
decided not to adopt early in 2025

In 2025, the group has not adopted early any standard, amendment, or interpretation issued but not 

yet effective. The following relevant amendments will become effective from January 1, 2026. The 

group does not expect these to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Classification 

and Measurement of Financial Instruments. The amendments include clarification about the date 

on which a financial liability is derecognized in case of a settlement via electronic cash transfers, 

as well as clarification about the classification of financial assets with features linked to 

environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG).

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards – Volume 11 – These minor amendments 

clarify the initial measurement of trade receivables and contract assets when they include a 

significant financing component, aligning IFRS 9 with IFRS 15 and how a lessee applies 

derecognition requirements to lease liabilities.

The following amended or new standards will become effective from January 1, 2027 or later. The 

group is in the process of assessing the below amendments:

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements – IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 

and will become effective from January 1, 2027. The 

accounting standard introduces new requirements to the presentation structure of the financial 

statements as well as additional disclosure requirements. The group is still in the process of 

assessing the impact of the new accounting standard, particularly with respect of how 

information is grouped in the financial statements, the statement of cash flows and the additional 

disclosures required for Management-defined performance measures (MPMs).

 Presentation of Financial Statements

32.3 Consolidation

a) Business combinations

The group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is 

transferred to the group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is measured at the fair value 

of the assets given, the liabilities incurred to the former owner of the acquiree and the equity interest 

issued by the group. Any goodwill arising is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain 

purchase is recognized in the income statement immediately. Acquisition-related costs are expensed 

as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities. Identifiable assets acquired, and 

liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination, are measured initially at their 

fair values at the acquisition date.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the 

contingent consideration is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted 

for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are 

recognized in the income statement.
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b) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the group. The group controls an entity when it is exposed 

to, or has the rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 

those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in 

the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on 

which control ceases.

According to the full consolidation method, all assets and liabilities and income and expenses of the 

subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements. The share of non-controlling 

interests in the net assets and results is presented separately as non-controlling interests in the 

consolidated balance sheet and income statement, respectively.

c) Non-controlling interests

The group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition 

basis, at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the 

acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss 

of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

d) Loss of control

When the group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the 

subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting 

gain or loss is recognized in the income statement. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is 

measured at fair value when control is lost.

e) Associates and joint ventures

Associates are those entities in which the group has significant influence, but no control, over the 

financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the group holds, 

directly or indirectly, between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Joint ventures are those entities over 

whose activities the group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and requiring 

unanimous consent for strategic, financial and operating decisions. Associates and joint ventures are 

accounted for using the equity method and are initially recognized at cost.

f) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

All material intercompany transactions and balances and any unrealized gains arising from 

intercompany transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there 

is no evidence of impairment.

32.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 

Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer, who is responsible for allocating resources and 

assessing performance (e.g., EBITDA) of the operating segments, has been identified as chief 

operating decision maker.
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32.5 Foreign currency translation

a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The 

consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss francs (CHF).

The following table shows the major currency exchange rates for the reporting periods 2025 and 

2024:

    2025   2024

CHF  
Average

rate  
Year-end

rate  
Average

rate  
Year-end

rate

EUR 1   0.94   0.93   0.95   0.94

GBP 1   1.09   1.07   1.12   1.13

USD 1   0.83   0.79   0.88   0.90

CNY 100   11.53   11.34   12.23   12.38

INR 100   0.95   0.88   1.05   1.05

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 

settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement.

c) Subsidiaries

The results and balance sheet positions of subsidiaries that have a functional currency different from 

the presentation currency of the group are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the 

date of that balance sheet.

Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates.

Translation differences resulting from consolidation are taken to other comprehensive income. In the 

event of a sale or liquidation of foreign subsidiaries, exchange differences that were recorded in other 

comprehensive income are recognized in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale or 

liquidation.

If a loan is made to a group company, and the loan in substance forms part of the group’s investment 

in the group company, translation differences arising from the loan are recognized directly in other 

comprehensive income as foreign currency translation differences. When the group company is sold 

or partially disposed of, and control no longer exists, gains and losses accumulated in equity are 

reclassified to the income statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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32.6 Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful life are amortized in line with the expected useful life, usually on a 

straight-line basis. The period of useful life is to be assessed according to business rather than legal 

criteria. This assessment is made at least once a year. An impairment might be required in the event 

of sudden or unforeseen value changes.

a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the consideration transferred and the fair value of the 

group’s share in the identifiable net asset value of the acquired business at the time of acquisition. 

Any goodwill arising as a result of a business combination is included within intangible assets.

Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test and valued at its original acquisition cost less 

accumulated impairment losses. In cases where circumstances indicate a potential impairment, 

impairment tests are conducted more frequently. Profits and losses arising from the sale of a business 

include the book value of the goodwill assigned to the business being sold.

For impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-

generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill 

arose. Goodwill originating from the acquisition of an associate or joint venture is included in the book 

value of the investment. 

b) Trademarks and licenses

Trademarks, licenses and similar rights acquired from third parties are stated at acquisition cost. Such 

assets are amortized over their expected useful life, generally not exceeding 10 years.

c) Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses in control of the group are capitalized on the basis of the cost 

incurred to acquire the specific software and bring to use. These costs are amortized over their 

estimated useful lives (three to max. five years).

d) Customer relationships

As part of a business combination, acquired customer rights are recorded at fair value (cost at the 

time of acquisition). These costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives, generally not 

exceeding 15 years.
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32.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at acquisition cost less depreciation and impairments. 

Acquisition cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will 

flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 

replaced item is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 

statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. Land is stated at cost 

and is not depreciated.

The useful lives are as follows:

Buildings: 20–50 years

Machinery: 5–15 years

Technical equipment: 5– 10 years

Other non-current assets: max. 5 years

32.8 Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Assets with a finite useful life are only tested for impairment if relevant events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the book value is no longer recoverable. An impairment loss is recorded 

equal to the excess of the carrying value over the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 

higher of the fair value of the asset less disposal costs and its value in use. The value in use is based 

on the estimated cash flow over a five-year period and the extrapolated projections for subsequent 

years. The results are discounted using an appropriate pretax, long-term interest rate. For the 

purposes of the impairment test, assets are grouped together at the lowest level for which separate 

cash flows can be identified (cash-generating units).

32.9 Lease assets and lease liabilities

The group recognizes lease assets and lease liabilities for most leases (these leases are on-balance-

sheet). However, the group has elected not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities for leases of 

low-value assets and short-term leases. The group recognizes the lease payments associated with 

these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The group presents lease assets and lease liabilities as separate line items on the balance sheet.

The group recognizes lease assets and lease liabilities at the lease commencement date. The lease 

asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses and adjusted for certain remeasurements. The lease liability is initially measured at 

the present value of the lease payments that are not paid on commencement date, discounted using 

the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the group’s 

incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the group uses currency and duration-specific incremental 

borrowing rates for the discounting.
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The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased 

by lease payments made. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising 

from a change in an index rate, a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under 

a residual value guarantee, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is 

reasonably certain to be exercised, or a termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

32.10 Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following three categories:

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Debt instruments

Financial assets measured at amortized cost
Initially, financial assets are recognized at fair value. Assets that are held for collection of contractual 

cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured 

subsequently at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance 

income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is 

recognized directly in the income statement and presented in other financial income / (expenses), net 

together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line 

items in the income statement.

Equity instruments

The group measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the group is holding equity 

instruments not for trading and group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and 

losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income (OCI), there is no subsequent 

reclassification of fair value gains and losses to the income statement following the derecognition of 

the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in the income statement 

as other income when the group’s right to receive payments is established. A gain or loss on an equity 

investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognized in the income statement and 

presented within other operating income and expenses or other financial income and expenses, 

depending on the nature of the investment, in the period in which it arises.

32.11 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts and other forward 

contracts, to hedge its risks associated with fluctuations in foreign currencies arising from operational 

and financing activities. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on 

the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. 

Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is 

negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on the derivatives during the year that do not 

qualify for hedge accounting are taken directly into profit or loss.

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Financial reporting – Notes to the consolidated financial statements 169



The group applies hedge accounting to secure the foreign currency risks of future cash flows that 

have a high probability of occurrence. These hedges are classified as “cash flow hedgesˮ, whereas 

the hedge instrument is recorded on the balance sheet at fair value and the effective portions are 

booked against “Other comprehensive incomeˮ in the column “Cash flow hedge reserveˮ. If the hedge 

relates to a non-financial transaction that will subsequently be recorded on the balance sheet, the 

adjustments accumulated under “Other comprehensive incomeˮ at that time will be included in the 

initial book value of the asset or liability. In all other cases, the cumulative changes of fair value of the 

hedging instrument that have been recorded in other comprehensive income are included as a charge 

or credit to income when the forecasted transaction is recognized or when hedge accounting is 

discontinued as the criteria are no longer met. In general, the fair value of financial instruments traded 

in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.

At the inception of the transaction, the group documents the relationship between hedging 

instruments and hedged items and its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking 

various hedging transactions. The group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and 

on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly 

effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

32.12 Inventories

Raw materials, supplies and consumables are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 

Finished products and work in progress are stated at the lower of production cost or net realizable 

value. Production cost includes the costs of materials, direct and indirect manufacturing costs, and 

contract-related costs of construction. Inventories are valued by reference to weighted average costs. 

Provisions are made for slow-moving and excess inventories and are recognized in the income 

statement in Costs of goods sold.

32.13 Trade receivables

Trade and other accounts receivable are recognized initially at their transaction price and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost, less allowances for doubtful trade accounts receivable.

The allowance for doubtful trade accounts receivable is based on expected credit losses. The group 

applies the simplified approach, measuring the loss amount based on lifetime expected credit losses. 

These are based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the trade receivables 

and are adjusted for forward-looking information such as development of gross domestic product 

(GDP) and oil price development.

32.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bills, postal giros and bank accounts, together with other short-

term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Bank overdrafts are reported within borrowings in the current liabilities.

32.15 Trade payables

Trade payables and other payables are stated at face value. The respective value corresponds 

approximately to the amortized cost.
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32.16 Borrowings

Financial debt is stated at fair value when initially recognized, after recognition of transaction costs. In 

subsequent periods, it is valued at amortized cost. Any difference between the amount borrowed 

(after deduction of transaction costs) and the repayment amount is reported in the income statement 

over the duration of the loan using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current 

liabilities unless the group has a right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 

balance sheet date or the liability is due to be settled in more than 12 months after the balance sheet 

date.

32.17 Current and deferred income taxes

The current income tax charge comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable 

income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous 

years. It is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 

sheet date in the countries where the group’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. The 

management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 

applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate 

on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

The liability method is used to provide deferred taxes on all temporary differences between the tax 

base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 

Deferred taxes are valued by applying tax rates (and regulations) substantially enacted on the balance 

sheet date or any that have essentially been legally approved and are expected to apply at the time 

when the deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Income tax is recognized in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognized directly in 

equity or other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences to the 

extent that it is probable that a taxable profit will be available against which they can be used. 

Deferred tax liabilities arising as a result of temporary differences relating to investments in 

subsidiaries, associates and joint venture are applied, unless the group can control when temporary 

differences are reversed and it is unlikely that they will be reversed in the foreseeable future.

32.18 Employee benefits

a) Defined benefit plans

The group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each 

plan. The calculation of defined benefit assets / obligations is performed annually by a qualified 

actuary using the projected unit credit method. The net obligation is estimated based on the 

discounted future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, deducting the 

fair value of any plan assets. The discount rate is determined with reference to the interest rates on 

high-quality corporate bonds denominated in the currency of the expected cash flows and aligned 

with the estimated term.

When the calculation results in a potential asset for the group, the recognized asset is limited to the 

present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or 

reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of economic benefits, 

consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.
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Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the 

return on plan assets (excluding interest income on plan assets), and the effect of the asset ceiling (if 

any, excluding interest), are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. The group 

determines the net interest expense / (income) on the net defined benefit liability / (asset) for the 

period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning 

of the annual period to the then net defined benefit liability / (asset), taking into account any changes 

in the net defined benefit liability / (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit 

payments. Net interest expenses and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized 

in the income statement.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit 

that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately in the income 

statement. The group recognizes gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when 

the settlement occurs.

b) Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are defined as pure savings plans, under which the employer makes 

certain contributions into a separate legal entity (fund) and does not have a legal or an extendible 

(constructive) liability to contribute any additional amounts in the event this entity does not have 

enough funds to pay out benefits. A “constructiveˮ commitment exists when it can be assumed that 

the employer will voluntarily make additional contributions in order not to endanger the relationship 

with its employees. Company contributions to such plans are considered in the income statement as 

personnel expenses.

c) Other employee benefits

Some subsidiaries provide other employee benefits such as jubilee gifts to their employees. Jubilee 

gifts are other long-term benefits. For example, in Switzerland, the group makes provisions for jubilee 

benefits based on a Swiss local directive. The provisions are reported in the category “Other 

employee benefitsˮ.

Short-term benefits are payable within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees 

render the related employee service. In the case of liabilities of a long-term nature, the discounting 

effects and employee turnover are to be taken into consideration.

Obligations to employees arising from restructuring measures are included under the category 

“Restructuring provisionsˮ.

32.19 Share-based compensation

The group operates two equity-settled share-based payment plans. A performance share plan (PSP) 

covers the members of the Executive Committee and the members of the Sulzer Management Group. 

A restricted share plan (RSP) and Blocked shares plan cover the members of the Board of Directors.

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Financial reporting – Notes to the consolidated financial statements 172



a) Performance share plan (PSP)

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the performance share 

units (PSU) is recognized as a personnel expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total 

amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the 

share units granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (e.g., target profit 

levels). At each balance sheet date, the group reassesses its estimates of the number of share units 

that are expected to vest. It recognizes the impact of the reassessment of original estimates, if any, in 

the income statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity. The fair value of PSUs granted is 

measured by external valuation specialists based on a Monte Carlo simulation.

The group accrues for the expected cost of social charges in connection with the allotment of shares 

under the PSP. The dilution effect of the share-based awards is considered when calculating diluted 

earnings per share.

b) Restricted share plan (RSP)

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the share units is 

recognized as a personnel expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount 

expensed is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which the specified service 

conditions are expected to be met.

The fair value of the restricted share units (RSU) granted for services rendered is measured at the 

Sulzer closing share price at grant date, and discounted over the vesting period using a discount rate 

that is based on the yield of Swiss government bonds with maturities matching the duration of the 

vesting period. Participants are not entitled to dividends declared during the vesting period. The grant 

date fair value of the RSUs is consequently reduced by the present value of dividends expected to be 

paid during the vesting period.

The group accrues for the expected cost of social charges in connection with the allotment of shares 

under the RSP. The dilutive effect of the share-based awards is considered when calculating diluted 

earnings per share.

c) Blocked shares

In 2025, the Group introduced a new long‑term incentive plan, Blocked Shares, which replaces the 

former Restricted Share Unit Plan (RSU) for the Board of Directors. As of the 2025 AGM, the Board 

members receive a blocked share grant. The shares are blocked for three years from the allocation 

date on March 1st of the following year. The fair value of the granted shares is measured at Sulzer’s 

closing share price on the grant date. The number of shares allocated is calculated by dividing the 

individual grant value by the three‑month volume‑weighted average share price (VWAP) preceding the 

relevant allocation date. Participants are entitled to receive dividends declared during the blocking 

period.

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the share units is 

recognized as a personnel expense with a corresponding increase in equity.
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32.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 

past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the 

amount can be reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and 

employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. Where 

there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required is determined 

by considering the class of obligation as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an 

outflow with respect to a single item included in the class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation using a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 

recognized as interest expense.

32.21 Sales

Sales comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 

rendering of services in the ordinary course of the group’s activities. This includes standard products 

(off the rack) and configured and engineered or tailor-made products. Sales are shown net of value-

added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the group.

The core principle is that sales are recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which 

the group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

Sales are recognized when (or as) the group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a 

promised good or service (i.e., an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the 

customer obtains control of that asset.

A customer obtains control of a good or service if it has the ability to direct the use of, and obtain 

substantially all of the remaining benefits from, that good or service (e.g., use, consume, sale, hold). A 

customer could have the future right to direct the use of the asset and obtain substantially all of the 

benefits from it (i.e., upon making a prepayment for a specified product).

There are two methods to recognize sales:

sales, costs and profit margin recognition in line with the progress of the 

project

Over time method (OT): 

sales recognition when the performance obligation is satisfied at a 

certain point in time

Point in time method (PIT): 

The group determines at contract inception whether control of each performance obligation transfers 

to a customer over time or at a point in time. Arrangements where the performance obligations are 

satisfied over time are not limited to services arrangements. The assessment of whether control 

transfers over time or at a point in time is critical to the timing of revenue recognition.

Over time method (OT)

Sales are recognized over time if any of the following is met:
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The customer simultaneously receives / consumes as the group performs.

The group creates / enhances an asset and the customer controls it during this process.

The created asset has no alternative use for the group and the group has an enforceable right to 

payment (including reasonable profit margin) for performance completed to date if the customer 

terminates the contract for convenience.

The over time method is based on the percentage of costs to date compared with the total estimated 

contract costs (cost-to-cost method). In rare cases, other methods, such as a milestones method, 

may be used for a particular project, assuming that the stage of completion can be better estimated 

than by applying the cost-to-cost method. Work progress of sub-suppliers is considered to determine 

the stage of completion. If circumstances arise that may change the original estimates of sales, costs 

or extent of progress toward completion, estimates are revised. These revisions may result in 

increases or decreases in estimated sales or costs, and are reflected in income in the period in which 

the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by management.

The income statement contains a share of sales, including an estimated share of profit. The balance 

sheet includes the corresponding contract assets if the assets exceed the advance payments from 

the customer of the project. When it appears probable that the total costs of an order will exceed the 

expected income, the total amount of expected loss is recognized immediately in the income 

statement.

Point in time method (PIT)

A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time if none of the criteria for satisfying a 

performance obligation over time is met. Sales are recognized when (or as) the customer obtains 

control of that asset (depending on international commercial terms). The following points indicate that 

a customer has obtained control of an asset:

The entity has a present right to payment

The customer has legal title

The customer has physical possession

The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership

The customer has accepted the asset

For contracts applying the point in time method, the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership 

(depending on international commercial terms) typically depicts the transfer of control most 

appropriately.

Disaggregation of sales

In the segment information ( ), sales are disaggregated by:note 2

Divisions (group’s reportable segments)

Timing of sales recognition (sales recognition method: over time, point in time) and divisions

Market segments and divisions

Geographical regions and divisions
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Payment terms

The group’s general terms and conditions of supply require payments within 30 days after the invoice 

date.

If the group’s general terms and conditions apply for a contract, the group is entitled to issue the 

invoices as follows: for one-third of the contract value within five days after effective date (date when 

the purchase order has been accepted by the supplier, or the date of the latest signing), for one-third 

after expiration of half of the delivery time, and for one-third within 45 days prior to delivery. Payments 

for prices calculated on a time basis are invoiced on a biweekly basis or after completion of the scope 

of supply, whichever occurs first.

Other payment terms may apply if otherwise defined in the customer contract, the purchase order, the 

respective change order or the quotation.

Variable considerations

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount (e.g., liquidated damages, early 

payment discount, volume discounts), the group estimates the amount of consideration to which the 

group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to a customer. The 

amount of the variable consideration is estimated by using either of the following methods, depending 

on which method the group expects will better predict the amount of consideration to which it will be 

entitled: the expected value method or the most likely amount method. The method selected is 

applied consistently throughout the contract and to similar types of contracts when estimating the 

effect of uncertainty on the amount of variable consideration to which the group is entitled.

If the group fails to meet the delivery date and a purchase order expressly provides liquidated 

damages for such failure, the purchaser is entitled to demand that the group pay liquidated damages 

at the rate stated in the purchase order. The group’s obligation for estimated liquidated damages are 

recorded as a reduction in revenue.

Allocation of the transaction price

To allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone, selling-

price basis, the group determines the stand-alone selling price at contract inception of the distinct 

good or service underlying each performance obligation in the contract and allocates the transaction 

price in proportion to those stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone selling price is not directly 

observable, then the group estimates the amount with the expected cost-plus-margin method.
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33 Subsequent events after the balance sheet date

The Board of Directors authorized these consolidated financial statements for issue on February 25, 

2026. They are subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting, which will be held on April 15, 

2026. At the time when these consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue, the Board 

of Directors and the Executive Committee were not aware of any events that would materially affect 

these financial statements.
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34 Major subsidiaries

December 31, 2025

    Subsidiary  

Sulzer 
ownership and 

voting rights  

Registered capital 
(including paid-in 

capital in the USA 
and Canada)  

Direct 
participation 

by Sulzer 
Ltd  

Research and 
development  

Production 
and 

engineering   Sales   Service

Europe                                

Switzerland   Sulzer Chemtech AG, Winterthur   100%   CHF 10’000’000   •   •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Markets and Technology 
AG, Winterthur   100%   CHF 4’000’000   •                

   
Sulzer Management AG, 
Winterthur   100%   CHF 500’000   •   •            

    Tefag AG, Winterthur   100%   CHF 500’000   •                

   
Sulzer International AG, 
Winterthur   100%   CHF 100’000   •                

Belgium  
Sulzer Pumps Wastewater 
Belgium N.V.,Anderlecht   100%   EUR 123’947   •           •   •

   
Ensival Moret Belgium SA, 
Thimister-Clermont   100%   EUR 7’400’000   •   •            

Germany  
Sulzer Pumpen (Deutschland) 
GmbH, Bruchsal   100%   EUR 3’000’000   •   •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Flow Germany GmbH, 
Bonn   100%   EUR 300’000   •           •   •

    Sulzer Chemtech GmbH, Krefeld   100%   EUR 300’000   •           •   •

Denmark  
Sulzer Pumps Denmark A/S, 
Farum   100%   DKK 501’000   •           •   •

Finland   Sulzer Pumps Finland Oy, Kotka   100%   EUR 16’000’000   •   •   •   •   •

France  
Sulzer Pompes France SASU, 
Buchelay   100%   EUR 6’600’000   •   •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Ensival Moret France 
SASU, Saint-Quentin   100%   EUR 10’000’000   •   •   •   •   •

UK   Sulzer Pumps (UK) Ltd., Leeds   100%   GBP 9’610’000       •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Chemtech (UK) Ltd., 
Stockton on Tees   100%   GBP 100’000       •       •   •

   
Sulzer Services (UK) Ltd., 
Birmingham   100%   GBP 48’756           •   •   •

    Sulzer (UK) Holdings Ltd., Leeds   100%   GBP 6’100’000   •                

   
Sulzer GT Aero Services 
Ltd.,Aberdeen   100%   GBP 1       •   •   •   •

    Sulzer (Aberdeen) Ltd.   100%   GBP 198’000           •   •   •

Ireland  
Sulzer Pump Solutions Ireland 
Ltd., Wexford   100%   EUR 2’222’500   •   •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Finance (Ireland) Limited, 
Wexford   100%   EUR 100                    

Italy  
Sulzer Italy S.r.l., Casalecchio di 
Reno   100%   EUR 600’000   •           •    

Norway  
Sulzer Pumps Wastewater 
Norway A/S, Sandvika   100%   NOK 502’000   •           •   •

   
Sulzer Services Norway A/S, 
Klepp Stasjon   100%   NOK 500’000   •           •   •

   
Nordic Water Products A/S, 
Straume   100%   NOK 150’000               •   •

The 
Netherlands  

Sulzer Pumps Wastewater 
Netherlands B.V., Maastricht-
Airport   100%   EUR 45’378               •   •

   
Sulzer Chemtech Nederland B.V., 
Breda   100%   EUR 1’134’451               •   •

   
Sulzer Turbo Services Venlo B.V., 
Lomm   100%   EUR 443’940       •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Netherlands Holding B.V., 
Lomm   100%   EUR 10’010’260   •                

    Sulzer Capital B.V., Lomm   100%   EUR 50’000                    

Austria  
Sulzer Austria GmbH, Wiener 
Neudorf   100%   EUR 350’000   •           •   •

Romania  
Sulzer GTC Technology Romania 
S.R.L., Bucharest   100%   RON 1’345’070   •       •        

Sweden  
Sulzer Pumps Sweden AB, 
Vadstena   100%   SEK 3’000’000   •   •   •   •   •

   
Nordic Water Products AB, 
Mölndal   100%   SEK 200’000       •   •   •   •

Spain   Sulzer Pumps Spain S.A., Madrid   100%   EUR 1’750’497   •       •   •   •
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Sulzer Pumps Wastewater Spain 
S.A.U., Rivas Vaciamadrid   100%   EUR 2’000’000               •   •

North 
America                                

Canada  
Sulzer Pumps (Canada) Inc., 
Burnaby   100%   CAD 2’771’588       •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Chemtech Canada Inc., 
Edmonton   100%   CAD 1’000’000   •       •   •   •

   
Sulzer Rotating Equipment 
Services (Canada) Ltd., Edmonton   100%   CAD 7’000’000   •       •   •   •

   
JWC Environmental Canada ULC, 
Burnaby   100%   CAD 1’832’816           •   •    

USA  
Sulzer Pumps (US) Inc., Houston, 
Texas   100%   USD 40’381’108       •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Pumps Solutions Inc., 
Easley, South Carolina   100%   USD 25’589’260           •   •   •

   
Sulzer Pump Services (US) Inc., 
Houston, Texas   100%   USD 1’000           •   •   •

   
Sulzer Chemtech USA, Inc., Tulsa, 
Oklahoma   100%   USD 47’895’000       •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Turbo Services Houston 
Inc., La Porte, Texas   100%   USD 18’840’000           •   •   •

   

Sulzer Turbo Services New 
Orleans Inc., Belle Chasse, 
Louisiana   100%   USD 4’006’122           •   •   •

   

Sulzer Electro-Mechanical 
Services (US) Inc., Pasadena, 
Texas   100%   USD 12’461’286           •   •   •

   
Sulzer US Holding Inc., Houston, 
Texas   100%   USD 310’335’340   •                

   
JWC Environmental Inc., Santa 
Ana, California   100%   USD 220’818’520       •   •   •   •

Mexico  
Sulzer Pumps México, S.A. de 
C.V., Cuautitlán Izcalli   100%   MXN 4’887’413   •       •   •   •

   
Sulzer Chemtech, S. de R.L. de 
C.V., Cuautitlán Izcalli   100%   MXN 231’345’500   •       •   •   •

Central and 
South 
America                                

Argentina  
Sulzer Turbo Services Argentina 
S.A., Buenos Aires   100%   ARS 9’730’091   •       •   •   •

Brazil   Sulzer Brasil S.A., Jundiaí   100%   BRL 81’789’432   •   •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Pumps Wastewater Brasil 
Ltda., Jundiaí   100%   BRL 37’966’785   •   •   •   •   •

Chile  
Sulzer Bombas Chile Ltda., 
Vitacura   100%   CLP 46’400’000   •           •    

Colombia  
Sulzer Pumps Colombia S.A.S., 
Cota   100%  

COP 
7’142’000’000   •           •   •

Africa                                

South Africa  
Sulzer Pumps (South Africa) (Pty) 
Ltd., Elandsfontein   75%   ZAR 100’450’000       •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer (South Africa) Holdings 
(Pty) Ltd., Elandsfontein   100%   ZAR 16’476   •       •   •   •

Morocco  
Sulzer Maroc S.A.R.L. A.U., 
Nouaceur   100%   MAD 3’380’000   •               •

Nigeria  
Sulzer Pumps (Nigeria) Ltd., 
Lagos   49%   NGN 10’000’000   •           •   •

Zambia   Sulzer Zambia Ltd., Chingola   100%   ZMK 15’000’000   •           •   •
Middle East                                

United Arab 
Emirates  

Sulzer Pumps Middle East FZCO, 
Dubai   100%   AED 500’000   •           •   •

Saudi Arabia  
Sulzer Saudi Pump Company 
Limited, Riyadh   100%   SAR 44’617’000   •       •   •   •

Bahrain  
Sulzer Chemtech Middle East 
W.L.L., Al Seef   100%   BHD 50’000   •           •    

Asia                                

India  
Sulzer Pumps India Pvt. Ltd., Navi 
Mumbai   100%   INR 24’893’500   •       •   •   •

    Sulzer India Pvt. Ltd., Pune   100%   INR 34’500’000   •       •   •   •

   
Sulzer Tech India Pvt. Ltd., Navi 
Mumbai   100%   INR 100’000   •       •        

Indonesia   PT. Sulzer Indonesia, Purwakarta   95%  
IDR 

28’234’800’000   •       •   •   •

Japan   Sulzer Daiichi K.K., Tokyo   60%   JPY 30’000’000   •           •    

    Sulzer Japan Ltd., Tokyo   100%   JPY 30’000’000   •       •   •   •
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Malaysia  

Sulzer Pumps Wastewater 
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Selangor 
Darul Ehsan   100%   MYR 1’000’000   •           •    

Singapore  
Sulzer Singapore Pte. Ltd., 
Singapore   100%   SGD 1’000’000   •       •   •   •

South Korea   Sulzer Korea Ltd., Seoul   100%   KRW 222’440’000   •           •    

   
Sulzer GTC Technology Korea Co. 
Ltd., Seoul   100%  

KRW 
4’870’000’000   •       •   •   •

Thailand  
Sulzer (Thailand) Co., Ltd., 
Rayong   100%   THB 25’000’000   •               •

People’s 
Republic of 
China  

Sulzer Dalian Pumps & 
Compressors Ltd., Dalian   100%   CHF 28’021’816   •   •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Pumps Suzhou Ltd., 
Suzhou   100%   CNY 282’069’324   •   •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Pump Solutions (Kunshan) 
Co., Ltd., Kunshan   100%   USD 5’760’000   •   •   •        

   
Sulzer Chemtech (Shanghai) Co., 
Ltd., Shanghai   100%   CNY 54’267’608   •   •   •   •   •

   
Sulzer Pumps Wastewater 
Shanghai Co. Ltd., Shanghai   100%   USD 1’550’000   •   •       •   •

   
Sulzer GTC (Beijing) Technology 
Inc., Beijing   100%   USD 150’000   •   •   •   •   •

   
Nordic Water Products (Beijing) 
Co., Ltd., Beijing   100%   USD 800’000               •   •

Australia                                

    Sulzer Australia Pty Ltd., Brisbane   100%   AUD 5’308’890               •   •

   
Sulzer Australia Holding Pty Ltd., 
Brendale   100%   AUD 34’820’100   •                
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– Financial reporting – Consolidated financial statements – Auditor’s report

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sulzer Ltd and its subsidiaries (the Group), 

which comprise the “ ” as at December 31, 2025, the “

”, the “ ”, the “

” and the “ ” for the year then 

ended, and “ ”, including material accounting policy 

information.

Consolidated balance sheet Consolidated 

income statement Consolidated statement of comprehensive income Consolidated 

statement of changes in equity Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 

financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance 

and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting 

Standards and comply with Swiss law.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and 

Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are 

further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 

provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession that are relevant to audits 

of the financial statements of public interest entities, as well as those of the International Ethics 

Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), as applicable to audits of financial 

statements of public interest entities. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter
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Customer contracts – existence and accuracy of revenue, valuation of contract assets, work in 
progress (WIP) and accuracy of contract liabilities

Key Audit Matter
As per December 31, 2025, revenue from customer 

contracts amounts to CHF 3’555.4 million, contract 

assets amount to CHF 572.5 million, contract liabilities to 

CHF 500.8 million and the balance of work in progress 

(WIP) amounts to CHF 260.1 million.

Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognized when a 

performance obligation is satisfied by transferring control 

over a promised good or service.

Revenue and related costs from long-term customer 

orders (construction and service contracts) are 

recognized over time (OT), provided they fulfill the criteria 

of IFRS Accounting Standards, specifically having the 

right to payment in case of termination for convenience. 

The OT method allows recognizing revenues by reference 

to the stage of completion of the contract. The application 

of the OT method is complex and requires judgments by 

management when estimating the stage of completion, 

total project costs and the costs to complete the work. 

Incorrect assumptions and estimates can lead to revenue 

being recognized in the wrong reporting period or in 

amounts inadequate to the actual stage of completion, 

and therefore to an incorrect result for the period.

During order fulfillment, contractual obligations may need 

to be reassessed. In addition, change orders or 

cancelations have to be considered. As a result, total 

estimated project costs may exceed total contract 

revenues and therefore require write-offs of contract 

assets and the immediate recognition of the expected 

loss as a provision.

Our response
Our procedures included, among others, obtaining an 

understanding of the project execution processes and 

relevant controls relating to the accounting for customer 

contracts.

For the revenue recognized throughout the year, we 

evaluated selected key controls, including results reviews 

by management, and performed procedures to gain 

sufficient audit evidence on the accuracy of the 

accounting for customer contracts and related financial 

statement captions.

These procedures included reading significant new 

contracts to understand the terms and conditions and 

their impact on revenue recognition. We performed 

inquiries with management to understand their project 

risk assessments and inspected meeting minutes from 

project reviews performed by management to identify 

relevant changes in their assessments and estimates. We 

challenged these assessments and estimates for OT 

projects including comparing estimated project financials 

between reporting periods and assessed the historical 

accuracy of these estimates.

On a sample basis, we reconciled revenue to the 

supporting documentation, validated estimates of costs 

to complete, tested the mathematical accuracy of 

calculations and the adequacy of project accounting. We 

also examined costs included within contract assets on a 

sample basis by verifying the amounts back to source 

documentation and tested their recoverability through 

comparing the net realizable values as per the 

agreements with estimated cost to complete. Where 

estimated project costs exceeded total contract revenue, 

we assessed the recognition of a provision.
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Regarding the projects recognized at a point in time (PIT), 

the risks include inappropriate revenue recognition from 

revenue being recorded in the wrong accounting period 

as well as overstated WIP that requires impairment 

adjustments.

We further performed testing for PIT projects on a sample 

basis to confirm the appropriate application of revenue 

recognition policies and to verify valuation of WIP 

balances. This included reconciling accounting entries to 

supporting documentation. When doing this, we 

specifically put emphasis on those transactions occurring 

close before or after the balance sheet date to obtain 

sufficient evidence over the accuracy of cut-off.

For further information on Customer contracts – existence and accuracy of revenue, valuation of 

contract assets, work in progress (WIP) and accuracy of contract liabilities refer to the following:

 to the consolidated financial statementsNote 17

 to the consolidated financial statementsNote 18
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Other Information

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, 

the stand-alone financial statements of the company, the compensation report and our auditor’s 

reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 

not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 

other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, 

which give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the provisions of 

Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends 

to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISA and SA-CH will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISA and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgment 

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 

financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an 

opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have 

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated to the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine 

those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of 

the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 

report, unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control 

system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG AG

Rolf Hauenstein

Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Miriam von Gunten

Licensed Audit Expert

Zurich, February 25, 2026

KPMG AG, Badenerstrasse 172, CH-8036 Zurich
© 2026 KPMG AG, a Swiss corporation, is a group company of KPMG Holding LLP, which is a member of the KPMG global organization of independent firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.
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Supplementary information

– Financial reporting – Consolidated financial statements – Supplementary information

Alternative performance measures (APM)

The financial information included in this report includes certain alternative performance measures 

(APMs), which are not accounting measures as defined by IFRS. These APMs should not be used 

instead of, or considered as alternatives to, the group’s consolidated financial results based on IFRS. 

These APMs may not be comparable to similarly titled measures disclosed by other companies. All 

APMs presented relate to the performance of the current reporting period and comparative periods.

Certain APMs previously disclosed are no longer presented as APMs in 2025. These APMs are 

“Operating Profit”, “Operating Profitability”, “Operational ROCEA”, “Capital employed” and "EBIT 

Margin". The definitions of these APMs are deleted from the “ ” section.Supplementary information

Additionally, “EBITDA margin” has been introduced as a new APM.

Definition of alternative performance measures (APM)

Order intake

Order intake includes all registered orders of the period that will be recorded or have already been 

recorded as sales. The reported value of an order corresponds to the undiscounted value of sales that 

the group expects to recognize following delivery of goods or services subject to the order, less any 

trade discounts and excluding value added or sales tax. Adjustments, corrections and cancellations 

resulting from updating the order backlog are respectively included in the amount of the order intake.

Order intake gross margin

The order intake gross margin is defined as the expected gross profit of order intake divided by order 

intake.

Order backlog

Order backlog represents the undiscounted value of sales the group expects to generate from orders 

on hand at the end of the reporting period.

Return on sales (ROS)

ROS measures the profitability relative to sales. ROS is calculated by dividing EBIT by sales.

Operating income (EBIT)

Operating income (EBIT) as presented in the consolidated income statement is the profit before 

income tax expenses, interest income and expenses, other financial income and expenses and share 

of profit / (loss) of associates and joint ventures.

EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization)

EBITDA is used to assess the performance of the business. EBITDA is defined as EBIT before 

depreciation, amortization and impairment.
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EBITDA margin

EBITDA margin measures EBITDA relative to sales. EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing EBITDA 

by sales.

Core net income

Core net income is used to determine the dividend proposal. Sulzer’s long-term target is to maintain a 

dividend payout ratio of approximately 40% to 70% of core net income with due consideration to 

liquidity and funding requirements as well as continuity. Core net income is defined as net income 

before tax-adjusted effects on restructuring, amortization, impairments and non-operational items.

Free cash flow (FCF)

FCF is used to assess the group’s ability to generate the cash required to conduct and maintain its 

operations. It also indicates the group’s ability to generate cash to finance dividend payments, repay 

debt and to undertake merger and acquisition activities. FCF is calculated based on the IFRS cash 

flow from operating activities and adjusted for capital expenditures (investments in property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets).

Net debt

Net debt is used to monitor the group’s overall short- and long-term liquidity. Net debt is calculated 

as the sum of total current and non-current borrowings and lease liabilities less cash and cash 

equivalents and current financial assets.

Net debt / EBITDA ratio

Net debt / EBITDA is a ratio measuring the amount of income generated and available to pay down 

debt before covering interest, taxes, depreciations and amortization expenses.The net debt / EBITDA 

ratio is used as a measurement of leverage. It is calculated as net debt divided by EBITDA.

Gearing ratio (borrowings-to-equity ratio)

The gearing ratio compares the borrowings and lease liabilities relative to the equity. The gearing ratio 

represents the group’s leverage, comparing how much of the business’s funding comes from 

borrowed funds (lenders) versus company owners (shareholders). The gearing ratio is defined as 

borrowings and lease liabilities divided by equity attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd.

Currency-adjusted growth

Certain percentage changes in the financial review and the business review divisions have been 

calculated using constant exchange rates, which allow for an assessment of the group’s financial 

performance with the effects of exchange rate fluctuations eliminated. The currency-adjusted growth 

is calculated by applying the previous year’s exchange rates for the current year and calculating the 

growth without currency effects.

Organic growth

Organic growth measures changes with the same period in the previous year after adjusting for 

effects arising from acquisitions, divestitures / deconsolidations and foreign exchange differences.
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The impact of the organic growth is determined as follows:

Currency-adjusted growth as described above

For the current-year acquisitions, by deducting the currency-adjusted amount generated during 

the current-year by the acquired entities

For prior-year acquisitions, by deducting the currency-adjusted amount generated over the 

months during which the acquired entities were not consolidated in the previous year

For current-year disposals, by adding the currency-adjusted amount generated by the divested 

entities in the previous year over the months during which those entities were no longer 

consolidated in the current year

For the prior-year disposals, by adding for the current year the currency-adjusted amount 

generated in the previous year by the divested entities

Reconciliation statements for alternative performance 
measures (APM)

For reconciliation statements of core net income, EBITDA and free cash flow, please refer to the 

section “ ”, for EBITDA, net debt and gearing ratio to  .Financial review note 5
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– Financial reporting – Consolidated financial statements – Five-year summaries

Five-year summaries of key financial data

Key figures from consolidated income statement and statement of cash flows1)

millions of CHF   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Order intake   3’751.0   3’848.6   3’580.3   3’425.4   3’167.6

Order intake gross margin   35.7%   35.0%   33.9%   33.5%   33.1%

Order backlog   2’255.6   2’300.0   1’946.8   1’844.7   1’724.1

Sales   3’555.4   3’530.6   3’281.7   3’179.9   3’155.3

Operating income (EBIT)   433.1   382.5   329.7   111.4   221.8

 EBITDA 2)   556.2   502.7   437.9   270.7   357.2

 EBITDA margin 2)   15.6%   14.2%   13.3%   8.5%   11.3%

Net income attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd   292.8   261.9   229.1   28.6   1’416.7

– in percentage of equity attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd 
(ROE)   22.6%   21.4%   20.9%   2.8%   111.2%

Basic earnings per share (in CHF)   8.68   7.73   6.76   0.85   41.93

Depreciation   –78.5   –77.1   –71.4   –76.0   –81.0

Amortization   –40.2   –38.5   –36.6   –38.8   –50.2

Impairments of tangible and intangible assets   –4.5   –4.5   –0.2   –44.5   –4.2

Research and development expenses   –77.6   –76.4   –70.8   –66.4   –64.4

Personnel expenses   –1’094.7   –1’117.9   –1’030.8   –1’002.4   –1’018.1

Capital expenditure (incl. lease assets)   –132.8   –130.9   –103.1   –100.0   –119.4

Free cash flow (FCF)   212.5   234.9   301.3   58.3   210.5

FCF conversion (free cash flow / net income)   0.72   0.88   1.31   2.08   1.50

Employees (number of full-time equivalents) as of December 31   13’526   13’455   13’130   12’868   13’816

1) The comparatives are based on the foreign currency exchange rates of the respective year and are not adjusted for changes in currency exchange rates.
2) Comparative information has been re-presented due to discontinued operations in 2021.
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Key figures from consolidated balance sheet1)

millions of CHF   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Non-current assets   1’675.1   1’715.5   1’685.9   1’584.2   1’834.2

– thereof property, plant and equipment   398.2   387.8   348.2   360.5   394.0

Current assets   2’887.8   2’998.8   2’683.5   3’036.0   3’176.2

– thereof cash and cash equivalents   927.3   1’060.6   974.7   1’196.3   1’505.4

Total assets   4’562.9   4’714.3   4’369.5   4’620.2   5’010.4

Equity attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd   1’293.2   1’223.6   1’095.4   1’024.3   1’273.8

Non-current liabilities   1’086.8   1’058.9   1’125.3   1’348.6   1’568.8

– thereof non-current borrowings   779.3   745.0   795.2   1’043.9   1’164.6

– thereof non-current lease liabilities   81.7   78.3   69.0   67.2   64.5

Current liabilities   2’170.8   2’420.3   2’145.6   2’242.9   2’162.3

– thereof current borrowings   304.9   312.0   261.1   311.4   345.5

– thereof current lease liabilities   28.9   26.6   23.9   22.4   24.3

                     

Net debt   267.4   100.4   172.3   234.6   66.8

 EBITDA 2)   556.2   502.7   437.9   270.7   357.2

 Net debt / EBITDA ratio 2)   0.48   0.20   0.39   0.87   0.19

 Equity ratio 3)   28.3%   26.0%   25.1%   22.2%   25.4%

1) The comparatives are based on the foreign currency exchange rates of the respective year and are not adjusted for changes in currency exchange rates.
2) Comparative information has been re-presented due to discontinued operations in 2021.
3) Equity attributable to shareholders of Sulzer Ltd in relation to total assets.

Sulzer Geschäftsbericht 2025 – Financial reporting – Consolidated financial statements – Five-year summaries 191



Five-year summaries by division

     Order intake 1)    Sales 1)

millions of CHF   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Flow   1’576.3   1’603.3   1’466.5   1’419.2   1’324.7   1’551.2   1’444.3   1’354.4   1’323.0   1’389.0

Services   1’449.8   1’378.3   1’271.3   1’171.3   1’163.4   1’312.8   1’249.1   1’154.8   1’117.0   1’117.7

Chemtech   724.9   866.9   842.5   834.9   679.5   691.3   837.1   772.5   739.9   648.5

Total   3’751.0   3’848.6   3’580.3   3’425.4   3’167.6   3’555.4   3’530.6   3’281.7   3’179.9   3’155.3

                                         

         

     Order backlog 1)    Employees 2)

millions of CHF   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Flow   990.0   1’053.5   878.3   850.1   811.5   5’559   5’492   5’465   5’263   5’325

Services   730.3   689.7   547.3   492.9   479.5   4’855   4’832   4’630   4’559   4’571

Chemtech   535.3   556.8   521.2   501.7   433.2   2’781   2’934   2’849   2’852   3’734

Divisions   2’255.6   2’300.0   1’946.8   1’844.7   1’724.1   13’195   13’257   12’944   12’674   13’631

Others   –                   330   198   186   194   185

Total   2’255.6   2’300.0   1’946.8   1’844.7   1’724.1   13’526   13’455   13’130   12’868   13’816

                                         

                                         

    EBITDA 1)   EBITDA margin

millions of CHF   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021 3)   2025   2024   2023   2022    2021 3)

Flow   206.6   169.6   128.4   97.7   107.4   13.3%   11.7%   9.5%   7.4%   7.7%

Services   240.0   209.6   210.6   111.7   187.4   18.3%   16.8%   18.2%   10.0%   16.8%

Chemtech   94.4   131.6   104.6   70.8   73.6   13.7%   15.7%   13.5%   9.6%   11.3%

Divisions   541.0   510.9   443.6   280.2   368.4   15.2%   14.5%   13.5%   8.8%   11.7%

Others   15.2   –8.1   –5.7   –9.5   –11.2   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a

Total   556.2   502.7   437.9   270.7   357.2   15.6%   14.2%   13.3%   8.5%   11.3%

1) The comparatives are based on the foreign currency exchange rates of the respective year and are not adjusted for changes in currency exchange rates.
2) Number of full-time equivalents as of December 31.
3) Comparative information has been re-presented due to discontinued operations in 2021.
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Five-year summaries by region

Order intake by region1)

millions of CHF   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Europe, the Middle East and Africa   1’566.3   1’507.5   1’278.3   1’322.9   1’281.2

Americas   1’423.2   1’435.1   1’353.8   1’193.2   1’051.8

Asia-Pacific   761.5   906.0   948.2   909.3   834.6

Total   3’751.0   3’848.6   3’580.3   3’425.4   3’167.6

1) The comparatives are based on the foreign currency exchange rates of the respective year and are not adjusted for changes in currency exchange rates.

Sales by region1)

millions of CHF   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Europe, the Middle East and Africa   1’430.0   1’273.1   1’246.0   1’207.9   1’297.5

Americas   1’351.5   1’333.5   1’199.8   1’142.8   978.1

Asia-Pacific   773.8   924.0   836.0   829.2   879.7

Total   3’555.4   3’530.6   3’281.7   3’179.9   3’155.3

1) The comparatives are based on the foreign currency exchange rates of the respective year and are not adjusted for changes in currency exchange rates.

Employees by company location1 )

millions of CHF   2025   2024   2023   2022   2021

Europe, the Middle East and Africa   5’716   5’625   5’445   5’602   5’795

Americas   3’923   3’780   3’642   3’422   4’207

Asia-Pacific   3’887   4’050   4’043   3’845   3’815

Total   13’526   13’455   13’130   12’868   13’816

1) Number of full-time equivalents as of December 31.
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– Financial reporting – Financial statements of Sulzer Ltd – Balance sheet of Sulzer Ltd

Balance sheet of Sulzer Ltd

December 31

millions of CHF   Notes   2025   2024

Current assets            

Cash and cash equivalents   3   94.1   259.1

Accounts receivable from subsidiaries       374.9   364.6

Other current accounts receivable       3.6   2.8

Prepaid expenses and accrued income       0.9   1.7
Total current assets       473.5   628.2

             
Non-current assets            

Loans to subsidiaries       610.2   541.8

Financial assets       21.8   22.4

Investments in subsidiaries   4   1’566.5   1’546.2

Investments in associates       6.6   19.6
Total non-current assets       2’205.1   2’130.0

             
Total assets       2’678.6   2’758.2

             
Current liabilities            

Current interest-bearing liabilities   6   294.9   299.9

Current liabilities with subsidiaries       –   5.7

Current liabilities with shareholders       287.7   408.7

Other current liabilities       1.6   0.1

Accrued expenses and deferred income       8.5   7.8

Current provisions       3.6   3.6
Total current liabilities       596.3   725.8

             
Non-current liabilities            

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities   6   778.7   744.0

Other non-current liabilities       1.7   5.2

Non-current provisions       34.0   33.2
Total non-current liabilities       814.4   782.4

Total liabilities       1’410.7   1’508.2

             
Equity            

Registered share capital   5   0.3   0.3

Legal capital reserves            

– Reserves from capital contribution   5   200.7   200.7

– Other legal capital reserve       155.5   155.5

Voluntary retained earnings            

– Free reserve   5   791.5   791.5

Treasury shares   5   –58.6   –51.6

Available earnings            

– Profit brought forward       10.0   0.1

– Net income for the year       168.5   153.5
Total equity       1’267.9   1’250.0

             
Total equity and liabilities       2’678.6   2’758.2
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– Financial reporting – Financial statements of Sulzer Ltd – Income statement of Sulzer Ltd

Income statement of Sulzer Ltd

January 1 – December 31

millions of CHF   Notes   2025   2024

Income            

Investment income   9   223.3   204.8

Financial income   11   35.4   44.7

Other income   10   55.3   49.3

Total income       314.0   298.8

             

Expenses            

Administrative expenses   8   74.2   101.4

Financial expenses   11   54.0   17.2

Investment and loan expenses   9   9.6   18.0

Other expenses       7.6   8.0

Direct taxes       0.1   0.7

Total expenses       145.5   145.3

             

Net income for the year       168.5   153.5
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– Financial reporting – Financial statements of Sulzer Ltd – Statement of changes in equity of Sulzer Ltd

Statement of changes in equity of Sulzer Ltd

January 1 – December 31

millions of CHF  
Share 

capital  

Reserves 
from 

capital 
contribution 

Other 
legal 

capital 
reserve  

Free 
reserve  

Treasury 
shares  

Profit 
brought 
forward  

Net 
income 
for the 

year   Total

Equity as of January 1, 2024   0.3   200.7   155.5   791.5   –36.7   31.7   95.7   1’238.7

                                 

Dividend                           –127.3   –127.3

Allocation of net income                       –31.6   31.6   –

Net income for the year                           153.5   153.5

Change in treasury shares                   –14.9           –14.9

                                 

Equity as of December 31, 2024   0.3   200.7   155.5   791.5   –51.6   0.1   153.5   1’250.0

                                 

Dividend                           –143.6   –143.6

Allocation of net income                       9.9   –9.9   –

Net income for the year                           168.5   168.5

Change in treasury shares                   –7.0           –7.0

                                 

Equity as of December 31, 2025   0.3   200.7   155.5   791.5   –58.6   10.0   168.5   1’267.9
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Notes to the financial statements of Sulzer Ltd

– Financial reporting – Notes to the financial statements of Sulzer Ltd

1 General information

Sulzer Ltd, Winterthur, Switzerland (“company”), is the parent company of the Sulzer group. Its 

financial statements are prepared in accordance with Swiss law and serve as complementary 

information to the consolidated financial statements.

These financial statements were prepared according to the provisions of the Swiss Law on 

Accounting and Financial Reporting (32nd title of the Swiss Code of Obligations). Where not 

prescribed by law, the significant accounting and valuation principles applied are described below.

2 Key accounting policies and principles

Treasury shares

Treasury shares are recognized at acquisition cost and deducted from shareholders’ equity at the time 

of acquisition. In case of a resale, the gain or loss is recognized through the income statement as 

financial income or financial expenses.

Investments in subsidiaries and third parties

The participations are valued at acquisition cost or if the value is lower, at value in use, using generally 

accepted valuation principles.

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities are recognized in the balance sheet at amortized cost. 

Discounts and issue costs for bonds are amortized on a straight-line basis over the bond’s maturity 

period.

Share-based payments

Sulzer Ltd operates a share-based payment program that covers the Board of Directors. Restricted 

share units (RSU) are granted annually. The plan features graded vesting over a three-year period. 

One RSU award is settled with one Sulzer share at the end of the vesting period. Awards 

automatically vest with the departure from the Board. The fair value of the Sulzer share at vesting date 

is recognized as compensation to the Board of Directors.

In 2025, the Group introduced a new long‑term incentive plan, Blocked Shares, which replaces the 

former Restricted Share Unit Plan (RSU) for the Board of Directors. As of the 2025 AGM, the Board 

members receive a blocked share grant. The shares are blocked for three years from the allocation 

date on March 1st of the following year. The fair value of the granted shares is measured at Sulzer’s 

closing share price on the grant date.

Foregoing a cash flow statement and additional disclosures in the notes

As Sulzer Ltd has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with a recognized 

accounting standard (IFRS), it has decided to forego presenting additional information on audit fees 

and interest-bearing liabilities in the notes and a cash flow statement in accordance with the law.
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3 Cash and cash equivalents

As of December 2025, Sulzer had access to a syndicated credit facility of CHF 500 million maturing 

on December 31, 2026. The facility includes two one-year extension options and a further option to 

increase the credit facility by CHF 250 million (subject to lenders’ approval). In 2022 and 2023, the 

group exercised the options, extending the term of the credit facility in the amount of CHF 415 million 

to December 2028.

4 Investments in subsidiaries

A list of the major subsidiaries held directly or indirectly by Sulzer Ltd is included in  to the 

consolidated financial statements.

note 34

5 Equity

Share capital

The share capital amounts to CHF 342’623.70, made up of 34’262’370 shares with dividend 

entitlement and a par value of CHF 0.01. All shares are fully paid in and registered.

Shareholders holding more than 3%

    Dec 31, 2025   Dec 31, 2024

   
Number of 

shares   in %  
Number of 

shares   in %

Viktor Vekselberg (direct shareholder: Tiwel Holding AG)   16’728’414   48.82   16’728’414   48.82

UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG   1’175’624   3.43   1’175’624   3.43

Fidelity Investments Canada ULC   1’032’911   3.02   -    

Treasury shares held by Sulzer Ltd

    2025   2024

millions of CHF  
Number of 

shares  

Total 
transaction 

amount  
Number of 

shares  

Total 
transaction 

amount

Balance as of January 1   509’455   51.6   451’074   36.7

Purchase   128’500   18.9   282’500   33.2

Share-based remuneration   –113’159   –11.9   –224’119   –18.3

Balance as of December 31   524’796   58.6   509’455   51.6

The total number of treasury shares held by Sulzer Ltd as of December 31, 2025, amounted to 

524’796 (December 31, 2024: 509’455 shares), which are mainly held for the purpose of issuing 

shares under the management share-based payment programs.
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6 Interest-bearing liabilities

    2025   2024

millions of CHF   Book value   Nominal   Book value   Nominal

0.875% 07/2016–07/2026   125.0   125.0   125.0   125.0

0.800% 09/2020–09/2025   –   –   299.9   300.0

0.875% 11/2020–11/2027   199.9   200.0   199.8   200.0

3.350% 12/2022–12/2026   169.9   170.0   169.8   170.0

1.773% 10/2024–10/2028   249.5   250.0   249.3   250.0

1.138% 09/2025–09/2029   229.5   230.0   –   –

1.365% 10/2025–10/2032   99.7   100.0   –   –

Total as of December 31   1’073.6   1’075.0   1’043.9   1’045.0

– thereof non-current   778.7   780.0   744.0   745.0

– thereof current   294.9   295.0   299.9   300.0

All the outstanding bonds are traded on SIX Swiss Exchange.

7 Contingent liabilities

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Guarantees, sureties and comfort letters for subsidiaries        

– to banks and insurance companies   941.4   967.7

– to customers   243.9   183.7

– to others   431.1   453.4

Guarantees for third parties   7.7   7.7

Total contingent liabilities as of December 31   1’624.1   1’612.5

As of December 31, 2025, CHF 363.0 million (2024: CHF 397.4 million) in guarantees, sureties and 

comfort letters for subsidiaries to banks and insurance companies were utilized.

8 Administrative expenses

millions of CHF   2025   2024

Compensation of Board of Directors   2.8   3.1

Other administrative expenses   71.4   98.3

Total administrative expenses   74.2   101.4

Sulzer Ltd does not have any employees. The compensation of the Board of Directors includes share-

based payments and remuneration. Other administrative expenses contain management services and 

recharges from subsidiaries.
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9 Investment income, investment and loan expenses

In 2025, the investment income contains ordinary and extraordinary dividend payments from 

subsidiaries amounting to CHF 223.3 million (2024: CHF 204.8 million).

The investment and loan expenses contain allowances on investments amounting to CHF 0.5 million 

(2024: CHF 15.3 million). The share of loss from associates amounts to CHF 10.3 million (2024: CHF 

2.7 million).

10 Other income

The income from trademark license amounts to CHF 48.0 million (2024: CHF 47.7 million).

11 Financial income and expenses

The financial income contains interests on loans with subsidiaries amounting to CHF 27.5 million 

(2024: CHF 32.6 million) and CHF 0.5 million (2024: CHF 1.8 million) with banks. The realized and 

unrealized gain on marketable securities amounts to CHF 6.2 million (2024: loss of CHF 0.4 million). 

The foreign currency revaluation on intercompany loans resulted in a loss of CHF 36.2 million (2024: 

gain of CHF 9.7 million).

The financial expenses contain mainly interest expenses on interest-bearing liabilities of CHF 16.5 

million (2024: CHF 15.5 million).
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12 Share participation of the Board of Directors, Executive 
Committee and related parties

Restricted share units for members of the Board

The compensation of the Board of Directors consists of a fixed cash component and a restricted 

share unit (RSU) component with a fixed grant value. The number of RSU is determined by dividing 

the fixed grant value by the volume-weighted share price of the last ten days prior to the grant date. 

One-third of the RSU each vest after the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date, 

respectively. Upon vesting, one vested RSU is converted into one share in Sulzer Ltd. The vesting 

period for RSU granted to the members of the Board of Directors ends no later than on the date on 

which the member steps down from the Board.

    2025

    Sulzer shares    

Restricted 
share units 

(RSU) 1)    

Performance 
share units 

(PSU) 2023 3)    

Performance 
share units 

(PSU) 2024 4)    

Performance 
share units 

(PSU) 2025 4)

Board of Directors   34’858   8’004   –   –   –

Suzanne Thoma   12’292   –   –   –   –

Markus Kammüller   3’409   1’589   –   –   –

Alexey Moskov   5’239   1’283   –   –   –

David Metzger   4’861   1’283   –   –   –

Per Utnegaard   5’375   1’283   –   –   –

Hariolf Kottmann   2’623   1’283   –   –   –

Prisca Havranek-Kosicek   1’059   1’283   –   –   –

                     

Executive Committee   29’756   –   28’753   25’028   23’187

Suzanne Thoma   12’292   –   12’778   10’490   8’897

Thomas Zickler   12’749   –   5’112   4’196   3’354

Haining Auperin   –   –   4’217   3’462   2’751

Tim Schulten   3’552   –   5’112   4’196   3’019

Ravin Pillay-Ramsamy   1’163   –   1’534   1’897   2’549

Mathias Prüssing   –   –   –   787   2’617

1) Restricted share units assigned by Sulzer.
2) The average fair value of one performance share unit 2023 at grant date amounted to CHF 88.38.
3) The average fair value of one performance share unit 2024 at grant date amounted to CHF 125.65
4) The average fair value of one performance share unit 2025 at grant date amounted to CHF 175.14
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    2024

    Sulzer shares    

Restricted 
share units 

(RSU) 1)    

Performance 
share units 

(PSU) 2022 2)    

Performance 
share units 

(PSU) 2023 3)    

Performance 
share units 

(PSU) 2024 4)

Board of Directors   15’866   16’373   –   –   –

Suzanne Thoma   4’374   1’071   –   –   –

Markus Kammüller   1’743   3’255   –   –   –

Alexey Moskov   3’791   2’731   –   –   –

David Metzger   3’413   2’731   –   –   –

Per Utnegaard   1’375   2’195   –   –   –

Hariolf Kottmann   1’170   2’195   –   –   –

Prisca Havranek-Kosicek   –   2’195   –   –   –

                     

Executive Committee   11’171   –   14’679   33’865   28’437

Suzanne Thoma   4’374   –   2’120   12’778   10’490

Thomas Zickler   5’697   –   5’074   5’112   4’196

Haining Auperin   –   –   1’142   4’217   3’462

Tim Schulten   1’100   –   5’074   5’112   4’196

Jan Lüder   –   –   –   5’112   4’196

Ravin Pillay-Ramsamy   –   –   1’269   1’534   1’897

1) Restricted share units assigned by Sulzer.
2) The average fair value of one performance share unit 2022 at grant date amounted to CHF 84.69.
3) The average fair value of one performance share unit 2023 at grant date amounted to CHF 88.38.
4) The average fair value of one performance share unit 2024 at grant date amounted to CHF 125.65

Granted Sulzer shares to members of the Board of Directors

In 2025, the Group introduced a new long‑term incentive plan, Blocked Shares, which replaces the 

former Restricted Share Unit Plan (RSU) for the Board of Directors. As of the 2025 AGM, the Board 

members receive a blocked share grant. The shares are blocked for three years from the allocation 

date on March 1st of the following year. The fair value of the granted shares is measured at Sulzer’s 

closing share price on the grant date. The number of shares allocated is calculated by dividing the 

individual grant value by the three‑month volume‑weighted average share price (VWAP) preceding the 

relevant allocation date. Participants are entitled to receive dividends declared during the blocking 

period.

In 2025, the grant value to the members of the Board of Directors amount to CHF 0.8 million. The 

number of shares is determined by dividing the fixed grant value by the volume-weighted average 

share price of the trading days in thel ast three months before the allocation date.

13 Subsequent events after the balance sheet date

At the time when these financial statements were authorized for issue, the Board of Directors was not 

aware of any events that would materially affect these financial statements.
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Proposal of the Board of Directors for the 
appropriation of the available profit

in CHF   2025   2024

Net income for the year   168’479’000   153’530’000

 Unallocated profit carried forward from previous year 1)   10’139’923   168’701

Total available profit   178’618’923   153’698’701

 Ordinary dividend 2)   –160’253’477   –143’449’889

Balance carried forward   18’365’446   10’248’812

         

Dividend distribution per share CHF 0.01        

Gross dividend   4.75   4.25

Withholding tax (35%)   –1.66   –1.49

Net dividend   3.09   2.76

1) The profit carried forward is derived from the total available profit for 2024 of CHF 153’698’701 reduced by the dividend paid of CHF 143’558’778, 
calculated based on 33’778’536 dividend-entitled shares as of the dividend payment date.

2) For the 2025 dividend proposal, the ordinary dividend is calculated based on 34’262’370 issued shares, reduced by 524’796 treasury shares held as of 
December 31, 2025, resulting in 33’737’574 dividend-entitled shares.

The Board of Directors proposes the payment of a dividend of CHF4.75 per share to the Annual 

General Meeting on April 15, 2026. The company will not pay a dividend on treasury shares held by 

Sulzer Ltd or one of its subsidiaries.
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– Financial reporting – Financial statements of Sulzer Ltd – Auditor’s report

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Sulzer Ltd (the Company), which comprise the “

” as at December 31, 2025, the “ ” and the “

” for the year then ended, and the “

”, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Balance 

sheet of Sulzer Ltd Income statement of Sulzer Ltd

Statement of changes in equity of Sulzer Ltd Notes to the financial 

statements of Sulzer Ltd

In our opinion, the financial statements comply with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of 

incorporation.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our 

responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent 

of the Company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss 

audit profession that are relevant to audits of the financial statements of public interest entities. We 

have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key 

audit matters to communicate in our report.

Other Information

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, 

the stand-alone financial statements of the Company, the compensation report and our auditor’s 

reports thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 

with the provisions of Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal 

control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends 

to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 

draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
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We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have 

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated to the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine 

those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 

period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, 

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control 

system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of the financial statements according to 

the instructions of the Board of Directors.

Based on our audit in accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 2 CO, we confirm that the proposal of 

the Board of Directors complies with Swiss law and the Company's articles of incorporation. We 

recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG AG

Rolf Hauenstein

Licensed Audit Expert 

Auditor in Charge

Miriam von Gunten

Licensed Audit Expert

Zurich, February 25, 2026

KPMG AG, Badenerstrasse 172, CH-8036 Zurich
© 2026 KPMG AG, a Swiss corporation, is a group company of KPMG Holding LLP, which is a member of the KPMG global organization of independent firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.
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Kontakt für Investoren

Chief Financial Officer

Thomas Zickler

Neuwiesenstrasse 15

8401 Winterthur

Schweiz

Sulzer AG

Telefon +41 (0)52 262 33 15

 | Kontaktformular Route
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– Disclaimer

Disclaimer

Diese Website und der Geschäftsbericht können Aussagen enthalten, die zukunftsorientiert sind, wie 

zum Beispiel Voraussagen von finanziellen Entwicklungen und in die Zukunft gerichtete Aussagen 

über die Entwicklung von Materialien und Produkten, wobei diese Aufzählung nicht abschliessend ist. 

Diese Aussagen können sich ändern, und die effektiven Ergebnisse oder Leistungen können aufgrund 

bekannter oder unbekannter Risiken oder verschiedener anderer Faktoren erheblich von den in 

diesem Dokument gemachten Aussagen abweichen.

Rundungsdifferenzen

Aufgrund von Rundungen stimmt die Summe der in diesem Bericht ausgewiesenen Zahlen 

möglicherweise nicht genau mit den dargestellten Gesamtbeträgen überein. Sämtliche 

Verhältnisangaben, Prozentangaben sowie Veränderungen von Prozentangaben werden anhand des 

zugrunde liegenden Betrags und nicht anhand des dargestellten gerundeten Betrags berechnet.

Tabellen

Fehlende Angaben innerhalb eines Tabellenfelds bedeuten generell, dass das Feld entweder nicht 

anwendbar oder ohne Bedeutung ist oder dass per relevantem Datum oder für die relevante Periode 

keine Informationen verfügbar sind. Der Gedankenstrich (–) zeigt generell an, dass die entsprechende 

Zahl exakt null ist, während ein 0.0 anzeigt, dass die relevante Zahl auf null gerundet wurde.

Sprachen

Teile des Sulzer-Geschäftsberichts 2025 wurden in die deutsche Sprache übersetzt. Rechtlich 

bindend ist immer nur die englische Originalversion.
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